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RESUME 
• 

Pour son,,~üècle, Hugh O'Neill a mieux réussi 

que tout autr~ Irlandais à essayer de détruire le 

fondement du pouvoir anglais en Irlande. Ses armées ont 

joui d'un succ,s inoui sur le champ de bataille pendant 

les sept premières années de la guerre et c'est ce ~succès 

qui l'a pou~sé ~ atteindre sa position de leader 

incontesté. Il n'était, cependant, ,jamais,à l'aise 'dans 

son rô~e de champion de l"ancien régime. O'Ne~ll était 

essentiellement un homme de la Renaissance, qui avait ., 

peu en commun avec les chefs de clan imprudents et 

'audacieux qu'i''1 dirigeait., Alors, il n'est pas 

surprenant qu'il s'e~t entouré d'hommes de parenté 

anglo-irlandaise,ou européenne. 

URe étude approfondie de l' organi'sation i 

militaire d'O'Neill et de sa structure d'approvisionnement 

et de logistique en particulier laisse voir c~airement 

'comment il s'est fonci~rement détaché du passé. Les 

hommes qui ont ~ardé les armées d'O'Neill sur les 

champs de Bataille n'étaient pas des exemples de l'ancien 

monde gaélique, mais plutôt les précurseurs d'une 

nouvelle Iriand. Ces hommes, et l'espéra~ce qu'ils 

personnifiaient, ont été balayés du champ de bataille 
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ABSTRACT 

Hugh O'Neill came closer than any Irishman ot , , 

1 

his century to destroying the basis of English power in 

Ireland. His arudes enjoyed ,unprecedented spccess on 
, J.~ 'l' 

the battlefield duririg,the tirst 'seven y~ars ot-the war 

and )this suceess thrust-him into a position of undisputed 

laaderBh~p in Gaelie Ire land. He was nev,er at ease, however, 
/ 

with his. r01e as the champio~ of the .o,~d ~d~r,\ 0 'Neill 

was essentially a Renaissance man, who had'\ittle in 

common with the brash and reckless chieftaLns he led. It 
. 1 

Is hardly surprising, therefore, th~t he should haVé 

àurrounde~ himsalf with men of Anglo Irish or Continehtal 

background. 
l , 

A oareful study of O'Nelll's military machine, 

in partioular his supply and'lo~istics organization,' 

c1early reveals how radically he had broken with the 

pasto The men who$kept D'Neill's armies in the tield 

ware not'representatives o! the 01d Gaelio World but 
, 

were rather harbingers of,a new Ireland. These men, and 

th~ promise they embodied, were swept from the field at 

Kinsale in 1601, when the magnifiee.nt mili tary machine 

_whioh they had helped>oonstruct finally overreached 

itself. 
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PREPACE 
(\ 

The writing of this thesis has eoincided with 

a renewed burst of creative energy in the Irish 

historieal world. Though many of the roots of modern 

Ireland can be traced to the 16th eentury, in the years 

f prior to the present deeade, the writing of Tudor Irish 

history attraeted little a~tention. For the Most part .... 
'. . 

what was ~1tten on this period was the work of a small 

group of historians. That so mueh was aeeomplished in 

;1 these years ls a tr~bute ta the brillianee of euch 

seho·lara as G.I.. Hayes _eCoy, R.D. Edwar<1s, D.B. Quinn, 

J.C •. Beckett and T,.W. Moody, aIl of whom have bequeathed 
~ 

to our generation a legacy of echolarship that will be 
)( 1 

diffieùlt to equal and impossible to Burpass. Thanks 
-..-

to their efforts historians today, are posing new 

questions and developing new perspectives on 16thl 

century Irish history. Thus, hietorians sueh as ~enneth 

Nicholle, q&elic and Gaelicized Ireland in the Middle 

Ages. are now proposing that Gaelic society was not 

necessarily moribund and monolithic. This hypothesis 

has been rupported,. àt least in part. by the work of 

Margaret ~cCurtain Tudor and Stuart Ireland, James 

Lydpn Ireland in the Middle Ages and Michael Dollr,y 

Anglo Norman Ireland. In addition the growth and 
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~ expansion of central authority and tne resulting 

reaction have been disoussed with a new apprpach by 

Nicholas Canny in his book The Elizabethan Conguest of 
, 

Ireland. The role of the Church in 16th century Irish 

~ite has been consider~d by John Watt, The Church in 

Medieval Ireland and Brendan Bradshaw The Dissolution 

of the Mona,sj;e.ries in Ireland Under Henry VIII. The 

long neglected area ot toreign relations ~~ being 

reviewed for the first time.since the 1930s by J.J. Silke 

in his book Kinsale. As a result of these and other 

recent works, it ls now olear that a new assessment of 

the Nine Years W~ ls required. 

The raIe of Hugh O'Neill in the total context 

ot the re~ellion .Jas. yet to be tully co·nsidered by a 

m~dern historian. Neverthelèss, Nicholas'Canny, in his 
-1 

brilliant article on Hugh O'Neill in Studia Hibernica 

has polnted the way for others to follow on this 
, 

question. In his'study ot O'Neill. Canny\emphasizes 

that O~Neill did not sa much represent the last 1 

. . ",....J 

desperate lunge ot Gaelic Ireland as the tirst faltering 

steps ot a potentially~enewed society. 

In writing this thesis l have attempted to 

expose some o~ the inner workings of O'Nèill's 

~ogistics organization. A caretul study of this 
f 
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apparat us confirms much o~ w~t the atoremen~~oned 

historians have said about the social and political 

situation i~ Ireland in the late 16th century. In the 

close relationships between the towns and the rebels . 
or the covert friendship between O'Neill and many 

powerful figures in the 'Pale, it is pos8ible to 8ee 

the extent to which Iri~ society was in ~lux. Gaelicl 

'Ireland rather than being moribund was in tact changing 

tast~r t~any other element in~Irish 80ciety. Hugh 

O'Neill w&s the catalyst behind this cha~. 

l should lite to extend my thanks to the 

National ~brary ot Ireland, Trinlty College Manuscript 

Room, the Ulster Museum and the Library of Queen'. 

University Belfast for the tind a8sistance l received 

in the course of my research. l should also lite to 

thank Kr. Peter McCann tor helping me to locate the 
\. 

site of the Blackwater Fort and for gui~ing me over the 
r 

site of the Battle of Yellowtord. In addition l would 

also lite to thank Mr. Paddy Powers ot the Louth 

Archeological Society for obtaining permission,for me 

to visit Bellewfs Castle and tor his wise advice to 

stay out ot the Moyry Pass. l should also lite to 

thank Mr. Philip Burns tor his help in proo! reading 
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.. 
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writing of this work as a great source of inspiration' 
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-cHAPTER ONE 

. 
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

Nearly ~our hundred years hâve êlapsed sinee Hugh 

O'Neill made his submission to Lord Deputy Mountjoy at 

Mel~ifont Abbey in Maroh !60).' In the intervening centuries 

O'Neill's memory has been transformed into a myth WpiCA 

depic,ts him as the guardian of ,:the' o.ld Gaeli,ç order, a 
.~ l ' 

Titan struggling tb prese~e his society"-rrom foreign 

domination. This myth, which denies everything that is 

known about O'Neill, has prevented justice from being 
# 

rendered to the memory of this man and his times. The 

Earl of Tyrone certainly doea deaerve the title "the Great 

O'Neill" •• In the violent and' p'rimitive'environment ,of - , 

sixteenth eentury Irish poli~ics, he stands ap~rt'as a 

symbol of the new forces then at work shaping Gaeli~ 

society. 

In O'Neill's lifetime there had been no less than 
, ' 

three major rebe~lions and countless smaller uprisings '~imed 

at haltln,g the expansion o'f 1;he central gov~rnment's power 

into 'the outlying areas of the :country. Jrln studying the' 

leaders of these rebellions,' one can o'nly conclude tha t 

they were for the most part primitive men driven and' . . 
"' 'bu~feted by forces beyond their comprehension. For men 

such as Desmond or Shane O'Neill the resort to arms was 
-

instinct~ve, the.re was no place for them in ,the. new order' 

1 
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of things and they had either to bend or be broken. 

Fitzmaurice, on the other hand, 'was a visionary and a born 

-leader, and he could eas1ly have made a life for himself 

in the Catho11c courts of Europe. In the end, however, he 
• tao shared the'fate of Shane O'Neill and Desmond. 1mbued 

wlth fanatical determination to see the tide of reformation 

turned bac~rom the sh~res of Ire land , he gave up his lire 

in the same Cause. 

Out of the whole of the sixteenth century.only pne 

Irish leader appears ta have been in a position to have 
r---

stopped short of fe~sonal disaster~had he wanted to do so; 

and that man, Hugh O'Neill, was destined to be the greatest 

rebel of them aIl. Perhaps for t~is reason O'Neill la the 

MOSt puzzling Irish historioal figure of the sixteenth 

century. Unquestionably, he had his feet firmly planted 

in both the English and: Irish worlds .nd he spent much of 
,Y' 

'his life trying ta àvoid hav-ing to ehoose between the two. 

'Unmoved by any religl~us fe~ort he owed mueh of his wealth 

~nd suecess ta the progress ot the very Tudor polieies that 

Pitzmaurice, Desmond and Shane O'Neill died trying to 
, , 

oppose. 

O'Nê1ll hever intended th&t he should flnd~f 
in ~ death struggle with Elizabethan England and aIl his 

, 
lite he strove ta make himself an indispe~ble agent of 

. ,~izabethan expansion in Ulster. By nature he was n~ither 

a ~rmined'rebel nor a defender of the Gaelia order. He 

would certainly have been content to serve his English 

",.,r 



c 

<. 

: . 

J 

masters ta the grave had not a significaAt change in the 
\ 

policy of the Dublin government occurred after the recall 

of Sir John Perrot in 1588. Up to that time the govern­

ment had consistently supported Tyrone in his power 
\ . 

struggle with the rightfully elected O'Neill chief tain, 

Turlough Luinach. Perrot had been particularly instru­

mental in persuading Turlough to surrender Most of Tyrone 

to O'Neill in 158$.1 By aIl accounts this placed Turlough 
~ 

in a thoroughly unfavorable position which greatly alarmed 

Engllah marcher lords such asJSlr Henry Bagenal, who were 

very concerned ab~ut O'Neill'a growing power. However, 

the affair had Perrot's blesaing, and Bagenal, who was 

especially vulnerable, could do .nothing but look on 

anxiously fram his stronghold at Newry as O'Neill's 

influence c6ntinued to spread across Tyrone. 2 This land 

settlement with Turlough was the turning point in O'Neill'a 

career and by the time that Fitzwilliam arrived in 1588, 

O'Neill had become the most powerfu~man.in Ulster. 

O'Neill, just as his father had been before him, 

was orlginally supported by the English in order to prevent 

any one chief tain from gaining undlsputed control of the 

province. By 1588. as O'Neill's influence ln Ulster gre),­

daily, this policy lay in shambles. It is understandable, 

the~efore, that Fitzwilliam should-have been alarmed at 
v 

the growth of O'Nelll's power and suspicious of his 

intentions.) O'Neill's own hlghhanded behavior, especially 

in the events surrounding the murder of Hugh MacShane, 
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only aggravated the situation and brought him into 

incr~asing conflict with the new Lord Deputy. 

The Lord Deputy, for his part, was not a"nxious to 

confront O'Neill. Fltzwilliam was not a tenacious and 

single minded leader ih the t~adition of Sir John Perrot; 

furthermore, he was not averse to having his judgment swayed 

by a'sufficiently handsome bribe. 4 Bi aIl accounts, th~re­
fore, Fitzwilliam should have been just the man to turn a 

" 

blind eye to O'Neill's efforts to consolidate his power 
" 

in the north. U~ortunB.te"ly for O'Neill, Fitzwilliam was 

never really in con;trol of Ire land 'a poli tic'al ace,ne and , , 

was unable to master the turbulent forces then vying for 
1 

power in Dublin. A deadly po~itical struggle had been 

1 developing for some time between O'Nelll's supporters and 

)men such,as Bagenal, who stood, to benefit from an aggressive 

I~ expansion of Royal authority in'Ulster. Unable ta control 

the forces at play around him, Fitzwilliam found himself 

" more and more drawn into the intrigues ôf the anti-O'Neill 

party. His conversion to Bage~l's point of view may 
, 

weIl be related ta the fact that the latter's schemes 

seemed to offer the greatest prospect of profit. Further-
• more, 0' Ne ill 's grea t strength in the Nor~h placed him a t 

" J 

a significant disadvantage in Dublin for unquestionably 

his success i~ asserting his claim ta Tyrone ran counter 

to the aims of government policy in the North. Consequently, 

O'Neill's every action was,regarded with suspicion and 

mistrust by the English administration in Ireland. 
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By 1591 1~ was clear that~O'Neill was losing his 

influence with the Dublin government and he was finding 

it increasingly difficult to secure lucrative appaintments 

for his friends and supporters. 5 'His position as the chief 
, 

agent of Royal authori ty in Ulster was being ef'fectively " 

usurped by Sir Henry Bagerii. ~n his frustration 0 'N~ill 
wrote to the Privy Counail in ominous terms. 

~ 

Sir Henry Bagenal may not be allowed the 
kind of superiority over Ulster which he 
hath lately secured ••• by force whereof he 
reigns as a little king and overcrows me, 
whose wrongs done me and such l cannot 
ytell endure.6 

To add to Q'Neill's troubles, old Turlough, with 

no ~mall ~ncouragement from Dublin. decided the moment was 

a~ hand .to reclaim his territory by f'orce of arms.? O'Neill, 

r w~ose position had seemed so strong only a few years earlier, 

now f'ound himself undermined and seriously threatened. His 

many rivaIs and ,anemies within Tyrone took advantage of' his 

weakened position to hatch plots against him. He was par­

ticularly vexed by Turlough, who, whate~er ,else he might 

have been, was still the elected O'Neill and capable of' 

winning over the bulk of the clan to his support. 

It,as in this atmosphere of' desperation that 

O'Neill resorted ta the mos~ daring gambit of his caréer 

by'engineering the escape of Red Hugh O'Donnell f'rom 

Dublin Castle in January of 1592.8 , 0 'Neill calcula~d 

that O'Donnell's release would completely ~inge the 

~olitical situation in Ulster and tip the balance of power 

" 1 
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once more in his favour. 
. 

With O'Donnell's help, Turlough 

could easily be subdued and the government thereby &orced 

to recognize that O'Neill was the only man capable of 

preserving order in the North. 

As a short term expedient this brilliant manoeuvre 

proved entirely successful. In whirlwind fashion O'Donnel1 

destroyed Turlough's forces and proceeded ta ravage 

Connaught. Fitzwilliam quickly,took O'Neill up on his 

offer to act as a Mediator in the hope that he could cool 

'his fiery kinsman. 9 0' Neill used this opportuni ty to make 

the Royal government aware of his immense and strategie 

importance, writing to the Privy Council that he had 

"travelled into O'Donnell's country at the hazard of my 

liie" , to negotiate the latter's submission. 10 

Despite these efforts by O'Neill to cool the 

situation, events in Ulster were moving forward at such 
. 

a pace that they were developing their own momentum; with 

each passing day the inevitable clash grew closer, as the 

province propelled itself towards armed rebellion. Along \ 

the border, chief tains like Maguire and O'Rouke were at 

their wits end in their efforts to deal with English 

officiaIs such as Bingham. In the west Maguire was already 

in rebellion and in the east the jUdicial murder of 
" 

MacMahon resulted in "heartburnings and loathings of the 

English".11 Throughout the North clerical agents of the 

~Reformation were actively spreading sedition, and 

encouraging rebellion with promises-of Spanish aid. 12 

J 
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, The North had become politiéally and religiously 

~ explosive and.all that was needed to set off the 

conflagration was a spark. O'Neill laboured to post­

porte the explosion and stamp out the embers left in the 

wake of O'Donnell's escape; but~ contrary to his 

expectations, O'Donnell proved unwilling to follow his 

fi counsel and advice" .1) Nor was the proyince as a whole 

in any mood for conciliation, for O'Donnell had captured " 

the imagination of the North, already angered antl 

frustrated by English policies in Ulster. 

From 1593 until 1595 O'Neill found himself 

increasingly forced by events into the intrigues of the 

disaffected Irish chiefs. In the autumn of 1595 matters 

finally came to a head when news arrived at Dungannon of 

the death of old Turiough in his castle at Strabane. Upon 

hearing the news, O'Neill moved immediately ta have himself 

elected chief tain at Tullahogue, kn~ng that if he 

,hesitated the clan would turn to his brother for 

le~dership.14 O'Neill's transformation into the champion 

of thé old Gaelic arder was now complete. 

With the spectre of war looming over the horizon, 

O'Neill took measures to ensure that his militarY,organ­

ization was capabie of meeting the task ahead. Completely . 
disregarding traditional restraints on taxation, O'Neill 

be~an channèlling Ulster's wealth into ~he war effort 
" 

through a comprehensive sys~em of taxation. Recognizing 

the importance of Ulster's agriculturai base to the war 

'. 
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effort, he shaped his military str~tegy to suit the 

planting and harvesting seasons. Thus, he established 

a sophisticated system of storehouses and depots and 

kept his field armies supplied from these points. The 

network of agents and commercial factors he assembled 

~ on the Continent and in Scotland enabled him to k~ep 

up a ateady flow o'f materiel into Ulster. AlI these 

meaaures proved immensely successful, for within a short 

few years he had turned Ulster into an armed camp. However, 

such success was not'to be had without a priee; the 

traditional fabric of Gaelic society was eroded beyond 

repair by the increasing militarization of the 

provinc'e. No section of t'he Northern community escaped 

O'Neill's reforms and all were required to play their 

role in shoring up the rebel confederation. 

The Northern miscreants within a few 
years knew,not what the due order of 
fighting was, now' i t is a prol'essed 
art amongst the cowhe~ds ,of,~lster'15 

Around him O'Neill assembled those people who, 

had he won, would have formed the backbone of his govern­

ment and it is only by studying O'Neill's military machine 

and those who kept it 'operating, that it ia possible to 

truly grasp the significance of his role in Irish History. 

His Burrender in 160) not only signalled the end of the 

o ld Gaelic order ~ . i t also ended forever lreland' s hope 0'[ 

à political and social option which reconciled the opposing 

worlds of Saxon and Celt. 

--+ ...... -.-- ~"~ ',-
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THE TMPE 

Very aarly in the war the first hints of O'Neill's 

supply and logistical activity appeared in official corre­

spondance. In July of 1594 one James Blair of Ayr' 'wrote 
, j 

ta Stephen Duff that "Huntly's uncle, the Jesuit Gordon la 

arrived with great stores of money to engage ~en of war-. 1 

ln December of that sama year Thomas Duff informed the , ' 

.gavernment that a ship of twenty tons was being sent '~~ 
Ulster from Spain. 2 

The startling suc cess of the rebel forces in 1594 

and 1595 served notice ta the gavernment that it was faced 

with a well equipped and highly dangerous adversafY. This 

realization May have spurred the government in its attempts 

to discaver the secret of O'Neill's military strength, fa~. 
l 

in 1595 a c1earer'picture of O'Neil1's external supp1y 

operationB began ta emerge. As a resu1t of the information 

received from spies and sympathizers, it became apparent 

that 0 'Neill w&s attempting ta estab1ish a full s,èa1e 

smugg1ing organization based on the west coast of Scot1and. 

O'Neill was sending ·purchas.ing agents over ia Scotland ta 

make contacts with local merchants and ta arrange for the 

shlpping at mun~tions to Ulster. 

Th~ risks involved in such smuggling operations 

11 
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were great but 80 too we~e the rewards, "Some men have 

one hundred pounds Sterling beforehand for the purpose".J 
"\.... 

The comprehensive nature of some of, the reported shipments 

seems to indicate that by 1595 the trade was already fairly 

well deVfÜOpe(t. 

Si~e my coming hither (tq Glasgow) l 
hay;é, received intelligence that some< 
storé of munitions has late gone fro.m 
thi~ town, as swords. gauntlats. ~istols. 
hagbuts, steel bonnéts as they calI them, 
powder, lead and mateh ••• which my credit 
could, not staY'4 

The inabilitY,of the English Government's repre­

sentativas to prevent the shipment of arms to Ulster may 

, ' 

hav~ come as a surprise to the English privy Counc!l, but ~ 

it would not have surprised anyone familiar with the close 

economic ties batween the west coast of Scotland and 

Ulster. 5 The oommercial ties between Ulster and Scotland 

were so strong that even the Scottish government proved 

helpless in its efforts to curtail trade'with the rebels.-
, 1 

The English Ambassador in Edinburgh summed up the situation 

when he wrote, -the people cannot live without the trade".6 

Under pressure from London, King James was forced 

to issue a proclamation prohibiting trade with the rebels 

in Ulster.? His proclamation notwithstanding, the King 

remained sceptical throughout the war of his ability to 

prevent his subjects from trading with Ulster. 

As for the transporting out of this country 
to their (the rebels) aid, he (King James) 
will do whatever he can ••• but he said t and 
it is truet that there is sueh love between 
his people and them and such a necessity of 
traffle as it will be hard to stay all'8 



t 1 

" -
~"'~"""'~=_lf_~"n:~9!I;t If ..--..-_ ... __ ....... 

( 
. -----------------

2 2 

1) 

In the summer ot 1595 the Bnglish government 
,~ 

reoeived rts tirst important lead with regard to O'Heill's 

gunrunning operations in Scotland. Through an informer, 
'. 

the English Ambassadol.'l in Scotland learned that John Bath 

and Pàtrick Connachar, two of O'Meill'a agents, were in 

Glasgow to collect a consignment ot arms. 9 Apparently 

'Bath and a number ot other merchants trom Strabane had 

'arrived in Glasgow during Lemmas Pair· and had begun ---.. 
purchasing goods tor O'Heill. 10 The informant, John 

Auchinross, ~ssured Nicolson that the goods would be 

readily transported to Ireland on ships trom outside. 
1 

the, Burgh which 'regularly traded with'Ulster. 11 
. 

- ~icols~n persuaded King J~es to send a repre-

sentative to'Glasgow with authority to arrest those 

invoived. Roger Aston, the man sent to make the arrests, 

~naged to apprehend Bath aiong with two Scots, brothers. 

William and John Wilson. At the time ot their capture --
they were in possession ot a tew hogsheads ot wine and 

whisky, which tBey confessed they had originally intended 

to ship to Tyrone. They claimed,' however, that since the 
-' , 

King's Proclamatio~ prohibiting trade with the rabeis they 
J' . 

had changed their minds. The b~gesses ot'the town 

apparently vouched tor Bath and Aston( was torced to 
; 

release him upon -suret y" that he would no longer trattic 

wi th rebels. 12 

In oatober of that s~ year, the English were 

able to lay their bands upon'another group of O'Heill's 

7 • 

" 

. 
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~nts travélling between Ulster and Scotland. 
, 

John Hale, 

Edwar~ Hale and a third man named Gravener were' cap~ured 
. " . ,/ while on "some message for the Earl of Tyrone". ,They had 

been with O'Neill for several weeks while in Ulster and 
! l' 

had se en the rabel army in "preparation" for the war. tJ 
. 

They describ~d O'Neill's companies as being "weIl appointed 

with shot and other furniture ot war".14 

The capture of these Scottish agents did not 
J 

seriously disrupt O'~eill's smuggling operations, nor 

for that matter did it prevent other men auch as the Wilson 

,brothe~s trom aga in participating in rebel supply 

activi~es.15 Nevertheless, the reverberations from 

these afresta were felt in the Irish camp and it would 

'appear that the security surrounding the rebe~ Bupply 
. ! 

operations ~ightened up considerably. The English .. 
Ambassador had to Wait another four years before he could 

àgain mus ter sufticient evidence to force the arrest of 

o 'Met11 t s Scottish factorS". ' 

~ 1 The impotence' of the English government in the 
(\~ J 

tace \bf rebel supply activi ties is e,videncad by the 'casual 

manner in which O'Neill's agents travelled through Scotland. 
~.. ;. ..... 

In ,pite of the King's proclamation, O'Neill's people 

, operated with impunity in aIl the major burghs of the 

west coast. 

.... 

James Gordon secretly cro'ssed over to 
Ulster ••• with the Earl of Tyrone's\ 
direct-ion' 16 / 

--. 

.. 

. { 
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(Irish merchants) haV& come to Glasgow and 
to the Burghs'of the West country in 
Scotland. They are James Fleming, James 
Gerton (Gordon.), Hugh Rankin, William Rankin. 17 

• 
I passed soma time with one Fleming in the 
town of Glasgow, who came very lately out 
of the North part of Ireland and being a 
servant of O'Neill ••• for the better upholding 
of his ambitious mind he has travelled with 
the Council of. the Low·,Countries ••• in the 
meantime (O'Neill) has daily out of Scotland, 
powder, lead and match~18 

The ease'with which O'Neill-s agent~erated in 

the ports of the west coast tends to indicate that the 

rebels had cultivated soma important friendships among 

the burgesses bf Ayr, Irving and Glasgow. The large 

scale participation of Many native Scots in smuggling 

made it very difficult for the government ~o. enforce its 

ban on trade with Ulster. This reluctance on the part' of 

the central, as weIl as local governments to enforce the 
, 

law is an unmistakable feature of the situation on the 

west coast. In the face of such passive resistance, the 

Englisn government was forced to depend upon James' empty 

proclamati'ons and an ineffective naval blockade in its 

efforts to haIt the smuggling of·arma to O'Neill. 

In ~pril of 1597 the governme~t received some 
, . 

valuable intelligenc~ about O'Neill's covert trading 

ties with the continent from an Irish sailor named Edmund. 

Hally. Hally ciaime.d to have sailed on an Irish vessel 

out of Llmerick19 named the Sunday during an abortive 
\ o . ' 

Spanish attempt to launch an Armada against Ire~and in 

1597. 20 The government was slow to follow up on this 

\ 

,. , 
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information, and it was not unti1 1601 that the true 

significance of Ha11y's testimony camp to Iight. The ,.,. 

SuÎlgay, ca.ptained 'by the myste~ioup James ~oore; had 
'-. 

p1ayed a vital and important part in rebei supp1y and 

'diplomatie operations. Sailing out of Waterford, rather 

than Limerick as suspected by Ha1ly, she plied her 

seditious trade in Eng1and, Scotland and the Continent. 

The exposute of the Sunday as an Irish vessel 

added a new dimension ta the government's picture of 

,Q'Neill's 10gistics system: 1 As a result of Hally's 

testimony it was'now evidant to the officia1~ in Dublin 

Castle that Irish 'merchants were to sorne degree involved 

in illegal transactions with the ,ebels. The true extent 

of their participation was destined never to be fully 

exposed. 

Closer to home, the English government was faced 

with a serious problem in trying,to cut.of~ the flow of 
J 

contraband arms coming out of England itself. From the 

very beginning of the conflict, Irish and English Catholic 

,.agents had been purchasing arms in England for the rebels. 

In June of 1597 the government cracked down on the illegai 

traffickers operating out of English ports. 21 Attempts 

we.~e made to apprehend those thought to be involved,but 

this met with Iittle success when the culprits dropped 
f' 

f:ç.om view before' they could be arrested. The trade seems -' 

"td have centered'arounœ Liverpool, Chester, 'Birmingham and 

Manchester. 22 The ~s and supplies were app~rently shipped 

" 
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across to Ireland in hogsheads an~ dry fats with mueh of 

the contraband ente ring through the port of Dublin. 2J 

In spite of the attempts in 1597 to stop the 

~muggling 'of arms out of England, O'Neill's agents were 

~ again seeking ta buy weapons in England in 1598. On this 

occasion, however, Q'Neill's agents were operating out of 

~ndon it~elf,24 The Irish agents, who were thoug~t to be 

Jesuits in disguise,25 were purchasing "all kinds of war-, 

like provisions· at ~he Bristol Fair, Stowbridge Fair and 

at London's Bartholomew Fair. 26 

Early in 1598 Sir Geoffrey Fenton wrote to Cecil 

that supplies were still entering Ulster from Scotland; 

moreover, it was reported ta Fenton that King James himself 

was involved. 27 Some monthe later, King James was again 

impHcated in O'Neill's activi ties, this time on the report 

of a capturad rebal soldier named Andrew Roche. 

The Examinate hearà Captain Tyrell tell 
the Earl of Desmond that the King of 
Scots-favored the Earl., • and that supplies 
of powder came ta Tyrone from Denmark and 
Brunswickthrough Scotland'28 

Roche was not alone in believing that King James 

was secretly supporting the rebels. The Earl of Ormond29 

and Thomas Jones, the Bishop of Meath, also thought the 

Scottish King was invol~ed,JO Richard Weston, who was 
J 

very close ~o O'Neill, likewise believed that James had 

come to terms wi th the rebels on "some points". J1 

Andr~w Roche's suggestion that supplies were 

flowing into Ulster from as far away as Denmark and 

r 
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Brunswick givea sorne indication of the widea~read nature 

of the trade. Any acepticism which the E~lish government 
) 

May have felt about the validity of Roche's story must have 

quickly disappeared when it waa discovered that France as 

weIl as the Baltic was involved in illegal traffic with 

the rebels. In 1599 two French ships with lattera and 

provisions for 0 'Neill were interd,epted at sea by Sir Francis 

GOdolphin. 32 In August a ship described as an • Irish Bark" 

was intercepted at Fowy.33 The sixteen ton vessel was 

found to be carrying 

books to 0'Neill. 34 

apparentlyacting,Qn 

swords, calivers, pistols and Catholic 

The -Factor" (a man named Antson), was 

behalf of one Naylor of St. Malo. 35 

The period between 1598 and 1600 proved to be very 

difficult for the English administration in Dublin. Govern-
'"" 

ment troops fared badly on the battlefield and efforts to 

restrict O'Nei11's smuggling activities were no more 

successful. J6 In August of 1599, Sir Geoffrey Fenton 

reported to Cecil that ·certain Scottish boats have since 

the last parlay with Tyrone, brought into Lough Foyle great 

quantities of powder and other provisions.- J7 Other reports 

also tended to indicate that agents such as James Fleming of 

D~ogheda were making a mockery of English attempts to 

blockade the- northeaat coast of Ulster. The Lord Justices , 

of Ireland wrote to King James in November 1599 saying, 

-there is come to the harbour of Lough Foyle a bark bringing 

powder and munitions. The principle party, as they under­

stand, 1a Fleming of Glasgow·. 38 They ended the letter 
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ôn an important note saying that ·chastisement" of Fleming 

wou1d be le ft to "His Majesty's Laws".J9 The'message for 

James was c1ear and it signa11ed the beginning of a renewed 
• 

effort by the Eng1ish government to force the King to crack 

down on the smugg1ers. 

The growing threat of U1ster's military prowess/made 

it imperative that the flow of arms to the rebels be 
1 

diminished. Recognizing Scotland as the most dangerous 

source of rabei arms, the English government began pressing 
c 

the King to take vigorous action to stop the smuggll~ In 

1598 the King agreed to publi~et another proclamation 

prohibiting trade with the rebels. 40 The Earl of Ormond, 

who suspected James of favoring 0 'Neill', voiced doubts about 

the effectiveness of this strategy. Ormond proposed that 

instead of relying upon balf hearted proclamations and an 
• 

ineffective blockade, the government should instead purchase 

all the surplus munitions on the west coast of Scotland. He 

wrote to the Queen that Mit ls more meet that the powder be 

bought for Her Majesty' s serviclr than bestowed against her". 41 

George Nicoison held a similar view. 

The Earl of Tyrone is still drawing aid 
from hence to him, notwithstanding the 
King's proclamation to the contrary, so 
surely as l see no way so good to hinder 
the same as to buy the things from hence 
out of his bands and to turn their traffic 
with him to use'42 

By striking out atth'e economic roota of the gun­

running operations, 'Ormond and Nicolson's proposal might , 

well have crippled Ulster's war machine within a very 

'" 
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short time, but neither the privy Couneil in London nar the 

government in Dublin possessed suffieient financial resources 

to enable them ta adopt this sound but expensive policy. 

Instead the Queen deeided to exert more pressure on her ... 
Stuart cousin in Edinburgh. 4J James was thus eaught on the 

homs of a dilemma. He did not wish to antagonize Elizabeth, 

but he could ill afford to eut aIl ties with O'Neill. James 

was anxiaus to keep the Irish chief from supporting the 

MacDonnells44 who, when not otherwise occupied, were wont 

to raise havoc in the northeast of Scotland. He was also 

concerned lest h~ should need O'Neill's support in any 

future power struggle over the English and Irish thrones. 45 

But Elizabeth was adamant and James was too politieally 

astute to antagQnize the English Queen. In March and June 

of 1598, and again in June of 1601, he issued proclama'"l'cns 

prohibiting trade with the rebels. 46 His first proclamations, 

mildly worded, were probably intended to mollify Elizabeth. 

tater, however, as a result of his growing proximity to 

the English Crown and the deterioration of the rebel military 

situation, James increased the strength and vigor of hie 

proclamations dramatieal~y. 

In respon~e to the Queen's initiative, O'Neill 

applied a little diplomatie pressure of his own by sending 

an embassy to Scotland. The purpoà~ of this diplomatie 

initiative was to persuade the king to -allow that the 
, 

Proclamation might be discharged ••• for withoüt support of 

men and especially of powder and lead and provisions from 

.' 
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this country the Earl could not bfde it-.4? When the 

King refused to rescind the proclamation, O'Neill's 
1 48 

representatives offered to make him ruler of Ireland. 

The King apparently refused this off-er and O"Neill.ls 

people were forced to go homè empty f"nded. ~he fol1owing 

year, however, they returned with an aven larger delegation. 

On Thursday last 1 returned hither finding 
Jamea Moore, Tyrone la servant, Cormack 
Mckeyeand, Neal Mcguige, McSorley's 
servants had 'brought horse and hawks to 
the Court ••• l hear they craved the 
lslanders might have but the King's 
overaight, to repair to'aid the rebels 
w~th their loose péople, and that the 
towna of the West to traffie with them 
for their supp'ly of powder, lead and 
other necessaries.49 

It is not recorded whether O'Neill's second dip-
'V ' 
lomatic initiative was successful, but his bargaining 

position was,certaily a strong one. He hAd th~ support of 

the Catholic Earls. Huntly, Errol ~nd Angus and even Argyll 

was prepared to give his demands a sympathetic hearing.50 

O'Nei~l had earlier married one of his daughters to Randall 

MacDonnell and thus brought the Antrim MaèDonnells into the 

Ulster Confederation. 51 Most important of aIl, he had the 

argumen~ of economic necessity on his side. Both he and 
. 

James must have realized that any disruptioh of trade between 
'. 

Ulster and Scotland was bound to threaten not only small 
\ 

enterpreneurs but also important marchants and ship owners 

on the West Coast. It is, therefore, not surprising that 

we should find sllch a prominent Glasgow burgess as Sir 
/ 

George Elphinstone readily co-op~rating with OINeill's embassy. 
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Sir George Elphinstone is the man 
to whom they were directed anq. that 
entertains them and their errand 
between them and the King'S2 

( 

Faced with the general populgtion's unwillingness 

to co-operate, James simply lacked the administrative 

apparatus necessary to enforee his prohibition on trade, 

This situation suited O'Neill perfectly, for James' prc­

clamations notwithstanding, only the physical interference 

of the central government could hope to diarupt the flow 

of arma to Ulster, O'Neill's ambassadors were quick to 

play upon this theme in their negotiations with James, 

The Scots monarch must fiave found their arguments bath 

compelling and appealing. aIl he need do in order ta accede 

to O'Neill's requirements was net te Interfere and thus let 

things take their natural course. 53 

The years 1600-1601 saw the war reach its greatest 

intensity. Mountjoy, dete~ined to succeed where his pre­

decessors had failed, kept hie army in the field aIl year 

round. The incessant pressure which Mountjoy exerted upon 

Ulster's frontiers forced O'Neill ta expend hie resources 

'at an ever increasing rate. The arriva! of Spanish aid in 

1660 kept O'Neill in the fight, but was not sufficient to 

restor,e his badly depleted reserve of manpower and materi~l. 

In order to carry on the war, O'Neill was forced to atep up 

~is supply operatio~ from Scotland and the Continent. 
" 

The rebel hath no greater want than of' 
shipping, both to vent out the commodies 

, of his country and to furnish him frdm 
foreign parts of the provisions he requir~s. 54 
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It would appear t~t Q'Neill's increased supply 

demands resulted in a significant increase in illicit 

trading activities along the west coast of Scotland and . 
,England. The urgency of the rebel éupply requirements led 

to a greater volUme of tr$!fic with a proportionate decrease 

in secur~ ty. 

~n February of 1600 a ship of seven score tons out 

of Emden called the Leethe was forced ln Carlisle by rough 

weather. Sorne of the sailora who came ashore appeared to be 

Englishmen but tried very hard to ·counterfeit- 55 their 

accents. It was suspected by àome in the town that the 

shi:P" was headed "for I~e1and to relieve Tirone". 56 The crew 

claimed to be carrying only salt, applies and oranges, but' 

the Eng1ishman who reported the incident remained skeptical. 

l think she should "have better stuff ln 
her, but the Scots would not suffer her 
to be searched'

57 

Furthe~ down the coast at the port of Humber a 

similar incident occurred five months later. In July of 

1600 a Scottish vessel put into Humber and was subject to 

a search by the town officiaIs. On board they found a large 

consignment of munitions. In spite of this discovery and a 

confession by the Scots sallora that "the muskets were , 

provided for Tirone" the ship managed to slip out of port 

before charges could be laid. 58 

During that sarne month the government received a 

very' important piece of information from an informer by 

the name of John Kelly. He reported to George Nicolson" 

J' 

". 
1 

! o. 

1 
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that the Scottish gunrunning tràde was 'more active than 
1 

aver. 

James Stuart of Glasgow brought out of 
Ireland eight brass pieces taken out of 
the water\In O'Donnell's country. He 
sends dail~powder into Ireland. John 
Allen. merchant for Sir James McSorley, 
conveys aIl things to Surly Boy that he 
wants. John Willson and Henry Willson 
of G1asco convey powder and munitions 
into Ireland to O'Donnel1. There are two 
brethren at Ayr that are merchants for 
Tyrone, and a11 that country trade 
thither ••• for these Scottiehmen send 
over the powder and munitions in very 
small boats of ten, sixteen and twenty 
tons and go aIl the winter time and in 
summer they dare not stir' S9 

It was recorded that "upon comp1aint made by Mr. 

Nicolson of these Scottishmen that do furnish the enemy 

with powder and munition, th,e Scots King did put them to 

the hom on the Friday and restored them again the Saturday 

following".60 Although the King had ample opportunity to 

prosecute these and other known gunrunners, he chose not 

to act unti1 1602, by which time it was evident that O'Neill 

had lost the war. 

In June of 1600 the government 1earned thatlRichard 

Brady was sai1ing a 200 ton vesse1 in the serviye of O'Neill. 

The ship, The Prosper of Drogheda, was the largest ship known • 

to have carried cargoes for the rebels. 61 In September a 

second member of the ~rady clan was imp1icated as a 
62 sympathizer and agent of the rebe1s. 

Th& year 1601-1602 brought disaster·to the rebel 

armies. After near1y a decade of startling military success, 
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0'Nei11's forces were swept from the field when they made 

an abortive attempt to re1ieve the beseiged Spanish garrison 
\ 

in Kinsa1e. By this Late ~~~ge ?f the war, the government 

was beginning to close in on 0'Nei1l's gunrunning opera~ions. 

Since 1599 the government had been trying to sea1 off such 

important east coast inlets as Strangford Lough and Dundrum 

Bay.6J An expedition under Sir Ralf Lane managed to get a 

foothold in Strangford in 1599 and by 1601 the small military 

colony had taken root. Lough Foy1e, another of O'Neill's 

important por~s, had been captured by a government expedition 

under Sir Henry Dowcra in 1600. 64 

Using information which had been gathered in bits 

and pieces over the previous six years, the government was 

able to put together a rough sketch of O'Neil~ts supply 

organization. They could now isolate the key rebei landing 

sites as being Killybegs,65 Donegal,66 Lough SWiIly,67 

Lough Foyle,68 Bundnorys near Dunluce,69 Glenarm,~O Red Bay,71 

Strangrord72 and Dundrum. 73 Spanish shipping tended to put 

in on the west and north west coast whi1e Scottish contra-

band tended to come ashore on the east coast. 

There was no longer any illusion in London or Dublin 

as to the importance of the Scottish smuggling traffic. No 

less a figure than Cecil himse1f readi1y admitted that "aIL 

relief to the Northern rebels absolutely proc~edeth from 

the North and West of Scotland".74 Not only was Scotland's 

role in the rebel supply operations better understood, but 

the English now had a fix on 0'Nei11's supp1yoperations 



}; \ 

() 

( ) 

on the Continent. 

There is a large discovery of this 
combination with France. Scotland 
and Ireland. Yesterday there came 
a Bark laden with saddles ~d arms 
and such necessaries into the harbour 

"out of France.?5 ' , 
Armed with a sound knowledge of their enemy's 

, 
operating procedures, the government was poised to strike 

a series of blows that would cripple Q'Neill's supply and 

logistics organization. In March of 1601 the Sunday of 

Waterford, belonging te James Moore, was driven by sto~s 

into Falmouth Harbour. One of the crew. Peter Strange t, was 

arrested for f,iling to pay some small debt while ashote. 

Under questicr6ing, he revealed that the ship was carrying 

letters for O~Neill.?6 The vessel was searqhed, and it was 

discovered tbat the cargo consisted of Catholic regalia 

being sent from Robert Comerford of the Groyne 'in Spain 

to Thomas Comerford in Waterford. The Captain, James Moore, 

also confeaaed to carrying lettera from members of King 

Phillip'a cou~cil to O'Neill.?? 
~ 

The governIl\ent had suspected for some time tha t ' , 
Moore had been involved in Q'Neill's smuggling activities. 

but had never been able to lay their bands on him. Moore 

poasessed a wealth of knowledge àbout O'Neill's~supporters / 

in Ireland and abroad, and the government extracted ~good 

deal of information from him. One of the people he implicated 

in his testimony was James Duff of Drogheda. who he said 
, 

had helped the Jesuit James Archer flee from Drogheda on 
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By the ~ummer of 1601 the situation looked qui te 

\ desperate for the Ulster Contederation. The rebellions 

i~Leinster and Munster ~d been crushedr Connacht was 
'- or '~ 

wavering and with proper handling would soon'be subdued. , 

.- ~ Ulster";' al though still deflant, was begiiU'lipg to totte'r. 

nowcra and NiaI GarY O'Donnell were continually raiding 

rebel territory· from thelr base at Derry. The garrison 

at Derry had turned into a cankerous sore which steadily 

sapped the contidence of the rebel leadership and ate away 

at thè solidartty of the Confederation. 
1 

In the: east, O'Neill's vital link: wi th Strangford 
1 

was temporarily cut by Chichester in July when he drove 

Brian McArt from the area,?9 and Mountjoyafter fight1ng 

, , 

a bloody campai~ghout the previous year, had finaH.y, 

reached the Blackwater. The English commander was probing 

for a route aeross th~-great river but was reluctant to 

follow 0 'Nei].;l into the recesses of Tyrone. 

QINeill's strategy beginning in late 1600 was to 

give groundslowly, husband reso~ces and prepare for the 

expected Spanish invasion. ,Mountjoy was not content to 

" allow·the rebels to ait back and wait for the Spaniards 

~unmolested. He exerted constant pressure on O'Heill's 

boundaries, and whenever the opportunity afforded, he tried . ' 
to bring the rebels to battle. As a result, O'Heill's 

supply requirements were probably great~r than at any time 

J sinee the beginning of the war. 

..t" ..... Ii' J.-~ ,,~~~d:f,l'lr ... , _1' ... "'<P<mJ>i'.'fo- 't'_~.dAIIf.,_#~",~~:",L.~-'" , 
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" O'Neill's troopa kept Mountjoy south ôf the 

Blackwater over the summer of 1601, but in early September 
"./ -1 

an event took place that was to have profound effects upon 

Ulster's capacity to carry on the war. On o~ around the 

~hird of September of that year, Sir George Elphinstone 

intercepted John Allen saili~ from Scotland to Uister. 

Allen's ship was otladen with furnishings ~f coins and other ' 

things tnat were going to McSorley, who is the greateat 

provider of aIl necessaries t~at thi~ country pan afford 
. , 

the rebéls~··. ~o Less than one 'weet later Allen na béing 
à • 

examined' in Sterli~ at the instigation of the English 

ambassador. pnder questioning, Allen admitted that he had 

been in~ommunication with O'Neill's agent, John Bath. He 

also divulged· the names of 'sorne' of the merchants from the 
. . 81 

West Coast,who were trading regularly with the rebels. 

His tes,timony rev~aled the extraordinary depths of the 

smuggling trade in Scotlandr cordiners, lawyers, fishermen, , 
~erchants t skippers ~nd people from every stra~ ttf 1,806i*1iY 

, were:' involved. All~n singled out Glasgow, Ayr and Irving 

'k th.' pri';cip..l crmlers of the trad •• 

~ Nicolso~, the English ambassaaor, worked tirelessly 

tQ ,ensure that q~ick retribution was meted out to those 
. " 

\ . 
·implic~ted by Allen. Nicolson seemed more concerned about 

the integrity of James' decrees against smuggiing than the 

King himself. Tpe Stuart Monarch was by no me ans anxious to 

crack down on O'Neill's operations when the outcome of the 
" 

war was still in doubt. It is, "therefore, not surprising 
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, that ,charges Viere not actually _l.aid against the chief 

offenders until the Spanish invasion had rorced James' 

hand. Even after .formal charges had been laid, no punitive 

acti~n Was ta~e'n aga,ingt the guilty, par~ies until it was 

abso}-ute1y clear that 0 'Neill could not possibly win the 

war'.82 
, '. 

In t~e yring of 1:602 yte ~ Lord Deputy pushed ull 

into O'Neill'/territory and~téred the rebel sanctuariea 

which the English had not been abl~ to reach for almost «. 

decade. In the swmmer of 1602, he crossed the BlackWater 
1 

and captured Dungannon. DOVicra was marching down from the 
1 

. North to meet with the Lord Deputy's troops and Chiche~ter 

was likewise advancing from the eas~. Between them they 

were systematically destroying Ulster's economic capacity 
r 

to resist. The campaign was ruth1ess and effective. 

As late as i602 Gordon was still wi th O"Neill {lnd 

the government certainly regarded the re~t of the rebel 

army as potentially a dangerous foe,. but the end'could no , \ 

longer be in doubt. One Dy one 0 'Neill 's a.;t.lies bagan to 

faI1 away from jÎlim as ~he weal th of the c,ountryside lias laid 

to waste; ln Sc~tl~nd his a~nts were either detained or 

forcé~.into hid~ng. fi ' 
..," ' 

'. In the process of- conductlng this fina;t. campaign, 

'the, governinent Iearned a"gC?od· dea1 abOlit tlle f'unction of 

o • Ne i':P 's mili tarl' machine. The English d~scovered Viheat . . , 

where they ~d tho~t thére was none. t~ey ~ravelled on . 
rGads tl!ey hac s'Qppos~d' did not exist,' and they overt"an 
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sUpply depots whioh they had never expected to find. 

Piece by piece it became possible to assemble a coherent 

picture of how O'Neill's superb field force was able to 
~ 

equip. recruit and train its levies. 
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CHAPTER THREE 

THE AGENTS 

There is suc~ a love between his people 
and them and such a necessity of traffic, 
as it will be hard to stayall. 

G. Nicolson quoting King James 

'\ 

O'Neill's strong ties with the Pale and his English \ 

educational background made ~t inevitable that it would be 

he, rather than O'Donnell or Maguire, who first recognized 

the need ta create a coherent supply system. The organization 

which O'Neill had constructed for the purpose of meeting his 

supply requirements was itself a natural outgrowth of his 

pre-war trade contacts and the already operational communi­

cations lines established by agents of the counter reformation. 

Once he had laid the initial foundation of the 

organization. aIl O'Neill had to do to sustain the machine 

was to allow the momentum created by Q'Neill's military 

successes, the prospect of profit, the Anglo-Spanish conflict 

and the forces of the counter reformation to supply the 

neeessary additi~nal ~~petU8. 

The various components which together made up' 

O'Neill' s complex supply system we're not in themselves 

sophistic~ted mec~anism8. O'Neill took old tools and 

utillzed them in'a,new and more effective manner. O'Neill • 
seized upon the existing.commerclal shipping lanaa between 

Scotland and Ireland and utilized th~m to his own advantage 

39 
, 
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while, at the sarne time, engaging the services of merchants 

and sailora who were familiar with the requirements of an 

effective importing operation. O'Neill even used existing 

harbour facilities in Dublin, Drogheda and Lough~Foyle to 
, 

bring his supplies ashore. Once landed, rebel supplies 

were transported inland on roads which, in many cases, had 

been built by the Normana over three centuries before the 

birth of Hugh O'Neill. Similarly, thé island fortresses , 

where.O'Neill stored his supplies were so ancient that even 

the Irish annals eannot fix a date on their construction. 

It ia evident, therefore, that Q'Neill's supply system was 
, 

aided greatly by the capabilities, the expertise and the 

facilities which existed prior to pis rise to prominence 

in Ulster. 

It is impossible to pinpoint the exact year in 

whieh O'Neill began constructing his supply organization., .. 
It may have been as ear1y as 1589, the year Angus MacDonald 

visited him at Dungannon. 1 Hayes McCoy suggests that this 

was most certain1yan occasion for "much)lotting which 

would later bear fruit against the Queen".2 

Whatever may have been O'Nei1l's purpose in 

entertaining MacDonne11, it seems certain that it was 

aimed at strengthening his position in Ulster. The 

following year, 1590, O'Neill imported six tons of 1ead 

under pretence of roofing Dungannon. Since the shipment 
--, 

of 1ead was destined to be cast as bullets for o 'Nëiil 's 

troopa. it ia difficult to be1ieve that it was ever 

__ '4- ~""""'" ._. ,~~. 
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intended for use as r~ofing.J 

While O'Neill was in the process of importing 

. lead from Englan~ persons who were to play prominent 

roles in the rebel organization were beginning to make 

t~e government uneasy with their activities. Henry Duff, 

for example, a merchant of Dublin, was investigated by 

government officiaIs because of a mysteriouB visit he 

made to Spain in 1590. 4 As events will show, the Duff 

family was ta prove an important component in Q'Neill's 

supply operations during the war. 

The previaus year, 1589. James Fleming, who appears 

ta have been a prominent Ulster merchant, saile~ with nin~ 

galleys into Lough Foyle. On board one of the vessels was 

Hugh Cavelough McShane O'Neill. Cavelough, who Was one 

of the notorious sons o'f Shane Q 'Neill, had spent. the 

previous year in Scotland with his.kinsmen, the McLeans. 5 

He returned to Ireland full of tales about O'Neill's 

intrigues in the Highlands. Cavelough'wasted no time in 

informing the government of Q'Neill's efforts to aid ship­

wrecked Spaniards, but his warninga fell on deaf ears. 6 

Since O'Neill was considered a bulwark of government 

.influence in the North •.. tl;l.e Lord Deputy thought i t prudent 

to look upon Cavelough's accusations as being ·of no great 

sUbstance".7 a 'Neill, on the ,ether' hand, to.ok the affair 

in deadly earnest, throwing aIl caution to. the wind, he 
, . 8 ~ 

captured and hanged the glib Cav~gh. 
, "-.,'1 

The whole incident seems to point towards two 
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conclusions. First, from the casual way in which 

contemporary observers note Fleming's presence with the 
~ 

Scot~' galle ys in Lough Foyle. it is possible to assume 

, th$t he was a fairly weIl known figure on the trade routes 

b~tween Scotland and Ireland. 9 Secondly, t~e brutal and 
, . 
reckless murder of Cavelough tends to indicate that O'Neill 

was more deeply involved in Scottish polit~cs than he cared 

to admit: It is unlikely that a 'Neill would have risked 

putting himself on acollisio?'course, either with the 

government, or with the McLeans, simply to satis~y an urge 

for revenge. Cavelough's death did remove one o~ O'Ne,ill's 

. more dangerous rivaIs from the seehe, but this" alone does , 

not explain why he did away wi th him. Iater, during the , 

war, O'Neill captured the other McShanes, but did not 

ham them. Why then d,id he murder Cavelough? The Most 

prpbable explanation is that Cavelough knew too much about 

o 'Neill 'a intrigues' on the we/3t coas~ Dt: Scotland. 

As O'Neil* saW himself being drawn,irresistably 
, '\ " 

into a war wit~,t~~Engli~h, he began "as occasion r~quired 

to collect arms and o~her w~rlike supplies •• ,in hidden 

places- .10 To aid him in hiS' ~ork, he sough' out men such 

as Nicolas Weston, James Flêming and ,John Bath. AIl three 

men were to, play a vital role in his supply system and'ot 
.. ' 

the three, 'Bath ia the agent about whom most is known. 

Conaidered to be "a great merchant of Strabane born of 
'!n 

11 ' the English part of Ire land" , he had a servant by the 

name of Conachur (O'Connor») who travelled with him. 
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He appears to ha~e been related to O'Neill's fri~nd, 

-Will~am Warren, through the latter's wife. In addition 
~ 1...-. .. 

he hfd powerful 'a?nn~ctions in Drogheda for a kinsman of 

his, Edward Bath, was mayor of that town in the early 

l590s.~1A Bath appears ~o haye transacted much' of his 
.., . .. ' 

business upon the.west coast of Scotland. and although 

the government was aware of his activities during the 

war. they were only:once able ta lay their hands on his 

elus~ve person, and iit that "instance they were forced ta 
- . 

release him for lac-k of evidence. 12 

Bath does not aee,m to have owned a vessel of his 

~wn. preferring to lease th~m'as required. In leasing 

rather than owning his ~essela, Bath fits into the general 

pattern of Irish merchants at this ~ime.13 He operated mostly 

out of Lough Foyle and probably lived in either Strabane or 
~4 

Dunnalong.l He appeats to have been an experienced 

merchant wi th contacta on the continent" and, i t ia 1;here­

fore not surprising that it wàs to him tbat O'Nei!1 turned 
" ~ 

in 1607 whenlhe decided to flee Ireland • 
•• , 1 .. / 

The details of the tlight mal weIl offer some 

insight into how rebel leasing and smuggling operations 
d 

"Rere handled. We lmow, for e:mmple. tha t through the 

influence of Henry O'Neill, Maguire obtained money from 
, 

the Spanish authorities in Brùssels. D~sguising himself 

as a merchant., Maguire trav~lled to the Port of Nantes in 

Fr.~t:lce,tl:' and that at some point on the journey Bath ' 
"'" 

joined him. In Nantes. they bought salt, wine and some 

/ 
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fishing pets and chartered a ship of sixt Y tons. From 

there they sailed to Lough Swilly where they picked up 

O'Neill and the others. l6 

With the possible exception of Bath. James Fleming 

was certainly the most important figure in O'Neill's 

smuggling activiti~s. The Fleming family seems to have 

come from Drogheda, and Jarnes's kinsman, Robert Fleming, 

lived there at least until the start of, the war and 

probably afterwards. Robert Fleming was known to have 

been in communication with' Spain prior ta the war, and 

the government was high1y susp1.cious of his aotivities'.17 

James Fleming appears to have established trading links 

with the west coast of Scotland which predated,the war. 

In 1589-, he carried Hugh Cave10ugh back to Ireland from 

Scotland where the latter had been hiding with the McLeans. 

When he sailed into Lough Foyle, Soloman Farenan, Turlough 

Luineach's secretary, recorded Fleming'~ presence as if 

it were nothing unusual. Farenan did not even think it 

necessary to mention Fleming's tirst n:me. 

Hugh Cavelough O'Neill has come out of 
Scotland and braught Fleming and others 
with him: 18 

Though the evidence Besme to point to the fact 

'î that Fleming was fairly weIl known in U~ster, the State 

Papers are silent as to what his activities were prior 
- ..,. 

to 1589. Considering the fact that Fleming was in Scotland 

. at the same time ~hat O'Neill was arranging to transport 

the Spanish castaways out of Ireland, it ia possible to 

• 
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assume that he was involved in this affaire C~velough, 

who was also in Scotland at this time, returned to Ireland 

with Fleming in early 1589, and although Cavelough never 

revealed how the Spaniards were shipped to Scotland, he 

did produce ample proof to implicate O'Neill. 19 

,No further evidence of Fleming's activlties la 
. ~ ~ ... 

extant until eight years later when James MacDonnell of 

Dunluce identified him as one of O'Neill's most important , 

1· t 20 amugg ~ng ~gen s. The following year he was reported 

" 
n to be transporting guns and munitions out of Scotland for 

0'Neill. 2l He did this, as far as can be determined, by 

chartering vessels rather than be owning them himself. 22 

This was, indeed, a common custom among Irish merchants 

of the day. 

Fleming spent so mu ch of his time in Scotland that 

some thought him to be of Scottish extraction. 

There ia come to the Harbour of Lough 
Foyle a bark bringing powder and 
munitions, ,the principal party, as 
they understand,' is one Fleming of 
Glasgow' 2J 

other references, however, refer to Fleming aa 

being an -Irishman".24 \ 

It se9ms likely that Fleming originally came fram 

Drogheda, a town that harboured many. of O'Neill's agents. 

As had already been noted the govemment was highly 

suspicious of Rob~rt Fleming of Drogheda and another 

member of the family, Sebastian Fleming,> frequented Spain 

on trading voyages. 25 It is evident, however, that Fleming 

and his son spent much of their ~ime in Glasgow. 26 ~ 

.. 
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The name Fleming was fairly common in that city, and 

several members of the family were at this time success­

fuI merchants in Glasgow. 27 

Besides smuggling munitions into Ulster, Fleming 

was also sent on the 'occasional diplomatie mission to 

the continerlt. In 1598, he carried O'Neill's son to Spain 

as a pledge to King Philip. It is unlikely that O'Neill 

would have entrusted such a delicate mission to any but 

the most capable of his agents. 28 Fleming again proved 

his worth in 1598 when he was charged with transporting 

O'Neill's secretary, B~ingham, on a diplomatie mission 

to Spain. During the voyage his vessel was blown by 

storms into La Rochelle where they were captured by English 

merchants. Fleming somehoi managed to engineer their 

escape, and they were pursu1d by the merchants as far ~s 

Bordeaux before the latter kave up the chase. Undaunted, 

Fleming sent Birmiilgham into Spain and then returned to 

Lough Foyle via Dublin and Drogheda. 29 There is no further 
\ 

printed evidence of the whereabouts of Fleming and his son 

towards the end of the war. and their fate remains somewhat 

o,f a mystery. -Though it is possible that they were killed ... 

during the English offensives in 1602, what is more likely 

is that they slipped across to Scotland in order to avoid 

prosecution. 

Nicholas Weston ia probably the moat intereating 

of O'Nei+l's agents. Weston was a key figure in arranging . 
for O'Neill to reoeive the shipment of le ad for the,roofing 
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of Dungannon, which was discussed earlier in the chapter. 

According to Lombard, the purc~ase was made possible by the 

-avidity· of merchants intent only on profit.?O and we can 

assume from these comments that Weston was motivated by 

neither poli tics nor religion in his efforts to aid the 

rebels. Weston owned land in D'Caban's country and was 

known to be involved in fishing operations on the ·Upper 

1 Barm- • He was a weal thy merchant and a prominent ship owner 1 

in 1597 he became Mayor of Dublin and served in that capacity 

for one year in spite,..,of his close affiliation with 0 'Neill. 

He also appears to have been an important source of capital 

for O'Neill, for the latter mortgaged a good deal of his 

land to Weston. Jl It is impossible to determine exactly 

when Nicholas Weston began his association with O'Neill. 

ho~ever, it was reported that he ·had great dealings w~th\ 

O'Neill before the ~".J2 Weston claimed that aIl of the 

land mortgaged to him by O'Neill was signed over bafore the 

rebe"llion, but such an argument is suspect as his claims to 

the land would have been disallowed had it been revealed 

that the transactions hàd taken place while O'Neill was 

,under attainder. JJ 

Weston continued to send supplies to O'Neill 

throughout the war,J4 but this did not prevent him from 

a1so acting as a supplier of the Queen's Army.J5 Armed 

with a sate conduct from the CrownJ6 his ships were frequent . ' 

visitors to suah aities as NantesJ? and Danzig. J8 Not 

su~risingly, Weston appears to have been very familiar '''1 
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with the expatriate English and Irish merchant communities 

of these ports. J9 In 1595 Weston helped O'Neill escape 

from Dublin using a key he had for the city gate Mnear his 

house" • 40. W~8ton was relate,d to Sir Geoffry Fenton, the 

Council s~cretary, through the latter's wife41 and he 

counted among his many powerful friends Adam Lof tus " 

Archbishop of Dublin and Lord Chancellor. 42 

His brother, Richard Weston, was O'Neill's accountant 

and cOnfidant, and when war broke out, Richard moved to 

Dundalk in order to channel goods and information to the 

rebels. 4) Weaton travelled frequently between Dundalk and 
" 

Dungannon but no effort was ever made by the authorities 

to restrain him. In 1597 James Nott, a secretary to O'Neill 

and an English spy, wrote that Weston should "be restrained 

from going to the Earl for he is a Most dangerous and 

cunning dissembler".44 Weaton, however, had acquired sorne 

powerful patrons within the governmentr in particular Sir 

Geoffry Fenton, to, whom Weston sent regular reports about 

affaira in Ulster. Weaton's enemies. however, remained 

unconvinced of his loyalty and recommended that he should 

be ·well examined and racked".45 They maintained that 

Weatonls intelligence "tendeth more for Sir Geoffry's' 

particular than Her Majeaty's service •• lour mistress is 

rather decieved than his master in this matter·. 46 
James Gordon waa another of 0' Ne i11' s gunrunning 

, agents. Unlike Bath and Fleming, however, Gordon is the 
"'\ 

product of'a more traditional mold. Being educated as a 

---,"",~Il!l __ " __ 
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Jesuit, he had long been lnvolved in Catholic,politics. 

By the beginn1ng ot Q'Neillts rebellion, he had already 

gained for himse1t a well earned reputation as a Catholic, 

provocateur. It was in theae ye~ra that the Jesuit Order 

was ac'Mng aa the ~ngwr.rd, of .the. Church' s c.ount.er' . 

Reformation, and Gordon, with powertul friends among the 

Scottish ariatocracy, played an important par~ in these 
. 47 intrigues. His close aftiliation with the Catholie 

o , 

nobles of Scotland came as a consequence of birth, for he 

was the unele of the Earl ot Huntly, the Most powertul 

Catholic Lord ln the country.48 

We tir st read ot Gardon's Participation ln Irish 

affairs in 1594 when a Drogheda merchant heard tram a 

friend ln Ayr that -Huntly's une le , the Jesult Gordon. 

is arrived with great store ot money to engage men of war, 

and trouble ia expeetedw
•
49 In 1597 he was reported to have 

erossed into Ireland in the Earl ot (Cai ~ess "own bark 

with the Barl's direction to Tyrone-. 50 

How Gordon firat became assoclated with O'Neill Is 

unknown~ but the transporting ot shipwreeked Spanlarda to 

Scotland in 1589 may have provided the opportunity. Whatever 

the orlg1n ot th1s association. Gordon proved to be a 

va1uable asset to O'Xsill's orcan1sation. His influence 

with the Catholic nobi11ty ot'Scotland save O'Neill sub­

stantial barga1~ng power in his negot1ations w1 th King 

James and he utilized this advantage to th~ fullest. 51 

Despi te the Involvement ot such men as Gordon on 

.. .,. . 
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O'Neill's side, it is difficult to measure the strength of 

O'Neill's support' among the Catholic nobility of Scotland. 

For its part, the English government was convinced that 

some Catholic nobles were actively aiding O'Neill with. 

supplies of arms. In February 1596, jbr example, Henry 

Malby, writing to the Lord Deputy, warned him that "an Earl 

in Scotland has promised great store of Scots and munitions 

to Tyrone".52 

This seems to indicate that the Irish government 

in Dublin was highly sensitive to the problem of supplies, 

reaching O'Neill from Scotland. Certainly, Gordon's nephew, 

the Earl of Huntly, aroused suspicion. ·Certain Scottish 

boats have, sinee the last parlay wi th Tyrone, brought into 

Lough Foyle great quantities of powder and other prov~sions •.. 

l know not whether they are sent by the Earl of Huntly.or by 

sorne other of that faction".53 

There ls other evidence whlch points to Gordon'a 

role as a major agent of O'Neill's. In 1597, for example, 

Gordon was singled out by James MaeDonnell as one of Q'Neill's 

key gunrunning agents in Scotland. 54 Perhaps this cloae 

association explains why, unlike many of the smugglers who 
, . 

quietly disappeared from view.after it became evident that 

O'Neill would lose the war, Gordon stayed with O'Neill 

until the very end. 55 He even had occasion to foil an 

attempted assassination against O'Neill late in the war.56 

Another man who smuggled arms for O'Neill was 

J~ loore of Waterlord. More presents an interesting , . 

\ -
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exception in that he owned his own veEel' the Sunday of 

Waterford. 57 Coming as he did from t e South, Mooré's case 

deviates ~rom the normal pattern oi r el smugglersl he 

would. moreover. have had very little opportunity to come 

into contact with O'Nei~l prior to the war. The exact year 

that More began working for O'Neill is impossible toc deter­

mine. It may have been as early as 1596 when a repatriated 

English prisoner o~ the Groyen in Spain claimed that every 

four months an English ship sailed with a cargo for Tyrone. 58 

The Sunday accompanled the ill fated Armada of 1597, and was 

one of the few vessels to survive the disasters which beset 

the fleet. 59 More seems to have had Most of his commercial . '" 
links with Spainl it is possible that his association with 

the rebels originated there. 

In 1598 and again in 1599, More visited Scotlapd 

as O'Neill's envoy to King James. The circumstances of the 

first visit are somewhat obscure, but we know for certain 

that More asked the King to ease up in his attempts to pro­

hlbit the smuggling of arms to Ulster. 60 In return, Moore 
,1 

" 61 apparently offered to make James King of Ireland. He 

claimed that without O'Nelll's help the Scottish King would 

never- succeed to the throne, whlch Was -not meant for him 

nor would ~e otherwise get itW,' adding Wthat there was a 

great man to succeed Her Majesty-.62 

The following year More was back in Scotland. thls 

time accompanied by two of James McSorley MacDonnell's men. 6J 

This mission, having McSorley's backing, stood a-reasonable 
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chance of success, and was closely watched by the English. 
, 

During their stay in'Sèotland the Irish representatives 

were "entertained" by Sir George Elphinstone, a powerful 

Glasgow Burgess. 64 More brought with him a number of gifts 

for the King and asked "that the islanders might have but 

the King's oversight to repair to and aid the rebels ••. and 

the towns of the West to traffic with them for their supply 

of powder, le ad and other necessaries".65 

In May of 1601 the Sunday was driven by storms into 

Falmouth Harbour. 66 One of the crew was arrested for non 

payment of a small debt and, under questioning, confessed 

to carrying letters for O'Neill. 67 More was immediately 

taken into custody, where he admitted carrying letters for 

O'Neill as w~-·às sorne Catholic regalia for Thomas Comerford 

of Waterford. 68 He also implicated Stephen Duff as the man 
lÇ;; 

responsible for helping James Archer to eaqape to the • 
. 6 . 

continent through the port of Drogheda. 9 More never 

mentioned his earlier activities as a rebel agent, and the 

government does not seem to have realized what a valuable 

prize they had seized. What happened to More and his crew 

after this date ia clouded in obscurity. We can safely 

assume, however, that following his arrest, his usefullness 

as a smuggler and diplomatic representative was at an end. 

There were other men who played important parts in 

O'Neill's organization during these critical years, and 

Richard and Walter Brady are two outstanding examples. 

Walter Brady was a merchant of Drogheda who was suspected 

- r 



( 

( 

53 

of aiding the rebeIs. 70 In 1600 Thomas' Jones, the 

Protestant Archbishop of Meath, accused him of having allowed 

Archbishop M'Guran to stay in his house after arriving from 

Sco.tland,7l and also claimed that Brady had aided O'Neill's 

aIly, Owen O'Reilly, during the latter's escape from custody 

in Drogheda. 72 

Walter's brother, Richard, was the Master of the 

200 ton Prosper of Drogheda,7) and he was known to have 

shipped hides to Spain during the war and to have carried 

rebel munitions. 74 On at least one occasion he transported 

Spanish representatives to Killybegs for a meeting with 

O'Neill and O'Donnell. 75 He is referred to in official 

correspondence as "Q'Neill's pilot-. 76 In 1599 Walter Brady 

fall into government hands. At that time he claimed to have 

been forced into aiding O'Neill and protested that he had 

escaped at the first opportunity.77 The government might 

have looked more favorably upon his story had he not been 

carrying a safe conduct sagned by O'Neill at the time of 

his capture. 78 

r ...... ~ 
The printed evidence reveals rebel activities of 

two other members of the Brady familr. One of ~hem was 

Patrick Brady, who was known to have been smuggling supplies 

to the rebels as early as 1592. 

A horseload of Aqua Vitae was carried 
into Moynterloys by Patrick Brady to 
Brian O'Rouke. 79 

There was aIse a Richard Brady who was the Catholic 

Bishop of Kilmore. Bishop Brady waB suspected by the 

.. 
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government of carrying letters from discontented factions 

in Ireland to the Duke of parma. 80 The eventual fate of 

these men remains unknown, though Mountjoy's secretary, 

Fynes Moryson, recorded that one of the Bradys was killed 

at the taking of Downpatrick in 1602. 81 The presence of 
82 this Brady, probably Richard of the Prosper, so close to 

Strangford Lough, may indicate that he was involved in 

smuggling in this region. 

The Duffs were another Drogheda family that 

supported the rebels during the war. Stephen Duff was a 

merchant who appears to have had som~ links with the west 

coast of Scotland. 8J Duff, along with a,number of other 

Catholic merchants from Drogheda, played an important part 

in helping Father James Archer to escape from that town 

aboard a French vessel. 84 This same group financed Archer's 

trip te Rome to solicit aid for the rebels from the Pope. 8S 

Duff was aIs a suspected of arranging for letters to reach 

O'Neill, "and many other matters have been done by them in 

that city".86 Duff was sufficiently important within the 

rebel circles to have been known by James More and sorne of 

his crew. B? 

Other members of the Duff family were merchants, 

and although they were not specificall~ linked with O'Neill. 

they were neverthelees considered suspect by the government. 

Henry Ouf!, for example, was reported to be in Spain con-
<,.. 

ducting business in 1590, and was arrested and interrogated 

upon his return. 88 That sarne year, James Duff travelled to 
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St. James Fair in London under the alias of Hoare~89 The 

government was sufficiently suspicious of his activities to 

order his arrest and questioning.90 Other members of the 

Duff family were to be found in Spain9l and in France,92 

and of these, Patrick Duff of Rowen93 was a particularl~ 

interesting character. He lived in Rouen throughout the 
, 4 
war,9 and made his living as a factor to English, Irish 

\ ~ 
and French merchants. 95 Although there is no evidence to 

officially link Duff with O'Neill, he was known to have made 

disparaging remarks about Elizabeth, and on one occasion, . 

threatened "to fire her navy-.96 The presence of Patrick 

Duff and others like him acting as resident factors in 

continental ports does much to explain the meana by which 
1 

the rebels were able to obtain such a steady flow of contra­

band supplies. 

In 1607, when O'Neill took flight from Ire land , 

another member of the Duff family accompanied him. This 

. was Patrick Duff, O'Neill's chaplain, who joined the 

melancholy band boarding John Bath's vessel in Lough Swilly 

on the evening of Friday the l4th of September 1607. 97 

Along with Du!! went such persons as Richard Weston, George 

Moore, Ustien Bath, James Brady and Eugene Brady.98 

Historians can pinpoint the activities of Many 
1 

of O'Neill's agents, such as the foregoing, but there are 
• 

other agents whose origins and backgrounds are still unknown. 

Nicholas Haracles, for example, was an Englishman who 

supplied "aIl the le~d for the North-,99 but what motivated 

o , 
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him to trade with the rebels, where he operated, who were 

his contacts in Ireland, are aIl questio~s which will 

probably never be answered. Nevertheless, the, presence 

of rebel purchasing agents in England was an indisputable 

fact wbich the government ,could not arford to ignore, as 

O'Neill's people turned up at the Bristol rair, Sto~bridge 

Fair and even at London's Bartholomew Fair;IOO it was faIt 

by some persons tha t these "buyers of aIl kinds of warlike 

provisions for strengthening of the Irish rebels (were) fot 

the Most part, Jesuite in disguise".lOl 

However, there can be no doubt that the most 

important source of' rebel supplies lay not in England, but 

in Scotland. 102 The reasons for this are to be round in 

the traditionally strong trading ties between the two regions 

and their close physical proximity. It was, therefore, 

inevitable that O'Neill would turn to Scotland to meet his 

supply requirements. FOr centuries the West Coast Burghs 

had been trading with Carrickrergus, Strangford and Lough 
o 

Foyle. Scottish merchants regularly carried red and pickled 

herring, sea coal and whisky to Ulster and returned with 

yarn, cowhides, silver, timber, oats and barley.IO) In 1591, 

we even read of livestock and dogs being transported to 
, ,. 

JScotland.lO~ Not only did the West Coast Burghs of Scotland 

possess strong trading tiea with Ireland, the y also carried 

on a good deal of business with France and Spain.' Trade with 

Spàin was forbidden. but this does not seem to have presented 

a serioue problem to the marchante. lOS There were also 

• _1, .. /' • "--_<l''<.~~'''''" 7____. ___ ..... ~ ".~~ 
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Scottish merchants who imported m~tions from the 
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c~ntinent,106 while ~thers ;ook to making'firearms. l07 

Furthermore. Scot~d possessed especially strong commercial 

links with the Baltic,108 and a ,large n~ber of Scots 
, 1, , 

actually took up residence in the Bal tic Port towns-. 

Danzig, for example, a town that was to play an important 

part as a source of supplies for O'Neill, had a suburb 

jtnown as "Little Scotland" •109 This ~eant that at "the time 

'when 0 'Neill began assembling those people who were t'o run 

his sMuggling operations in Scotland, there already existed 
. 

in suchœ;>lac,s aCl Ayr, Irving and Glasgow, me,n who were 

faiii14r wi th the shipping of contraband goods and the 

handling of Irlsh cargoes. In addition, there weré numerous 

dmall !ishermen,and traders who had spent the better' part of 

I J their lives mak~ng the short trip~cross the" Irish "sea to 

the coast of Ulàter. " These m~n ~ciause to know the inleta 

and coves of Ulster's rocky east'~oast better than anyone. 

It remalned'only for O'Neill to tap this readily available 

human resource. 

O'Neill's greatest:asset,in his dealing$ with the 
, 

~. West Coast Burghs .was theif economic necessi ty 01,' As the .. 

-Engllsh Ambassador hiBlsel!' :,Was to .. almi t, "the p~ople in 

the West·cannot live without the tradeo~110 The merchant~ 

who eoarned their livelihood trading with the Irish cou~d 

not be $xpected 1.0 cease operations and àtarve simply 

because of the war. We might ev en safely assume tha t the 
fi , 

incentiye to trade was increased proportionately with the 
r 
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'prospect of greater profit. 

In 1593, under pressure from Elizabeth, King James 
o 

introduced a series of proclamations against trading with 

t~e rebels. lll However, even James recognized the limitations 

of the Crown in the face of economic reality. In JUly, 1598, 

Nicolson, the English Ambassador writing to Cecil commentedz 

As for transporting anything out of 
this country to their aid, he <'ing 
James) will do whatever can be devised 
to stay it ••• but he said and it'is true, 
that there is such love between his 
people and them and such a necessity 
of traflic that it will be hard·to 
stay aIl. 112 

Perhaps the,strength of O'Nei1l's economic position 

is best exemp1ified by the desperate shortag~s of 1ivestock 

that were being experienced by the West Ooast Burghs 

periodically throughout the 1590's.113 In those years, 
'- , 

the scarQity of beef forced the Scottish B~rghs to legislate , 
fish ~ays, at the very time when O'Neill's cowkeepers were 

busy ~e~ding large herds. O'Neill was thus in a strong 

<bargaining position when it came to dealing with the meat 

S~èd Burghs of the West Coast. 
l' 

At the .same time, i t wou1d have' been difficul t for 

men such as Bath and Fleming to operate without the support' 
~ . 

of confederates within the Scottish Burghs. In a town such 

as Glasgow, for instance, with a population of approximately 
... 

2~250 adults,114 it would have been weIl mgh impossible to 
/ 

d Mit ' 
carry out ~ge sc~le shlpping activities' in secret. It 

ls, therefore,.not unreasonable to assume that a good portion 

'\ 
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of the population of Glasgow were we1l aware of what was 

taking place down on the ~uaY. But, apart trom their possible 

po1itica1 sympathy, ther~~s an economic~ exp1anation for their 

covert assistance. The goods which were imported from the 

Baltic and France and then made their way to Ire1and repre­

sented too great a portion of thâ total volume of west coast 

trade to be shut down. Therefore, thos~ that did not actually 

participate in the traffic did nothing to hinder it. 

In the process of shipping supplies aeross the Irish 

sea, the occasional agent or clerie wou1d avai1 himse1f of 

a ride. Thus, Archbishop McGuran and Archbishop O'Hely ·went 

ta Denmark. tO'come by the nearest way through Scotland to 

Ire1and·. 115 At first, the arriva1 of bishops and c1erics 

overshadowed the more dangerous cargoes that were daily 
• 

entering the prov~nce. Beginning in 1595. however, the 
f 

first rumblings of large scale smugg1ing activities began 

to reach the government. That year, James Fullerton wrote 

to Nicolson, ·sinee my eoming l have received some 

intelligence that some store of mun~tionB, has late gone 

from this town, as swords. pistols, hagbut, steel b?nnets 

as they eal1 them, powder~ 1ead and mateh ••• which my credit 

could not stay·. 116 \-\-. 

John Auchinross expressed similar concern to ' 

Nico1son fou~ months 1a~er when he wrote, ·~yrone has men 
.~ 

in this town at the Lammis Fair and his servants, dwellers 

in Strabane are continually in Glasgow and furnish him with 

merchandise that ls desiredw
•
117 

. , 
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It seems evident, therefore, that by ~S95 the 

,government was alerted to O'Neill's massive build-up of 

supplies. The rebeis' startling success on the battle­

field was in no small way a resu~t of these early years 

of planning. That sarne year, 1595, three of O'Neill's 

agents. John Hale, Edward Hale and Gravener were captured 

travelling through' Scotland. They had b~en with O'Neill 

\ for several' weeks and had seen his troops in train~ng. 

"~r 

They descrfbed the'm as being "weIl appointed wi th shot 

and other functions of war, being at the time the first 

preparation to the Earl's rebellion,,;118 they gave the 

government c'lear evidence of a weIl organized supp1y system. 

The first Scots to be implicated as smugglers were 

John and Henry Wilson, two brothers who lived in Gla~gow,119 

and who were known 'to have warked c10sely with John Bath. 

Under pressure from the', English Ambassador, the govern-

ment 'sent a representative ta Glasgow wha -captured Bath 

and the Wilson brothers but was unable ta ho Id them because , 

th t . . f 120 d th 1 1 ey were no ~n poesess~on 0 any weapons, an e oca 

officiaIs vouched. for their surety.12l As saon as James's 

officiaIs had le ft Glasgow, however, the two bro'thers began .. 
, 122' ta ,ply th~ir old trade as earnestly as ever. 

The Wilsons were not the only citize~s of Glasgow 
, 

ta engage in smuggIing'activities. There are several men 

from this Scottish oit Y who are recorded in the State Papers 
1 

as being actively engage~ in· trading with the rebels. James 
, 

Stuart and a colleague, Sempil, for example, were invoived 

J __ "",~ __ . _. _ .. _ ...... __ ... 
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in one of those few recorded instances where arma were 

extracted trom Ireland and sent to Scotland. Ii 'is said 

that -he brought out ot Ire+and eight brass pieces taken 

out,of the water in O'Donnell's country_,12J Alexander 

Stuart, another gunrunner, was a prominent burgess ot 

Glasgow,l24 and May have been rela~ed to James Stuart. 

He was known to have shlpped 2,000 pounds worth of powder 

to O'Neill. ~d also sent over gunsmiths to make arms tor 

the rebels. 125 John Allen, a Glasgow man who provided the , . 

rebels with munitions and supplies, had a long histQry of 

association with the rebels through James McSorley McDonnell. 

Allen had been McDonnell's factor befor~ the war, and the 

shipping of whisky and munitions across to Dunluce was' 

nothing new for him. 126 Allen was captured in 1601, and 

his testimony revea1ed the immense gunrunning traffic that 
" 

was taking place along the entire west coast of Scot1and. 127 

He revealed 'he names of dozens of agents in Ayr, Irving 
" 

and Glasgow. Included on his li st were merchant~, skippers, 

Cordiners, coopers and fishermen. The Irish trade involve~ 

people trom every strat~m of soëiety along the west coast. ' 
1 

Other Glasgow citizens involved in the traffic .{th thé 

rebels were William Slmsone, John Neilson, a cooper and 

his son. James Nei1son. llathew Turnbull, 'Normand KcKaynny, 

James Kyle, George Pollock, David Seherar, John Wilson, ~ 

tishe~, John Gray, a tisherman, Ducan and John Leithes, , 
\ 

both fishermen, John Ross and Allen Bell. l28 A~though 

little is known about these persona. what ~nfotmation Is 

, c' <:/, ' 
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available is interesting. The McKaynnys, for example, do 

not appear to have been simply fishermen or craftsmen, as 

,were some of the others. In 1553, David McKaynny, probably 
-...r-

the father or uncle of our McKaynnya, was,registered as a 

"Notar PUblic" in Glasgow. 129 Mathew Turnbull, notw~th-

..!. 

standing his arrest as a smuggler, was later to be appointed 

Baliff of Glasgowat the request of King James. lJO Similarly, 

David Scherar rose ta the rank of Burgess and Treasurer of 

Glasgow by l6l5. 1J1 Robert Bell, a kinsman of Allen Bell, 

owned a sixt Y ton vessel called The Grace of God,lJ2 and 

was also part o~er. of the Elizabeth of Kirkudbright. lJJ 

Another important merchant in Glasgow, John Ross, 

who had fairly extensive trading ties with France, owned 

or leased a vessel called the John of Pulgane and aiso 
'" 

leased the ~ of Roehell. lJ4 

Next to Glasgow, Ayr and Irving were the two Most 
\ 

important venters of rebei traffie, on the west coast. This 

Is best revea1ed in the number of persons involved in 
t -

smuggling in these two towns. They inciuded such men as 

John Morton, Thomas Hueheown, John and Mathew Hummil, 

Alexander Lowrie and another Lowrie whose tiret name we 

do not know, as weIl as Thomas Montgpmerie, James, John, 

William and Hugh Rankin, James Faerie, John Boyd, John 

Mathie, Duncan McIlmertene, John Irwing and John More. lJ5 

Morton was a cooperlJ6 ~ Ayr, and Hucheown may 
~ 

have been related to the powerful Glasgow family of the 

sametrname. John Rankin was \, Master o~ Work at Ayr, 

> 
, , 
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between 158)-1584 and 1587-1588. Prom 1596-1599, he .was 

Burgh Trea§urer antl in 1602-160) Was appointed Ba1iff. 1)? 

E1ected Dean o~the Gui1d in 160), Morton served in that 

capacity for one rear.138 Very litt1e evidence ls extant 
• 

about James or Hu~ Rankin, but William Rankin ~as a 

notary in Ayr in 1602. 139 The Rankin brothers were very 

prominent members of ~'Nel11's organization, and they appear 

frequent1y in government correspondence,as Rtwo brethren at 

Ayr that are merchants for Tyrone". 140 . In 1597, James 
\ 

\ 

McSor1ey McDonnel1 named Hugh and William Rankin,~a1ong 

with James Fleming and Father,James Gordon, as O'Neill's 

chief gunrunners. 141 

We know nothing of Ale~nder Lowrie, but there is 

surviving evidence about his kinsman, John Lowrie. He 

first appears in official correspondence as the Master 

of a ship out of Bordeaux. 142 A merchant of Ayr, 14) he 

bec~e a iree man of the Burgh in 1598.144 John Muir (More) 

was the owner of the sixt Y ton 'Gift of God. 145 He carried 

a good dea1 of French cargo and appears to have been a 

very active merchant on the west coast. 

A1len's testimony did more than any other piece of 

evidence ta reveal the incredible depth of O'Nei11's 

organization in Scot1and. From the 1ist of those persons 
" , 

implicated, it Is possible to determlne the nature of 

smugg1ing operations a10ng the we~t coast. It is evident 

that smuggling was not confined to a handful of desperate, 

men operating on flle 1periphery of the Burgh. Rather, it 

1 
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would searn that illegal,trade with Ireland was the type 

of commercial venture that attracted every element of 

society. The successful merchant and the penniless 

fi sherman each seemed prepared to play his roIe, provided 

that there was a profit to be had. It is certainly evident 

that th& corporate officiaIs did almost nothing to dis-

courage this illegal trade; in fact, sorne of those persons 

implicated were themselves important civic officiaIs. If 

the local administration showed no interest in hunting 

down smugglers, the Royal government in Edinburg~ was 

equally reluctant to come to grips with the problem and, 

furthermore, showed li ttle enthusiasm for prosecuting 0 'Ne'ill' s 

agents, in spite of James's harshly worded proclamation. On 

the contrary, the government was careful to take no heavy­

handed measures until after it was certain that O'Neill had 

lost the war. Perhaps the best example of government 

leniency can be illustrated in the way the government ,,. 

handled matters in 1601. In that year, Allen's capture 

and confession resulted in the arrest of over thirty-fiv.e 

persons who were charged with transporting ·powder, bullet, 

victual, armour'and other commodities· ta the rebeIs. 146 

• 
Within one month of these charges being laid, representatives 

,of seven of the accused, Muir, John and Mathew Hummil, 

MoIlmartene, Morton, Huchison and Lowrie felt confident 

enough of the prevailing government attitude to ask that 

the -horning against them be suspended·, because they were 

still away on business in Ireland. It was a request the 
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court granted,147 and it ia ditticult to reconcile thi~ 
action with James's vow to pursue gunrunners to the 

death. 148 Ot all the persons charged with gunrunning. 

only seven were actually brought to trial. and these 

were later released after paying a tine ot fort y pounds,ea~h.149 

It is not ditticult to conclude. therefore, that the govern­

ment was not seriously attempting to implement Royal 

directives. 

Despit. a dearth of evidence as to the origins and 

backgrounds ot many of O'Neill's agents in Scotland, we do 

know for certain that they were very etficient at supplying 

the rebels with munitions and supplies. Using Scottish and 

French vessels, they ensured that -Tyrone was daily supplied 

with match and powder and other provisions-. 1SO Although 

the greatest f~ow ot arma came'across the shortest route 

from Scotland to the east coast of Ireland between Dundrum 

and Dunluce,15l Many large smuggling vessels put into Lo~gh 

Foyle, thus causing a furor in Dublin. The shorter routa 

betwean Dunluca and the west c~t of S~otland was particularly 

activa during the stormy wlntar months. -ScQ,ttishmen 

sand over their powder and munitions in very small boats of 

ten, sixteen and twenty tons and go all the winter time and 

in the summer time, they dare not stir-. l52 

A sizèable number ot cargoas which came over from 

Scotland were actually re-exported products trom France15) 

or the Baltic. Danzig ls particularly mentioned as being 

a port ot origin for much of Q'Neill's munitions. 154 

• 
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A·careful review of the journeys taken by Catholic clerics 

and,rebel agents tends to indicate that they followed the 

same trade routes,l55 travelling first to France or Denmark 

and then entering Ir~land through Scotland. 

The pace with which smuggled arms flowed into Ulster • 

appears to have been hurried and, at times, frenzied; this 

is particularly true after 1600. Up to this point in the 

war the Irish had shown a good deal of caution in con­

ducting their smuggling operations. Beginning in 1599-1600, 

however, military nece8sity 8eems to have outweighed the 

requirements of security. This inevitably led to a spillover 

into the west coast ports of England, where Scots marine'rs 

regularly put in for shelter or provisions regardless of the 

fact.-!lll:l,t their holds were fpll of arms and munitions. 

The Scots mariners confessed the muskets 
were provided for Tyrone in Ireland. At 
the time, a Scotsman dwelling in the West 
part lof Scotland claimed them' 156 

Kinsale was a turning point in the fortunes of 

O'Neill. ~he military defeat suffered by the rebels there 

in 1601 had a drastic affect on the supply of arma 80 vital 

to his survival. Thereafter, the flow diminished rapidly, 

at the sarne time, a death blow was dealt to Q'Neill's 
,-

system of agents in Scotland when John Allen's exposure 

made It possible- f~r the government of Scotland to shatter 

the rebel Bupply operations whenever it chose to do 9 so. 

By 1602, it waB clear that O'Neill could no longer 

hope to win the war. Mountjoy was acrOBS the Blackwater, 
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and the Ulster Confederation was in the process of dis-

" integrating. At the same time, Q'Neill's wi~lingness to 

co-operate with the Spaniards and the actual appea\ance of 

o Phil1ip's feared tercios on Irish soil added a new and 

dangerous dimension to the war in Ireland. Q'Neill's 

dependance upon Spanish aid meant that a victory for the 

rebe1s wou1d deliver Ireland lnto Spaln's grasp. If that 

should happen, Eng1and herself would be threatened, and 

James realized that his claim to the throne rested upon 

the surv}val of the Tudor Monarchy. James had previously 

been content to use O'Neill as a valuable piece in the 

game of power politlcs viz à viz England. By 1601, . -
however, with the landing of Spanish troops in Ire land , 

O'Neill threat~ned to upset the whole political balance 

of the area. Under the circumstances, James had good 

reason to reassess his previous+y benign attitude towards 

the rebels .157 

There were other factors which May weIl have 

influenced James's thlnking at this time., Beginning in 

1600, for example, O'Neill had begun to 10se control of 
" 

the important coastal areas which were the landing sites 

for his supplies. First, Lough Foyle was lost to Dowcra, 

and then the following year, Randall McDonnell defected 

to the English. Finally, Mountjoy and Chichester recaptured 

the reglon between Carrickfergus and Strangford Lough. 

O'Nei11's forces were now ef~~ively isolated from their 

chief sources of supply. Furthermore, the English were 

now 1n a position to orfer a viable trading alternative 

'. - ,,'~ ... " .. 
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to the Scots of the west coast. 

The death of Sir James McSor1ey McDonne1l. under 

suspicious circumstances,158 was a1so a serious b10w to 

the rebe1 gunrunning operations. With MoDonnel1's 

departure from the scene, the rebe1s lost much of the 

political 1everage that they had exercised in the west 
• 
coast ports and in Edinburgh. This was primari1y due to 

the fact that McDonne11's death in 1601, which coincided ( 

with the mi1itary setbacks of that year, caused sorne of 

the people who previous1y had been favorable to O'Neill, 

to waver in their support. Men such as Sir George 

ElPhinst·o~\ for example, who two years ear1ier had hosted 

Q'Nei11's and McSorley's envoys, now took ta hunting down L~ 

gunrunners. Not surprisin~ly, it was in ~he wake of this 

change of attitude in Scotland that John Allen was captured. 

In addition to the se rev'ersa1s, economic factors which had 

previously worked in Q'Mei1l's favor, now began to ~eigh 

against him. The economic arguments, for example, in favor 

of trade with the rebels became less and 1es8 important as 

. the English forces slowly took possession of all the coastal 

diBtric~. In a posi ti.oP to present th~mse1ves ta Scottish 

mercqants as a viable trading alternative ta the recent1y 

~victed rebe1 tenants, they were a?le ta offset ~he previous 

favorable economic benefit of trading with the rebels. As 

evants showed, the Scots merchants proved to be just as 

wi1ling to trade with the loyal regions of Ulster as they 

had been with the areas controlled by the rebels.~ 
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, By 1602, the rebei supply organlzation began ta 

collapse. Lacking money apd without access to the coastal 

districts, the rebels were thrown back on their own 

resources. The individual components which O'Neill had 

laboured to weld into a coherent structure once again 
'" 

became fragmented. The collection of taxes became 

irregular, the storing of supplies' ceased ~o be a part 

of an overall scheme and most important of aIl, Q'Neill's 

agents were forced into hiding. Many of his people in 
.' 

Scotland had been arrested, his Irish agent~"Jl8.d·t for the 

most part, been killed or cap,tured and those who survived, 

made their peace with the government. A1though the 

rebellion .would drag on for another r'year, )the vital 
, 

elements of the supply system had been so seriously eroded 

that the ultimate cQllapse of the Ulster Confederation 
i' 

became a certainty. r. 
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Footnotes - Chapter Three 

~ ,1Capt. Merriman to Walsingham, 1) Nov.1589 
(CSPI 1588-92) p. 261 

, 

, 2G•A• Hayes McCoy, Scots Merc~naries, (19)7) p. 20) 

)Robert Eastfield to Cecil, 20 Dec.1596z (H.M.C. 
Salisbury Papers VI, Vol 15) pp. 529-5)0 

1 

4Examinati~n.,,17,Jan.1590 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 29) 

, JSo1oman Fareman to Lord Deputy, 5 Mar.1589 
(CSPI 1588-92) p. 1)) 
Capt. Merriman to Lord Deputy, 5 Mar. 1589 (C5PI 1~88-92) p. 1)2 
P. A. Foxe to Walsingham, 12 Feb.1589 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 12) 

" 7Lord Deputy to privy Counc!l, 15 May 1589 
1588-92) pp. 18)-184 \ 

, 6Hugh Cavelough to Lord Deputy, 17 Fab.1589 (CSPI 
1588-22) pp, 1)2-1)) , , _ 

/~ 

(~: 

~ 8In hanging Cave10ugh he antagonized the ·government 
and hopeless1y,alienated the powerfu1 McLeans of Scotiand. 

-Sir ~. Moore t~Perrot. 26 Jan.1590 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 298 

. 9So10man Fareman doss not even see fit to note 
Fleming's first name in correspondence with the govern­
ment. The tenor of the 1etter ia such that it aeema to 
indicate an assumption that the reader will know ~ho 
'Fleming' ia. 
- Soloman Faremkn to Lord Deputy, 5 Mar.1589 (CSPI 1588-92) 

p. 1)) 

10peter Lombard; Catho1ig W~P. JI 

, IlJohn Auéhinroas to' George Ni101son, 1 Aug.159) 
(CSP Sstotland 1553-95) pp. 664-665 ,i' 

_" Roger Aston to George Nicolson, 25 Aug,1595 (CSP Scot1and 
. 1593-~) p. 691 _ -
I~ 16 ~ir Arthur Chichester arranged for a specia~ patrol 
ot vessel~ to intercept Bath on a ~eturn trip from Ire1and, 
·wlth certain merchandise-, The attempt was unsuccessful. 

-Sir A, Chichester tO' Privy Counci,l, '9 Dec,1601. -
(CSPI 1601-03) pp. 206-207 

Report by Gillaboy O'Flanij8n. 12 May 1596.(C5 6) p. '465 
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(Notes -.Chap, Three) . , 

'~" 0 T'." " :ll·AadW&:fd. Ba ~h 'along ~i th EdWJU'd Moore and William .,' 
Wafren weFe d~e»1y~imp1icate~,in S~r John Perrot's . 

l'supposed treason. 
-Archbishop ot ~ub1in to Bishop ot .eath, ,6 May 1590 
(CSPI lS88_~~?) p. 3~0, J,., \ :~~'. " 1 

, 12Bath was cap'C~ed a1P9i with two Scot~ in Glasgow 
'b.y. a representa ive o'! the English ~Ambaaaador. At tha tima 
Bath waik in pô asslon ot )'lOthing 'mQre sinister than a 
t~w:h6gshaads' t wlne, and when ~heJ}loca1 town marcharits 
vouched Itor his Isur~tyl, 'he was' re1easèd •. 
-Nicholson to Dowes,.,lS Aug.1S95 (CSP Scotland 1596-11603) 
p'o 6,80 0,' 0 \ ~' 
-N~cho1son ~o Dowes, 16 A\lg.lS9,' (CSP Scotlancf 15'26-1603) 
p., 691 ' "1,,' . . 

-Roger ~~ton to Nicholson. 26 Aug.1S9S (CSP Scotland 
1596-1603), p,. 691 : . j;} ~" " 

1.' 
• l ' , 

. " . 1JKenneth Nlc~o118. Gla11è and.iGae'llCi.led 'Irelandr ' 
'in tge Middle 1.gs'. (Gil+~Rl:atory onrelat\d, DublIn, GIrl.& 
LcM1.1lan, 197.3) p. 119 S .., ,'. ~ 

, • ~f <l 

.1 

. \ 

1 f , '14Jo~ A~chinro'ss to Georgè"Ni:cho1a'lm. 'J.AUf.1S9-J 

. . 

(CSP S~9tlJm? 1553,95) ·PP •• 66l1--66S . , 
II(, " ,\ s: 

~" . ~Tadhg.o·C~an&in, The Pligbt 01 the !!*la, (Dub~~n. 
Gl11 & Son. 1916) p. )' 0 " '1 

, '1 ~\ 1 1 

, "l 1 

~"'~' c~n~t~!dint~'r~stlng 1~tters trom S~' ThO~S EdmU~dS " 
to ecil. 21 Oct.1601', wjü.eh 4l8cu88eB t fliRtlt. 
Al~ 'U8b thè~e la no concrete proot that ot arrmembers . 
ot the -'liath' tami1l wertt, Involved in.:sm~illCf! we cfo know 
tbat Uatai:r;t "Bath (presumably~ ki~) lUld J-.es Bath." 
t~ed with 0 ~,ei11 ,in 1607. ~ l, 
Fugl:tivea,! '*:r.1608 (CSPI 6,,:;. 8)~p., 35' - 1 • 

o 'Ci.ln, T e a, Pa~~1m' . 1 f ~ 1.. 1 
. ~ , 'rr. ~. , 1 • t ' 

fi ',p "17Add1 '10ns ... 5 Jan.iS92 (CSPI 15a8":,2)'P~ 45) ,: 
The putlcipat on ot aeveral,me1abèra .ôt, ofMIilldly 1'11 

/. .... pa l;tern~ and &S su~h J: ea l """ RObert J'l:eairc would fit. 

, - .. 

, ·0 INaill'a ~ J.e~ti.JUt:i8 a: cl.8arl.r eatab11shed 

aasl11' into th1. ca !y. '.', '. . . ..' ~. 
Sebastian P1em1nc, :.Dro~eda~1!rchant; ._. l'.8ported tQ'~ / 
have' been i·n' Spain '" bueit188 •. ln 1597, "'" - ' , \ . \ , ., 

".-Ana!le0j! HibeEft0al' rab. 2"rJani 19)1-; p:SS -Ac,,'" 
, '-Jue,a ÎÔbln' a ~ v-.rtl.ementà, Deé .:1598 (CS'I 1598-'991'" p. :42) 
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18So1omân Fare~an to Lord Deputy, 5 Mar .1589 
-t (.CSPI 1588-92) p. 133 J 

.l' 

, " " 19Hugh Cave10ugh to Lord Deputy, 17 Feb.1589 
(CSPI 1588-92) pp. 1)2-133 
Lord Dep~ty to Walsingham, 29 Apr.15S9 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 155 

, ,. .l. 

, " 

:/ 

20Jam~s MacConne11 to Robe~t Bowes, 27 Sep.ï597 
(èSP Scotland 1595-1602) p. 122 . , 

~lF~nton to~Ceei1. 7 Nov.1598 (CSPI 1598-92) p. )44 
) 

_ ~2Brymigham to Fe~ton, 29 Mar.1598 (CSPI 1598-22) 
pp.. ' 105-106, 

~?He is'recorded as sai1ing a ·Scottish bark~ in 
1598. ~ 
Extraets',of a Latter, 24 Ju1y 1598 (CSPI 1598-944 p. 212 
'enton to Cecil, 7 Nov.1598 (CSPI 1598-99) p. 3 J 

24Lo~tus & Gardiner to King James, J Nov.1598 (CSPI 
1596-99) p. JJ3 / "'>--

JI' , 
25Ana1eeta H~bernica, no. 2, Jan. 19J1, p. 55 

26Jame~ Tobin's Advertisements. Dec.1598 (C§PI 
1598-99) p. 423 .. . 

'" ' , 27xtègistr~ion ot Thomas Craig, (Regtster ot the 
'" Privy Council ot !Z0t1and 1522-99) p. 652 ' 

. ,', 
< ~~J ..... s Tobin' s < adverUselll';nts. ""(', ~S98 r~c~ 
1t98-99,~. 423 i " i d V th regard to r,~tiorlS ~e know thare w&S ~ James F1e ing 
1iviV; -in Glasgow bet'Ween 1578 and 1649. ' " 
c~ters a~ 'Documenta ot Glasgow 1175-1649, pp. 610, 17. 
9 • 629, S. . . 

ü In Addition, there were two marohant brothers, William and 
.. \ ~, Mathaw Pl~ng al.so' living,JJl. Glasgow at tlii~ time, of the 

, war.· . . " 
Réglatration ot Thomas Craig. (R6~ster ot the Privy 

,C9Mei1 of' Scotland 1592-99) p. . 
" • ~ r' 

29Birmtngham to Ceoil,. 29'Mar.1S9S (CSPI 1598-9!) 
pp. 105-106 ' ".' " ". " 
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(Notes - Chap. Three) 

, J~Robert Eastfie1d to Cecil, 20 oec.1596~.M.C. 
Salisbury Papers VI, rel 15) pp. 529-5)0 
Art~c1e, 7 July 1602 SPI 1601-0) p. 456 
Analecta Hibernica, no. 3, 1931, pp. 158, 176, 188-189 

1 J2fRobert Eastfield to Cecil, 20 Oec.1596 (H.M.C. 
Salisbury Papers VI, Vol 15) pp. 529-530 
The writer c1almed that Weston was sacpowerful a man in 
Dublin tha t by: informing on him he was in danger of his 
life. c 
One of hie pilots, Richard Hore, was used as a pilot by 
the Spaniards to pring supplies ta O'Neill. 
-Intelligence, 25 Apr. 1591 (CSP Domestic 1590-1594) p. JI 

t1 jJ ~ 
i' ... Analecta Hibernica, no. 3, 1931. pp. l58~ 176. 

188-189 

, ,J4R.\Eaetfielà ta Cecil. 20 Oec.1596 (H.M.C. 
Salisbury Papers VI. Vol 15) pp. 592-530 

J.?Consi,deratïons, Dec.1597 (CSPI 15~6 ... 97) p.194 
Lof tus ta Cou~cil, 16 July 1~~7 (CSPI ll96-~?) p. )43 
Wallop ta Cec~l, 27 Ju~y 1597 (CSPI 15* -97 p. 357 
Copy, 22 Oct.1596 (CSPI 1~98-99) p. 29 

\ 

1 • 

~6Fentan to Cecil, 26 Apr.1597 (CSPI 1596-97) p. 276 
Fenton ta Cecil, 28 Feu.1597 (CSPI 1596-97) p.238 

37Adver~isements, 26 Apr.1592 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 4l2: 
8 \ 

J G.'Yau~ ta Cecil, 10 Sep.1600 (CSPI 1600) p.' 418 

39Advertisements. 26 Apr.1592 (CSPI 1588-92) p. 479 

, ~OR. East/ie1d to Ceoi1, 20 Deo.1596 (H.M.C. 
SalisburY Papers VI, Val 15) pp • .529-530 , 
Artioles against W. Warren, 'eb. 1599' (CSPI 1598-22) p. 48J' 

1 

41nNB,Vo1 VI, p. 1188 
Fenton marrled the daughter pt ~. Weston at Dublin 

1 

42Lo~tus ta Cécil, '2~ Oct.1598 (CSPI 1528-22) p. 295 
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(Not:~ - Chap. Three) 1 
/' 

• 4JR• Eastfield to Cecil. 20 ~ec.1596 (H.M.C. 
Salisbury Papers VI, Vol 15) pp. 529-530 

-Certain Articles, 12 June 1600 (CSPI 1600) p. 311 
Richard Weston's son, whose name was also Richard, ~was 
involved in leasing and shipping operations on the continent. 
In 1601 he was reported to be in Spain 'on business.* Upon 
return to Ire land , he and some French associates were seized 
by the govetnment. The ship whi~h they 1eased was a French 
vessel called the "Archange1".** Richard Wes~on, the eIder, 

, appea1ed for the return ~f his. son and the Frénch merchant 
(possibly the skipper) bec use the veSsel was.in harbour at 
Carlingford and could not un10ad without them. 7 

* Mountjoy to Carew, 16 May 1601 (Carew MSS) p. 61 
** Mountjoy to Carew, 5 June 1601 (Carew MSS) p. 80 

~he entire q~estion of O'Nei1l's"Great P~~ty' in the Pale' 
requires' a good deàl of further research. The strength of 
O'Nei1l's ties with nominally loyal members of the Anglo 
Irish community is one of the striking features of trtis 
rebe1lion which set i~ apart from the ear1ier ins~rrections 
of, the cent\1ry. 1-. - ~ 

1 be1ieve that a detailed. ~tudy,- isolating O'Nei11's friends, 
in the English administration, will explain much of the 
reason for his early diplomatie success. Such a study ~uld 
~ure1y serve to explain 0,' Neill' s remarkably efficient 
intelligence system. -There was 'nothing s4id ~r done at 
the Council table but the Earl had intelligence therof". 
-John~organ to Lord Deputy, la July 1596 (CSPI l596-97) p.3) 

~Memorandum ,by Nott, Ju1y 1597 (CSPI 1596-97) p.362 c L 

4'14 
45Ca~t. Dawtrey to Fortescue, 7 Sep. 1600 (CSPI 1600) 

. p. 
, ; 

47In 1594, when the Earls of 'Huntly, Errol and 
Angus, wrote to Phillip aSking him to restore Catholièism 
to Scotland, they sent lettera of credence for Gordon to 
act as their represen~ative in Spai~ Other tords who may 
~ave been involved in this pletting were Bothwell, Sampil 
and Harr.es. 
-Hunt1yand Errol to·Pbil1tp I~, 12 Aug.~594 

(CSP English Affair; .. - Simancaa)..p. 625 (,~ - 1 

-Angua and Errol to hill!, II, Oct. 1594 -
(CSP Englisn ·A-:ff'ail:8 .-. Simancaa-) . p..- 926.'. --., -' -­

-Angua tO,Juan de Iaiaguly, Oct. 1594' 
(CSP Englisn Affaira - Simancas) 'p .,614 , 
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48James Blair to Stephen Du~f, 29 July 15 4 
(CSPI 1592-96) p. 264/ ~ 

,49ibid 

! 
4 ~u1y 1597 (qsP 

I G• N~co1son to Burghly, 1~ Apr. ~598 (CSP Seotland 
1 6-160) p. 192 
oger Aston to C~ci1, 21 pec.1597 (CSP Scotland 1596-160) 

p. 1J8 . 
Even Argyll was not adverse to 0'Nei11~~ aims. 
G. Nicolson to Cecil, 22 Nov.1601 (CSPPScotland 1596-160)) 
p. 902 1 ~ 

52 ' \H. Malby to Lord Deputy, 21 Feb.15ge (CSPI 
1592-96) p. 479 l , 

53 ~ , 1 1 ,L 
Sir G. Fenton to Cecil, 7 May 1598 r{CSPI 1598-19) 

p. 142 J . ~ , , 

s4James ~eDonn~11 to Robert Bo~es. 25 Sep.1597 
(CSP Seotland 1596-1603) p~ 122 

-" 

5~emoran4um. 17 Mar,1602 (CSPI 1601-0) pp. 338-J42 

" , : 56Ceci1 ta ,Nico1son. i2 'Jan. 1602 (H.M.C'. <féeil, 
Part 12. Yol 21). p. 15 . $ 

, ~.~ 
/~-

.57Sir,N: Parker to the Lords of the Counci1, 12 Mar. 
1601' (H.M.C. Salisbury Papers,-Report 9, Part II, Vol 20) 

~pp'. 119-1.20 '. 0 

In 159~ i t was re'portecl that a -klnsman of Tyrone oame. over· 
"in a Waterford ship to ask for men and munitions-. 

-Relations ••• Sep,1S98 (CSP Domestic 1S98-l600) p.10~ 

" . 58Confesslon of John \~11, 19 Mar.l.5~6 (H.M.C. 
Salisbury Papen! YII. Vol 16) p. 12) • " 

59~~lna tiQn of Ed~d 'Haly, 18 Apr .1.597 (cspi~-_~' ~ .. -, -,' 
. fi;E~;~~ ! ~ ~. P':g~ 1'5~7 '~(C~P -DoÎÎléâiic .. 159 5~9?) 'p~'" ~6'~ , -

.. 
60G• Ni~olson ta Cecil, 14~ot.1S98 {CSP Scot land 

1296-98} pp. 314-315 , 

( 
1 , , 

1 
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61ibid 

62
ibid

" 

76 

This reference is most interesting 'a~ it'shows how 
conscious James wa~ of,',the threat presented by Essex. 
At one point in the conversation the King asked if the 
'great.man' to succeed Elizabeth w~s the ~ar1 'of Essex. 

We know from this encounter that James had earlier sent 
severai letters ta O'NeIll, which had been turned over 
to the government. , 
The letter 'refers to "Mure a Scotsman" Which means that 
the man who made the 1598 visit'to James may,have been 
John Mure, a ship's Captain who 1ived in Irving and who 
carried cargoes for \th~ rebels. l consider it un1ikely, 
however, as we have no other evidence that this'Mure ever 
acted as more than a purchaser for the rebe1s~ 

-Action Against Certain Men, 22 Dec.1601 (Register of 
the' Counci1 of Sc~tland, 1599-1904) p, 324 

6.3Nicolson to Cecil, 28 July 'ccSP Sc~tland 
1596-98) p. 520 
.cSor1ey's servants were named Cormack MéKaye & Ne1e McGuye 

B4ibid ' "1 
Elphlnstone May have been'related\to Father George 

. Elphinstone, a Catho1ic priest. ,1 

William Christon to James Tyrie (a Jesui t), ;LB June 1595 
o(CSP Soot1and 1593-95) pp., 613-615 

( , 
,65ibid 

66Sir N. Parker to the Lord of the Council', 12 Mar .1601 
('H~M,C. Cecil MSS, Report 9, ,Part II, Vol 20) pp. 119-120 
Exam~nation of James More and Peter Strange, Il Mar, 1601 

, (H.M.C. Cecil 'MSS, Report 9. Part II; Vol 20) 'pp. 120-121 

6?ibid 

,~. 68ibid • '" 

69ibld \ 
, James Aroher' was 'a Je sui t priest who played a key pa.rt in 
~ s~stai~ng the répelLio~ in the South. . ' . , 

70T• Jones to Cecil, 10 oSep.1600 (CSPI 1600) p. 420 
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71ibid , 
This report confirma ear1ier statementB tnat M'Guran had 
1anded at Drogheda and atàyed ther, for severa1 days. 

72ibid 

7JCertain Heads.' •• \18 June 1600' (CSPI 1600) pp. 254-255 

74ibid 

75ibid 
, ' 

76Declaration made unto Fenton,' 12 Dec.1599\ 
(CSPI 1599-1600) pp. 316-~17 

- " 
77ibid" 

~8ibid: 

'" 7~Declaration of Shane M~Co~wey, 5 Feb.1592 
(CSPI 1588-92) pp. 457-458 " 

t / 
"j , 80Fi tzwi11iam & Lof tUB 'to Hatton ~ Burghly, 12 May 
1591 (CSPI'.1588-92) p. J9J . 

, ( 

81F• ~OryBOl'1l :t ti~erarY, Vol il, p. 399· 
, 

J 82It ia probably Ri~hard_of the Prosper as both 
the Bishop of Kilmore and Walter Brady survived the war, 
whi1e Patrick,appears to have come to terma with the 

, governuient prior to 1596. ' 
-Jones to Chanoel1or., 1 Sep.1596 (CSPl 1596-97) p. 98 > 

~ 1.... f .; 

-: : 8J1n 1595' a Jaines B!air ~t Ayr tho~t is ~essary' 
to ~i te to Duf't to warn hiDi ot Pather James Gordon ',s 
activities. T~is letter ended ~ in government bands 
w~ch may indicate that in the early stages of the war. 
D,,! aldng wi th -many other urbàn' Catholies; na 'inclined 
to side wi th the Queen.· .. _ -, "l!. 
-Jamea-Blai~o Stephen Dutf, 29 July 15~(Q§E! ; 
, 15.92-96) r. 264 .' .', , , 

84pet~r Stro~,to Cecil, 1601 (Hf.zC. ~ecil MSS, 
Report 9. Vpl 20) p. '568' 
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85ibid 

86ibid 
" 

87 . 
Examination of James More, 12 Mar.1601 

, (H.M.C. Cecil MSS, Report 9, Part II, Vol 20) p. 120 

" 

8~xamination ••• 17 Jan.1590 (CSPI l588-92) pp. 292-293 

89William Bennett to I.ord·Deputy, 21 July 1590 
(ÇSPI 1588-92) .~. J58 

90 ' . Examination of James Duff, 14.Sep.1590 , 
·(CSPI 1588-92) p. J6J . , 

, 9lInformation by Th~ma8 Duff, 19 Deç.1594 
(CSPI'l592-·96) p. 288 

92patrick puff ta Cécil, 1601 (H.M.C. Cecil MSS, 
Rlport 9, ;Part II, Vol 20) pp. 574-575 

• 

,~ 9JThe arrest of Patrick Duff in 1601 on'the rather 
flims'y pretext of def'aming the Q,ueen', ,appears to be an 
attempt to strike a blo. at the underground traffic between 
Ireland and France.~ The government was by no means ignorant 
of the extent of trade between Ireland and the French port 
cities.* French vessels were often intercepted while . 
carrying letters and supplies to O'Neill.** On at least ~ 
one occasion, .a slxteen ton" Irish bark- was ~aptured at ~ 
the "Fowy" carrying swords. calivers, and French pistols. 
The man behirid the' operation was a merchant of St. Malo 
called,Nay10r., His representative on the ship waa a man 
named Antson. A1though everyone knew that the cargo was 
destined for Ire1and~ the government was forced to re1ease \ 
Antson ~nd his ship because they lacked â charge onowhich 
to ho1d hlm. Th. best tl'1ey could do was to seize some . 
Catho1ic books they foundhidden on boar~ •• *·, _ 
* William Lyon-to Cecil, 15 Feb.l600 (CSPI1599-1600) 

pp. 476-~7? '-J ' , 
** F. Godo~phin to Gecil, 26 May 1599 (H.M.C. Salisbury 

~ers IX, Vol 18) p. 182 ' 
•• *l~am Treffry ta Cecil, 26 Aug.1599 (H.M.C. Salisbury 

ptners-IX, '01 18) p. )26 'a ' 
. wrîllam Treffry to Cecili 27 Aug. 1599 (H.M.C. Salisbury 
~ners IX. Vol 18~ p. 326 ' r: J. 'Caesar to Cecil, 10 Sep~ 1599 (CSP Domestic 
1598-1601) p. 325' . 1 
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93 (cont'd) . L 

O'Neill's agents ~ere known to be very active in Rouen. 
-Robert Drayper to Rev. Father St. 
Nov. 1596 (CSP Domestic 1595-97) pp. 309-310 

94ratrick Duff to Cecil, 1601 (H.M.C. Cecil MSS, 
Report 9, Vol 20) pp. 594-595 

95ibid 

96'b'd 1 1 . 
.. 

97Tadhg O'Cianain, The Flight of the Ear1s,'Passim 

, 98ibid ; 

99Sir Edward Phyton to Burghly, 22 June 1.-597 ? 

(CSPI 1596-97) p. 32J , 

,t \ lOOJohn 'Bird to Privy Council, Ju1y 1599 
(CSPI 1599-1600) pp'. 1,09-110 

1 • 

--~ , 
j" . ~ ~ 

101ibid 

102Às Cecil himself stated -aIl relief to the Northarn 
reba1s ab~01ute1y proceedeth from the north and west of 
Scot1and- • ," t 

-Cecil to Nico1son, 3 Oct. 1601 (H.M.C. Cecil MSS, Report '9, 
Part II, Vol 20) p. 40~ ".', 

10~. Perceval'Maxwéi1, The Scottish Migration to 
Ulster Under James l, (London, Routledge. Kegan Paul) , 
pp. 290-291. 

104Robert Aston to J. Hudson. 23 Feb.159l ièsP
l Scotland 1509-16ol} Vol II'e'p, 588 . . 

l°SKirkundbri t Town Counci1:Records, Transcribed 
bya M.B. Johnstone &1 G.M. et London, 01 ver ,&1 Boyéi, ' 
183,9) Intr-o. pp. VI &1 VII ~ " \. 
Many of these Scots merchants 1ived in Spain and operatéd 
through agènts living in the west coast~burgh~.' 0 

106King James' Letters,~.22 Aug.1599 (CSP. Sêot1and 
1.5°9-1601) Vol Il. p. 774 . \' '\ '0 
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lO?A. Merwyn Carey, Eng1ish, Irish and Scottish' 
Firearms Makers, (London, Arms & Armour Press, 1967) 
pp. 2-40, 60, 65, 90 

108C• Smout, "The Foreign Trade of Dunfries and 
Kirkundbright", Transactions of the Dunfrieshire and Ga110way 
Natura1 History and Antiguarian Society, 1958-59, Vol.3?, 
'pp. 36-47 ' , 

l09T.C. Smout, "Scottish Commercial Factors 'in the 
Ba1tic at the End of the 17th Century" S.H.R. Vo1.39, 
1959-60, p. 124 
Thorki1d, Lyby Christensen, "Scots in Denmark in the 
Sixteenth Century" S.H.R. Vol.49, 1970, pp. 125-145 Passim 
Danzig would have been an idea1 base for rebel operations 
in the baltic as it was one of England's chief trade rivaIs 
in the area. Irish agents would have been re1atively saie 
from the prying eyes of Cecil'a apiea as English ships were 
not permitted in the harbour. 

-Francesco'Vendramin (Venetian Ambassador ta Germany) 
ta the Doge ~nd Senate, 10 Sep. 1597 (CSP Venetian 

1592-1603) p. 284 
-Giovanni Ca~10 Scarmel1i (Venetian Secr~tary in England) 
ta Doge and Senate, 20,Mar.160l (CSP Venetian 1592-1603) p.555 

l10Nico1son to Cecil, 10 May 1599 (CSP Scot1and 
1596-160;) p. 465 

lllInitia11y,the tenor 'of the Royal Proclamations 
was relatively'mild and were probab1y intenqed more for 
English consumption than the actual enforcement in Scotland. 
By 1601, however, the tone of the proclamations had become 
severe and smuggler.s were threatened with death should they 
choose to disobey the King~ - . 
-Proclamation, 8 Aug.1598 (CSP Scot1and 1~~6-1601) p. 253' 
-Proolamation, Jttne 1601 (CSP Scot1and 159 -1603 p. 836 

ll2Nicolson to Cecil, à Ju1y 1598 (Cep Scot1and 
1596-160) p. 238 ; 

~ ~ 

p. 1?7 
=::.::;::.:.:::.;::.::.,.:.Q::.:...;.....;..:::.;.;.:.:::....;:;..;===:.=...~:;,:::;.;:;;..:::;.r.....;1::.5ou7;..;;6;;...-..:1:.;::6..;::;.04~, p. VII Intro. 

l14George Eyre-Todd, Hiatory of Glasgow, Vol II 
(Glasgow, Jaokson & Wy~ie, 1930) p.i 
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l15Additiens, 5 Jan.159l (CSPI- 1588-92) p. 453 
When Spanish trained Irish officers returned frem the 
Continent to join O'Neill, they aIse travelled via Denmark 
and Scotland., ' 
William Ward te Cecil, 5 Nov.1595 (H.M.C. Salisbury 
Papera V, Vol 14) p. 440 li 

" 
116James Fullerton to Nicolson, J May 1595 (CSP 

Scotland 1593-95) p. 586 

il?John Auchinross to Nico1son, 1 Aug.1595 
(CSP Scotland 1593-95) pp. 664-665 

1 1 Bward, Vaghan & Kkevyington to Cecil, 12 Oct.1596 
(H.M.C. Salisbury Papers VI, Vol 15) p.428 

119peter Aston to Nico1son, 26 Aug.1595 (CSP 
Scot1and 1593-95) p.69l. \, 
Nico1son to Bowes, 15 Aug.1595 (CSP Scotland 159J-95) p. 680 ' 

l20ibid 

l21ibid 

122In 1601 they were agai~'caught by the authorities 
-Action ••• 22 Dec.16l0 (Register of the Council of Scots 

1599-1604) p. 324 
(1 

l23Supplies to the Rebels, July 1600 (H.M.C. Salisbury 
paIers X, Vol 19) p. 255 
Th s reference also cites the Wilsons and John Allen as 
gunrunners. 

124His name appears as a witness to several ~harter~. 
Charters and Documents of Glasgow 1195-1649, PP.53l-6l4 

~, 

l2~emorandum ••• July 1597 (CSPI 1596-97) p. 362 
Nicolson to Cecil, 9 Sep.160l (CSP Scotland 1594-1604) . 
pp.J74-;375 , . . . • 
It was planned to send James Nott, Tyrone's fo~er secretar~ 
to Scotland to arrange the arrest of Stewart and another of \ 
O'Neill's agents called Garlon (Garland). This plan appeàrs 
to have died with Lord Burgh. 
-Jame~ Nott. to Cecil, 26 Oct.1597 '(CSPI 1596-97) p. 429 

126ibid 
Robert Allen, possibly a kinsman, was skipper o~a bark 
called the "Blessing of Leith". 
Kirkcudbright Town Council Records, p. 390 

- . 1 , 
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(Notes - Chap. Three) l 
127Nieolson to Cecil, 9 Sep.1601 (CSP Scot~an 

1594-1604) pp. 874-875 
Allen was captured at sea by Sir George Elphinstone of 
Glasgow. This E1phinstone was the same man who enter­
tained James More and McSor1ey's servants on their way 
to see King James in 1,599. .This sudden change of heart ' 
almost certain1y ref1ects a change in the politica1 
wind in Edinburgh resu1ting from Sir James McSorley's 
death. 

-Nico1son to Cecil, J Dee.1601 (CSP Seot1and 1596-160) 
p. 905 

This E1phinstone family had long been' suspected of holding 
Catho1io sympathies. 
-J. Co1ville to Cecil, 10 Oet.1599 (CSP Scotland 
1596-1603) p. 560. 

-R. Aston to Hudson, 20 Jan.159~ (CSP Scot1and 
1526-1603) p. 154 , 

,128Aetion against Certain Men, 22 Dee.160l (Register 
'of the Privy Coupei1 of Scot1and 1592-1604) p. 324 t) 

" 

129Diocesean Re 
Bain,.(Gramp1an Club, 1 

O. ed. Joseph' 

1JPCharters and Other Documents ~lating ~o Glasgow, 
Latter by King James, p. 462 

1Jlibid , pp. 296, 299 -, 
John Leithea aeems to have been nothing more than a simple 
fisherman. Neverthe1eas, in 160J he turned up in Ayr 
asking for a licence on behalf of himse1f and seven other 
-Eng1ishmen~ to se~'Jheat in the Burgh. 

-Ayr Burgh Aceountsi Scot. Hist. Society, p. 218 

~J2Kirk~Udbright lown Counci! Reèords, p. 262 

13Jibid , p,. J?6 

1J4ibid , pp. J01, 341 
" 

135Actton Against Certain Men, 
(Re iater of the Priv Counai1 of 
James MacDonne11 to obert Bowes, 
1596-1603) p. ~22 ~ 

1J6ibid 
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137As ~a1iff, Rankin would have been ~esponsib1e 
fo'r the executing of the King's proclamations against 
gunrunning, as weIl as arresting any Irish or Sco~s 
smugg1ers r'eaiding wi thin the town. 

.~/) 

series', 
l38AYx: Burg:h Accounts, Scots Hist. Society, 3rd 
pp. 150, 154, 158, 189. 221-222 

140Supp1ies ta ~he Rebe1s, July 1600, (H.M.C. 
Sa1~sbuFY Papers X, Vol 19) p. 255 

'1~lJames MacDonne11 to R. Bowes, 25 Sep.1597 
. \ (CSP Scot1and 1595-1603) p. 122 

142Douglas ta Burgh1y, 27 Feb.1596 (H.M.C~ 
Salisbury Papers IX, Vol 15) p.'70 

~4JKirkcudbright 'Town Counci1 Records, p. 454 
. r' 

144ibid , p. )58 
Pive pounds ~ere put forward by Thomas Lowrie. This 
T. Lowrie was a merchant of hid&s and skins and wou1d, 
therefore, probab1y have, had business contac~ in Ireland. 

145Ki~kcudbright Town Counci1 Records, 1516-16~,· 
p. 300 - JI 

u' 

146Action Against Certain Men,~22 Dec.1601 , 
(Register of the PrivN Coun?il of Scot1and 15~9-1604) p. )24 

47 ," . -~ 
l Suspension of Homing, Jan.1602 '(Register of the 

Privy Oouncil 0-1 Scotland 1,99-r6-o4>. p. )42 ,~ , 

160i (CSP Scotland 

In add~tion te those pes:ons,a1readY mention~d. there were, 
other agents in Scotland but their baCkgrounds were more 
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" ' 

149 (Cont'd) 
difficult ta ascertain. Official correspondence lists 
men such as John Liston,* John Neville, John and Thomas 
Staniers. " Dacres and Petit.** While a small thread of 
evidence suggests that the last named figure, Petit, rnay 
have beeY). Petite Ognette, ~ French priest who acted a.s ,'" 
gunrunner and agent for Brian McArt. the other agents' 
backgrounds cannat be unearthed. 
• Nico1son to Cecil, 15 Feb.1598 (CSP Scotland 1596-160) 

p. 165 . , " '-' 
** Henry Lord Cobhan to Cecil. 2 Dec.1600 (H.M.C. Salisbury " 

Papers X, Vol 19) p •• 402 '. 

l5~Burghley ta Cecil. 4 Nov.1601 (H.M.C. Cecil MSS: 
Report 9. p,art II. Vol 20) p. 476 

'L!' , 

, ,151Supplies to the-Reb~ls, July 1900 (H.M.C. Salisbury 
Papers X,< Vol 19) p.' 255 ~ 

15JGO~~lphin to Cecii, 26 May 1599 (H.M.C. Salisbury 
Papers' IX, Vol 18) p. 18~ ~ " 0 

Capt. T. Lee to Sir H. "Lee, 12 Feb.160l (H.M.C. Cecil MSS, 
Report 9, Par.t' 11', Vol 20] p. 44 " . 

" 

.15~Bxamination of Andrew Roche". JO Mar.159~ (H.M.C. 
Salisbury PaDers IX, Vol 18) p. 1,21. 

, , 

,1550 'Neill',s agen.t~ ofuten travelle!! ta Ireland ~~à 
Denmark and Scot1and. . , ,v" 
William Ward ta Cecil, 5 NQv.+595 (H.M.C. srlisbury ~ers V, 
Vol 1"')" p. 440 .. __ _. ','. - l' . 

l56Atkin~~~ ta Cecil, )1 July 1600 (H.M.C. Salisbur~ 
• Papers X, Vol 19) p.' 25J "' 

1) , , 

"~57 It is ahost certaih that J8lDIJS,' as a matter of ~ 
policy, encouraged 0 'Neill; 6y allowing trade betwëen~ 1:1'\.& 
West Co.st Towns and the rebels. However, tpe death ot 
Sir Jameè"McDonnell and the landing ot the Spanish in Ir~1.and 
in'160l brD~t about a radical change in Jamesls atti~ude{ 
tOwal'dB the r~bels. -'"1 . ,', • ' 

·Thi~ a8sistanc~ (by the Scots) given to Tyronè did not 
. al togeth~displ,ease th~ King of ~cotland , .... who ls far 
tr~m ~atis~ied' wit~ the Q~een ~pon the ,question of 
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(Notes ChaR, Threel .. 
157 (Cont'd) 

.successio~ to the Crqwn ot England, to which he laya claim. 
But being now aware that the landing ot the Spanish may be 
an obstacle to h~s design, he must teel differently on the 
matter and will watch events cl08ely·. . 

-Marin Cavalli (V'enetian Ambassador in France) to the 
, DOge a~d Senate, 12 Nov.16ol (CSP 'enetian. 1592-1603) 

~ pp. 477-478 • 

. " 

." 

. This latter i8 mos~interesting às the Ambassador's 
assessment of the military situation in Ireland is 
amazingly accurate. 
-The opinion he~è is that all troops sent by Spain will be 
thrown away ••• because they will not be able to-effect a 
junction with the Earl o~ Tyrone, who is at the opposite 
extremity of the Island, whiae ~he Deputy holds aIl ~he 
country in·between ••• The strength of the Earl lies in one 
OP two very strong positions; •• and if he abandons these 
he will expose himself to obvious peril of ruin-. 

-Marin Cavalli to the Doge and Senate, 12 Nov.1601 
(CSP Ven~tian 1592-1603) pp. 477-478 '. . 
James ~s most certainly fearful of a major Spanish inter­
vention in the Irish war. He was'bo more anxio'us than was 
Elizabeth to have a Spanish army camped just across the ~ 
Irish Sea. O'Neill realized this and played this card for 
all it was worth during his negotiations with the Scottish 
King. 1 
-Tyrone offered this of dut y and good will to the King 
but if the King .will in no way de al ,to aid him" he would 
seek to Spain and yield to Spain~~ ) 

-Nico1son to Cecil, 14 Oct.lS98 (CS? Scot1and 1596-160]) 
pp. 314-315 

1S~ Perceval Maxwell, The Scottish Migration to 
Ulstèr in \h~ Re~gn of James l, p. 9 . 
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CHAPTER FOUR • 

SUPPLY AND FINANCE ri' 

He saw chambers full of CaLivers and Muskets, 
a loft full of pikes and two thousand barrels 
of powderol 

O'Neill's interna1 supply and logistics operations 

were based on the widespread use of domestic industries 

such as butter making. di$tilling, spinning, weaving and 
. 2 

linen manufacturing.' In addition, there was some ir~n 

smelting taking place in Ulster, and some of the rebels' 
. ~ 

swords and pikes were produced 10cally.3 O'Neill even 
. , 

., 
brought over gunsmiths from Scotland to establish facilities 

o 4 
at Dungannon for the manufacture of muskets. These 10cally 

J 

produced products were readily available and in some cases 

superior to comparable'~nglish merchandise. Por example, 

Irish c~othing wa~ so weIl suited to the rigors of the 

island's hostile climate that, the Bnglish government 

consid~ed buying nativ~'mantles'for their troops and only 
, 

abandoned the idea for fear of'pumpin!, money into the rebel 

econ~my.5 
The mainstay of Ulster's economy, however, rested 

. 
upon the cattle and gr~in harvested in areas controlled by 

the rebels. Although most historians of Irish history are 

familiar wi th Irela.tid" s pastoral trad! tions, very li ttle is 

known about the cultivation of grain in ,the North. In order , 
.' 

f 
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tp ~er~tand how Oonoi~l financod th. ono»mous costs of 

the war, it i~ first necessary 'to recognize the important 
ti· ,_ ' 

role :playe.d by grain cul tiva~ion in sustainlng the r,ebel 

econ6my. One,of the reasons this problem.has been so long 

ignored is that, until recently, it was thought tha~ very 
, , 

little grain was grown' in the Celtic portions of Ireland. 

Current research, however, has tended to indicate that 

Wevery piece of land that W&S suitable for tillage was, 

in tact, ~nder cultivation-. 6 A careful study of\oontemporary 

documents supports thls hypothesis, as there exist numerouB 

acoounts of extensive grain cultivation in rebel areas. 7 

Our Captains ••• did cut down with their 
swords aIl the rebel corn in the value 
of ttn thousand pounds and upwards... ;' 1 
it seems incredible that with so 
barbarous inhabitants the ground 
shouid be so manured, the fields 
so orderly fenced. S 

As a Gaelic ohieftain, O'Neill was.entitied to 

collect ~ribute from his sub-chieftains and clansmen in 

cattie. oats, butter, oat oakes, malt, beer and money.9 

In addition, he had the right to demand provisions for a 

tixed number'of soldiers severai times during that year,lO 

as weIl as money for ~very acre of land owned by his 

tollowers. l1 He was even entitied to claim a certain 

number of brogues from every shoemaker inhabiting his free~ 

holders' land. 12 Kenneth Nicholis noted in his study of 

Gaelic lreland that the line between the established rights 

of taxation and mere \ extortlon was: indeed very thin. l ) 

The war gave the clan chiets a'motive and an excuse ta 
O' 

1", 1_- ' ....... ",' 
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taka "the profit of the whole country at their pleasure".l4 

I~those areas controlled by O'Neill, he took full 
',,-

advantage of the old revenue system and his taxes were 

"chargeable upon his lands at a rate of twelve pence per 

quarter-. lS In addition, he collectad taxas in oats, 

sheep, ho'~_an~ butter at "Hollantide" and agai~ in May.l6 

O'Neill also kept a ward at Cast le Roe on the River Bann 

to collect "his part ot the fishing". 17 The man who kept 

O'Neill 's finances in order was Richard Weston. who "keepeth 
, . 

aIl the reckonings between him (O'Neill) and his mercenary 

soldiers. Moreover the arch traitor never maketh any levee 

~y or cows upon the people but that he is not sent 

~for and he lays down and appoints the Earl's officers where 

and upon whom they take it"olB Richard Weston's brother, 

Nicholas, also served as O'Neill's.chief source of ready 

money and O'Neill appears to have mortgaged enormous tracts 

of land to him, as weIl as giving him fishing rights in the 

River Barm. l9 

The advantage gained by the rebels in control~ing 

the agricultural wealth of the country was reco~~ed by 

Many English obs~rverso Fynes Moryson, for example, wrote 

that "the wealth of the Kingdom which consisted of cattle, 

oatmeal and other victuals is almost aIl in rebel hands"o20 

Nor dld the rebel spokesman attempt to disguise the 
<." 

importance of agriculture in sustaining the ~ effort. 

The natives as weIl as those who fled to 
them from elsewhere, had no feàrs, and 
besides other advantages ensuing they now 
applied themselves to cultivating the 
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fiel~s and carrying out other agricultural 
t. operations, more, diligently and freely than 

(they) ever could before the beginning of 
the war. The consequence was that the year's 
crop of every kind was abundantly sufficient 
fo. carrying the war' 2l 

Nevertheless, control of the country's agricultural 

. base would not in it~elf have provided the rebeis with a 

decisive advantage over the government had they not been 

able'to convert the produce of the countryside into a 

currency of exchange. The conversion of agricuiturai wealth 

into money was critical to the maintainance and operation of 

the rebel supply system. O'Neill took a direct hand in over­

seeing this aspect of his administration. and his consistent 
, 

ability to use Ulster's agriculturai wealth to support the 

war effort must be counted as one of the great feats of his 

career. The harnessing of this agriculturai weaith required 

not only an administrative organization but also manpower 
;' 

and storage ar~as. This latter requirement was especially 

important because grain could not be moved directly from 

the field to an urban market. and even if such immediate 

transfer were possible, it would have been necessary to 

keep a portion of the crop in storage to feed the rebel army. 

Storage facilities, however, presented O'Neill with a 

particularly difficult problem as once these depots were 

established they could not easily be moved. In the past, 

rebel armies had been red matnly from stolen cattle and 

grain: While this source of supply was highly unreliable, 

it could easily be shifted out of barm's way in the event 

, . 
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of an,enemy offensive. By contrast. O'Neill's supply 
1\ , 

system was anchored to a half dozen static supply depots. j 

Theae depots, located tor the Most par~ in lar,ge crannog~, 

had either to be detended or abandoned .hen attacked by the 
1 

enemy as the supplies within were too b~lky to be moved. 

Unlike his predecessors, theretore, O'Neill could not 
e 

simply bum his castle and take to the woods whèn threatened 

by an ~nglish army, the very nature ot his logistics and 

supply structure necessitated that he stand his ground. 

It is not surprising. therefore, that it is in the 
....,. 

maintainance ot tixed lines ot detence tha~ O'Neill breaks 

Most radically wi th the past traditions ot Ir'ish ~artare. 

The available evidence indicates that Q'Neill's 

main supply depots were located at Dungannon,22 Ennisloughlan,2J . , 

Lough Lurgan; 2~ Magherlacoo, 25 Lough ROughan,26 Augher27 and 

Edinduffcarrick. 28 These strongholdS were linked by road 

and together they composed the bulk ot the rebel supply 

system. 29" They served not onlyas storehouses for grain 

and butter but also as magazines where 0 'Neill could keep 

ammunition, pikes, muskets and even the odd piece of 

artillery. Thue, O'Neill's depots acted as clearing tiouses 

in the supply system where produce trom the fields could be 

stored pending ehipment to'the towns and where munitions 

flowing in the opposite direction were held until they 

could be distributed to the troops., O'Neill appears to 

have been confident of the security afforded by his depots, 

for he was also in th~ habit ffoshutting away ~~lcularly 

\ ) 

i 
1 
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dangerous rivais li~~ the M«cShanes in these stronghOldS.?O, ... 
\ 1 \. 

Supply pperatibns_o~ the scope being conducted by 
• 

O'Neill could not have gone totally unncticed by govern-
, 

ment authorities. J1 But lack of accur~te intelligence, . , 

ignorance of the countryside and the!." bsence of suff~cient 

milit~ry stre~h prevented the Eng~ sh trom probing into 
1 

these unknown areas. For example, Magherlacou, D'Neill's 

main base of operatio~s below the Blackwater was never once 

assaulted durlng the flrst eightly~rS o~ 

its location a scant three ml1e~' fr0~the 
Mount Norris. J2 

the war despite 

English fort of 

It ls only much later/in the war, when the English 
(, , 

'f'inally managed to take the offensive, that the true depth 

of O'Neill's command and supply system was revealed. Only 
i 

then did the English disc~ver that Magherlacou and Lough 

Lurgan were -the two strongest places he doth trust to, for 

it ls weIl known he keepeth his muni~ions there and aIl 

things he doth esteem-. JJ At Ennisloughlan, in addition 
J4 ' to treeing one of the MacShanes, they discovered Ma good 

deal of plate and ~ther things belonging to O'Neill and his 

a111es".35 In other crannogs they captured three pie ces 

of Her Majesty's artillery and -great store of butter, corn 

mea1 and pOWder".J6 

O'Donnel1's supp1y system in the west was not as 

aophisticated as that of his ally, O'Neill, but it appears, 
~ 

neverthe1ess, to have been sufficient to meet his require-

ments. Thesecurity surrounding O'Donnell's supply depots 

1 

'-

;' 
! 

, 
1 

i 

~l • 



( 

( 

92 

was not near1y as intense as that which shriuded Magherlacou 

«nd Ennisloughlan from the prying ey,s of the government 

agents, and the English knew from at 1east 1600 that 

Q'Donnell kept his main supply center on the tortitied 

Island ot Lough ESke.J7 ln addition to Lough Eske, .0 'Donnell 

,also maintained an auxiliary depot in Donegal Abb~y. In 
-" 

t,he spring ot 1601,. the English captuied Dermot McMorris, 

a Munster rebel who had Just returne~ from a visit to 

Donegal. While there he had visl te 
, 

his oaptors a deta~ed account of t His 
,~ / 

description, the only one of ~ 'kind to be tound in the -- , , 
State Papers, leaves no doubt as to the effectiveness of 

the rebel logistical organization. 

In this rebel munitions house in Donegal ••• 
he saw great chambers of calivers and 
muskets, a loft full of pikes and two 
hundred barrels of powder. This was the 
general store. Q'Donnell's own powder 
is in an island by Barnes, where he had 
two pieces of ordinance ••• He said they 
have great store of lead and match' J8 

The supply depots, however. represe~ted only one 

part of Q'Neill's logistics organization. An equally 

impor1lnt and far more interesting aspect of his organization 

ls to be found in the manner in which he financed the supply 

system. By any reasonable estimate. Q'Nelll's annual 

military expendlture amounted to approximately twenty 

thousand poUnds. J9 It ls almost impossible te make an 

accurate guess as to O'Neill's annuai income but it ls 
~ , 

known that Cecil scoffed at the suggestion that Q 'Neill 

, 
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40 was worth thirty thousand pounds par annum. Still other 

sources credit O'Neill"wlth owning seventy thousand head 
4 ~ . . 

of cattl~ whichat th~ then'.xleting rate of b~tween 
litteen and twenty-five shillings to the cow, would have 

42 ~ meant that O'Neill was indeed a wealthy man. These two 

statements are not as 1rreconcilable as they might appear, 

at first glance tor there was. almost certainly a Ume l,ag 

batween the possession of produce and the transformation of 
\ 

that produce into hard currency. In ~ome instances, this 

problem was overcome by reverting to a natural economy in 

which agricultural produce was used in lieu of money. '. 

Records show, for example, that O'Neill's mercenaries were . -. 4 
qui te happy to be paid ,in kind when money was unavailable, J 

, 
and a contingency clause allowing for this sort of payment . 
was written into each contract. 44 Payment in,kind, however, 

would not alwBYs have sufficed to meet O'Neill's require­

ments for, although his mercenaries were willing enough to 

accept a few fat beeves in return for their services, it is 

unlikely that toreign merchants and gunrunners would have 

been amena~le to this àort ot arrangement. The leasing o~··­

shlps and the travel expenses of overseas agents would almost 

certainly have required hard currency. 

When O'Neill found himself in need of money, it'was 

the towns that provided him with the means to obtain it. The 

urban settlements of Ireland, whic~ were considered by Carew 

as -the sheet anchor of the provinces. ,45 provided O'Neill 

with a reàdily available me ans of tra~sforming agricultural 

, 
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w.al th into hard currency. The m ... ns by which the transfer.' 

was accomplished we~' tairly simple as the eus tom ot -bringing 

in 60wa to convert(to angels- was well establiahed by the end 

ot the sixteenth century.46 The process was further expedited 

br the surpriaingly large numbera of nominally loyal merchants 

who were willing to do business with the rebels. In tairness 

to the merchants, it must be said that they appear to have 

. ~ had very 11,.ttle choice··in the matter as the economie .e11 

being of many Irish towna wa8 inextricably tied to the good 

J 
will ot the chiettain who eontrolled the neighboring eountry-

aid.. An extremely powertul chiettain like O'Neill cou1d 

e.8ily exereise a'degree of economie suzerainity over such 

towns as Dundalk an~ Drogheda. Dundalk, for example, had~ 

paying black rent to the 0'Neil1a sinee 14)0. and Shane ~ \ 
, 

O'Neill had proved that he could bring th. 'town to lts kn.es 

s1mply by ratuaing to allow their marchants to travel or 

trad. in his t.rritory.47 That th.-long arm ot O'Neill's 

influence extended into the wa11a of th... towna is evidanced 

by the caaual manner in which' rabel agenta trequented their 

.treets. Drogheda in particular seema to have been in 

8ympathy with the rebels. Its population was most~y Catholic, 

and ~èvera1 prominent marchants .ere 1~ leagu~ with Tyrone, 

and e\an the town's otticials were olten under .uspicion 

by the govarnment. 48 Since Drogheda gave O'Nell1 acceaB to 

the largeat and tastest growing port in north e.stern 

'Ireland, O'Neill'a influence in~his town .. a ~t considerable .. 
importance. 49 

l, .. 
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The,merchants ot Drogheda and other,towns in Ire1and 
" 

had long experience in trading in rebel commodities. For 

years theY'had been sending agents to the native chief tains 

to work out arrangements wità them for the export,of native 1 
1 

produce in return for arma and Whisky.50 These "grey 

'4 marchants· as they were called, were often able to obt~in 

exclusive trading rights in areas control1ed by the local , 

chiettain. Not surprisingly, this sort of activity was 

frowned upon by the government since ";~grey merchants" were 
"i 

not in the least averse ta supp1ying the Irish with "armour, 

weapon and munytyen".51 But.with the rebels maintaining 

a strang1ehold on the wealth of the countryside and the 

merchants having litt le choiee but 'te deal with them or 

perish, the government ~as frequently at a loes .to know 

how to deal with this trade. Me anwh i le , for those prepared 

to take the r~sk, the chance~ of quick profit were great 

and this prospect no doubt eased Many a reluetant merchant 

along the road to treason. 52 

They issue their merchandise to the rebels 
underhand at very expansive ~ates and bring 
in the country commodities at their own 
pric,s • 53 -' 

The;corporate towns ••• (are) found to be the 
principle aidera, abetors, and upho1ders of 
this unnatural rebel1ion ••• they are more 
enriched in these years of war than they 
pave befora in twenty years~of peaee'54 

For thoae towns with outlets to the aea, the 
, i 

opportunity tO,profit from ~rade with the rebels was aven 

more enhanped for they could act as middlemen between the 

--,''!l'!N'!'''!,--_· ... _ .. ~~ ..... ·~''''' ................. 
j: ;~,.,' . 
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insurgents and overSèas 'merchants. ~he Bishop of Cork 

noted in 1600 that Just such a situation existed in his 

city, and he wrote to Cecil explaining how these illegal 
" 

transactions were ~ndled. 

This rebellion time the towns on the sea 
coast have greater trade with the French 
than in former years, by rea~on of the 
great number ot hides now slaughtered. 
~he rebels deal with French ships now in 

~ the harbour tor powder and munitions. 
So doth the m~rchant ot Cork also. He 

~~Y~oh~~e~:~:~s~~~ ~~~~r~~~t :!~!8 
he returns ta the Frene n for a French 
Crown. 55 " . ~, 

/ In Limerick, a similar 'situation existed and 
) 

important merchants ot the town had permanent agents attaohed 

to the ~el armies. One such man wss Anthony Arthur, who 

took up residence in the rebel stronghold ~f Glin in order 

to act .. as a general factor tor the city to vent oommodi ties 

ta the rebels·. 56 

Galway was also riddled with pocketa of rebel 

support and~several prominent Galway families were secretly­

aligned wi th the inaurgents. 57 James ,Blake, a confessed \ 
.,... . 

rebel agent, was a soion of one ot the town's' most important 

families. Galway remained thr?ughout the war an important 
, . 

source of arms to r.ebels up and down the West Coast, and 

she partioipated heavily in the underground rebel economy. 

Certain boats came tram Galway to 
Clanmorisle and Kerry and to O'éonnor's 
oountry with powder and other stores 
for the rebels and take back with them 
oorn, money, hides to Galway. MOreover, 
last January the examinate met Teigb 
Kiegh in Moy, in a ship he had taken 

, , 
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trom' a' Pl~outh mercnant who-to1d him that 
he expected two liarrl'Is of pawder by the . 
next boat that came to LimeriBk. S8 

The tO~8 had an uneasy an~ ott stormy re1ation-
') 

ship with the rebels, 'and 0 'Neill s acutely aware of 

their importance in the avera military sit~tion li 
Ireland. He was anxious"t win over the towns,59 but the 

urban centers insisted on remaining a100f from the struggle. 
/ . 

, . 
Even in their neutral position the towns played a vital role. - , 
in O'Neill·s supp1y structure, and he carefullyensured 

'that ~heir external communications were not interdictedl 

tor Anyassault upon the towns would have robbed O'Neill 

ot 'a stable and ready source of money. 

Faeed with an almost chron1e shortagé of money 

1 
~ ~ 

atter 1597, O'Neill knew that he cou1d il1 afford ta have 

his relations wi th the towns disrupted. In that year, 

Lord Burgh wrote to Burghly that "i t was thought that the 

rebels ,had litt1e Monay but truly, my Lord, he had great 

store of English coin till the present, now it is seanteth . ' 

1 

60' .• 
and he has eessed the, country almost to the upmost penny". 

O~Nei11'8 tinancial problems were confirmed two 
,,' f ' 

years later in 1599 when a spy, sent North to discover 
...J 

th~ location of 0 'Neill 's war chast. repox:,ted that the" 

rebels had ·no great store of treasure".6l The same year, 

a seholar seeking alms at Dungannon was told by an old 
o .... -...-... 

schoolmate that he ·came at a bad~time for he (O'Neill) 

'hath given all the money he had to the soldiers that he 

sent to Lelns~er·.62 O'Nei1l's tinancia1 situation was so 

" , 

t 
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serious by l6~1 that he petitioned the Spanish government 
t 

to s~nd, him only Eng~ish'coins as the money was needed for 

immedia te use and there was no time to convert Sp~h 
. 6) 

cur~ency into an exchange acceptable to the Irish market. 

It seéms likely. that O'Nelll's financial troubles 
, 

were related not so much to a decrèase in revenue as to a . , 
substantial increase in costa, whieh were further aggravated 

by·the loss ot manpower and the~pestruction o~ crops which 

resulted from the conflict. These flnancial setbacks 
... 

. 
everttually bigan to change the -nature d! O'Nei~'8'mllitary 

machine. During the firet half of t'he war, the difference 

between O'Neill's regular troops and his irregu1ar levies 

was clearly defined. But as casualities~ad mounted, Q'Nei11 

had been forced to take an even greater portion of the 

province"s manpower into the à:-my• The results of this 

policy were not long in being felt." Agrieulturai produee 

was df fundamentai importance tO,D'Neill's solveney, and 

men,were necessary to bring in the harvest. Thus , he had 

.. no choiee but to reIe'ase huge segments of his army to 
. 64 . 

harvest- and plant crops. By 1600, O'Neill's finaneeâ 

were in di~e distress as his attempts to stave off 

insolvency by sacrificing military fonaiderations had 
, 

not resoived his financiai probl~ms. Plagued by these 

setbaeks his defeat might weIl have been in the offing , . 
had.not the collapse of the off~~ial Irish eurreney bolstered. 

his sa~ing financiai position. The collapse of the Irish 

currency was caused directly by the high cast of the war. 
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By 1600, after almost ten years of incessant war, the 

enormous Qurden of maintaining the arm~ in Ireland weighed 

heavily upon the English treasury. Elizabeth sought to 

ease this bur~en by introducing a new debased coinage in 

Irelan~. This ill advised financial expedient did ~uch to 
.. 

undermine Royal prestige in Ireland and succeeded in 

throwing the country's economy into chaos. Merchants and 

h ..t'kt hl' h l l ot er c~tlzens 0 d~ng t e 0 d currency were ca led upon 

~ turn in their money to the government in return for the 

new copper coinage. Confi,dence in the new currency was 

lacking, and its market value was considerably be10w that 
• .J 

f 1 -.. . othe 0 d cOlnag~. Irlsh marchants were reluctant to 

accept the new money even though aIl business transactions 

witn the governmen~ were conducted with this coinage. 65 

Under the circumstances O'Neill profited since many~ 

merchants took to trading with the rebels who were willing 

to accept the old currency a t face va.lue. A s a resul t, 

large amounts of silver found its way into the rebel 

coflers. Fortuitously, this occured for O'Neill at the 

sarne time that he was receiving his first major ~hipment 

. from Spain of arms and silv~r. It was a financial wind­

ta1l which was to be one of the key factors that képt the 
,~ 

rebel confederation from collapsing through the difficult 

years ot 1600-1601. and was to set the stage for the 

~ disastrous Kinsale campai~. ' In May of 1601 Sir George 

Carew wrotel ' 
"that the rebels do wonderfully re~oice that 
her Majesty intends to send copper money into 
Ire1and, ~making it an argument that the coffers • 
are empty and thereupon unite themselves in faster 
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-
bonds for preserving the rebellion than 
before ••• in former times it could have 
done no harm, but now when the rebels make 
payments in silver and her Majesty's brass, 
it will strengthen the enemy and draw from 
us not only those Irish which now serve 
with us, but Many of our natural English 
unto them,. 66 

However. while Spanish financial aid arrived at 

this critical juncture of the war, it would be a mist~ke 

to overestimate the importance of this aid in the context 
1 

of the overall struggle. Engl~nd had good reason to be 

suspicious of ~panish iH~entions in Ireland, but her 

pathological fear'of Spain often caused English observers 

to place undue emphasis upon the importance of Spanish aid 

to the rebels. Those persbns closer to the problem 

recognized very quickly that Ulster's success in the war 
, 

depended much more on her trading links with Scotland than 

her relations with Spain. Furthermore, it becomes obvlous 

when reading contemporary documents, particularly O'Neill's 

own letters, that Spanish support never lived up to the 

rebel expectations. In Moryson's Itinerary it was recorded 

that "he (O'Neill) never received any money or ought of 

value nor any of ~is confederates to h.is knowledge \_ Only 

O'Donnell had some fifteen barrels of powder-. 67 In 1600. 

O'Neill confided to a friend that -he had not hope of any 

,( help (from Spain) except that they will send us a 

as ~uch as they did nqw to feed usw •
68 That same 

wrote ,~o his acqountant, Richard Veston • 

ship wit~ 

year he ( 
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Here is no news but the Spanish have 
sent some 1itt1e things to f~ed us, 
as they did before, he sends twenty 
thousand pounds you May hear, but it 
will fall out searce a quarter so 
much, with some pieces, powder, lead 
and matcho69 

Mathew de Oviedo, the Spanish Bishop of Dublin, 

also noted the rebels' dissatisfaction with Spain, and 

he wrote to Philip in 1600, saying that the Irish were 

"overcome wi th dismay" and suspicious of "old promises".70 

Right up until the end of the war O'Neill continued to claim 

that "he kept up these wars for a long time with no help 

from the King of Spain but six thousand pounds and a litt le 

ammunition ••• which was long sought and promised ere it came".7 l 

The available evidence would, therefore, tend to 

indicate that ~lster received very little aid from Spain 

prior to 1600. Furthermore, the rebels' chief source of 

supplies.lay not in Spain but along the west coast of 

Scotland where U1ster's traditional trading ties wer~ 

strongest. In order to finance the rebe1 supply system, 

O'Neill utilized every sector of Uister's agricultural 

economyand harnessed them to the pro~ince's war effort. 

Much'of the time, O'Neill was able to power his war machine 

with a natural economy where produce was used in lieu of 

moneyand Many of his creditors, particular1y his soldiers, 

were content to be paid in kind. When hard currency was 

required, the merchants of the Irish towns proved ever 

willing to convert O'Neil1's cows, grain and hides into 

money. The collapse of the official currency in 1600 gave 
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additional impet~s to this process and ~urther s~rengthened 

the already close commercial ties between the rebels and 

the toWllS. 

To understand O'Neill's financial apparatus is to 

understand his strategy. So long as Ulster's agricultural 

economy was securelt'~n his hands he could continue to 

support and pay his army. For this reason it immediately 

becomes evident why it was Imperative that OtNe11l hold 

tast to the territory north of the Blackwater line. O'Neill 
1 

recognized that once Elizabeth's soldiers were acrOS8 the 

BlackWater and able to strike at the root of his economic 

. power, all hope of winning the war was gone. 

. ., 
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-Sir M. Markham to Cecil, 8 Nov.16oo (CSPI 1600-01) ~. 21 
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pp, 71-72 

JlThe English heard rumours as early as 1596 about 
the storage of munitions in crannogs. 

-Examination of Henry Dowdall, 27 June 1596 (CSPI 1592-96) " 
p. 541 
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39Cost Estimatesa'Acéording to the statements of 
MacMorris, an Irish'soldier captured in 1600, O'Donnell 
had 800 Bonnaughts with him in Donegal while O'Neill had 
2,000 in Tyrone. These estimates of strength were con­
sidered conservative by Most English observers but are 
probably fairly accurate. For the sake of my calculations 

, l shall use these figures. Estimates for the scale of pay 
varies according to the source. Below l have included 'w 
estimates from the two Most reliable sources. 

A. Ed. John o 'Donovan, -Military Proclamation ,lssued 
by Hugh O'neill, Earl of Tyrone, Feb. 1601-, UJA 
lst series, VI, pp. 57-65, 1 ~ 

1. 100 pounds per quarter for a coy (100 men) 
2. 40 pounds bonus twice a year per coy. 
J., 4 shillings per day per man = 30 pounds per quarter 
4 Each company also received a certain measure of 

butter, Meal and milkr 
(Each coy was assigned a specifie area in which to' collect 
their victuals) 
(Armour and weapons were supplied but each soldier1was 
eharged for these items) 
(Each coy waS al10wed 16 dead pays and these were 
al10ted in the fo1lowing mannera 
a) Commander 10 
b) Marshal 5 
c) Lordls Gallowglass 1) 

5. The cost of keeping a coy in the field for a full year 
was therefore 500 pounds. 

6. O'Neill's total eost in salaries for 2,000 soldiers 
would have been = 11,200 pounds P.A. 

7, O'Donnell's total co st in salaries for 800 soldiers 
would have been = 4,480 pounds P.A. 

Total Cost = 1;,680 pounds P.A. 
. 

B. G.A. Hayes-McCoy, Scots Mercenary Forces in Ire1and, 
p. 2;6 - quotes other estimates on O'Ne1ll's scale 
of pay. His figure sare supported ~. ' 
Fenton to Cecil, 20 Jan. 1601 (CSPI 1600-01) p. 153 

1. Longbow or Halbertman - 10 shillings per quarter 
2. Shot - 20 shillings per quarter 
J. Victuals - three 'madders' of butter per month 

- six 'madders' of oatmeal per month 

", 
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39 (Cont 'dl 
If victuals were not readily available each man would 
receive ten shillings extra per month (Note the high 
value placed on one month's victuals - being = to 
·2;' months pay) 

~. Composite pay (salary and cost of victuals) 
-Longbow or Halbertman - 13s 14d per month 
-Shot - 16s Bd per month 

5. Using MacMorris' figures ,on rebel troop strength, the 
cost would be as followsl 
-O'Donne11 - approximately 6,000 pounds P.A. 
-O'Neill - approximately 15,000 pounds P.A. 
Total Cost - 21,000 pounds P.A. 

40Speech by Sir Robert Cecil, Oct.1599 
(CSPI 1599-1600) p. 222 

___ '_'f1 .. ___ _ 

41Captain Carlise, 19 Dec. 1599 (CSPI 1599-1600) p. 3JO 

42Humble Requests, 18 May 1598 (CSPI 1598-99) p.149 
Prices, 4 Feb. 1597 (CSPI lr96-9Z) p. 227 
There is ample evidence tondicate that the government was 
being overcharged for the food it purchased. 

4JG•A" Hayes McCoy, - Army of Ulster-, Irish Sword, 
pp. 111-112 . 

44John O"Donovan, ed., "Mili tary P-roclamation 
Issued by Hugh O'Neill, Earl of Tyrone-, UJA, 1st series, 
VI, pp. 57-65 

• 
o 45pacata Hibern1a, Introductio~, p. 36 (xxxvi) 

46-Declaration of Capt. T. !.ee- Appendix in Vol II 
of J. Curry, Review of the Civil Wars of Ire1and (Dublin,' 
1810) p. 320 

47N• Canny, The E1izabethan Conguest of Ireland, ~ 
pp. 4-6, 8-9 / 

, 48 
Si~ George Bingham to Sir R. Bingham, J Jah. 1593, 

(CSPI 1592-96) p. 72 • 
In 1596 the Lord Deputy was forced to dispatch his own 
people to Drogheda in order to i~tercept one of Q'Neill's 
agents who was expected to arrave there by ship. The 
I.ord Deputy openly admitted that the local officiaIs could 
not be trusted to carry out the mission on their own. 

-Lord Deputy to Burghly. 12 Feb.1596 (CSPI 1592-96) p.472 
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62Thomas Mu1clay to Cecil. 6 May 1599 (R.M.C. 
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63Examlnation of MacMorris, 29 Apr. 1601 
(CSPI 1600-01)_p. 299 
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Richard Weston to Essex, 28 Aug. 1599 

(CSPI 1599-1600) p. 136 

6?Sir G. Carew to Cecil, Il May 1601 (CSP Carew 
1601-0J) p. 59 • 

67MOrYSOn, Itinerary, Vol II, p. 203 

68Advertisement from Dungannon, Jan •. 1600, 
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69Tyrone to Richard Hovi~on, Jan. 1601 
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7~thew de Oviedo to Phillip III, 24 Apr. 1600, 
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CHAPTER PIVE • 

THE ARMY 

-So far trom being naked people as\before 
times, (the Irish) were generally better 
armed than we, knew better the use of 
théir weapons and even exceeded us in 

, tha't disoipline which' was ti tte~t for 
~he oountry.-

- - , 

The 80ldiers who composed O'Neill's army were with-

'~ut doubt hardyand desperate fellowB but they were not the 

savage supermen that some English Captains described in 

their reports. Though they required food, clothing, pay, 

training and equipment; it would appear from most contem­

porary accounts that the rebel sold~ers were healthier, 

better fed, more regularly paid and, at least, as adequately 

equipped as" their English counterparts. l However, unlike 

the Queen's forces which, for the most part. were made up 

~ 
ot ràw levies. the core of the rebel army consisted of tôugh, 

'~professional veterans. 2 A certain portion of these troops 
f Ji . ,t wa~ . kept wi th 0 'Neill at aIl times. while the remainder, 

representing the vast ma'jori ty of his forces t were hrmed .. 
out to specifie supplyareas for·-bonnaught-. J When faced 

with a serious military threat, O'Neill would calI together 

his mercenary troops and augment these with contingents from 

his allies and levies trom his own territories. The costs 
, 

of maintainirig this force were enormous, but there is some 

evidenoe whic~ suggssts thathis irregular troops were paid 

III 
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1 • 
onl~ for the t1me they wer~ actua11y under arms. A 

military commB;nder in the North pointed this out to 

Cecil in June 15981 

His natural people of Ulster, who are 
not chargeable unto him but such as 
yield him reverence will be able to 
'defend his country ••• that he May spare 
his mercenarie~ to kindle fires in· 
other parts'4 

In order to understand the origins of O'N~i1l's 

military strength one must look back into the period 
, 

before 1593 when he WRS still a dutifu1 servant of 

, Elizabeth. As the Queen' s 0 'Neill he 'had been allowed 

ta keep six' hundred men in payas part of the government ~ s 

effort to extend i ts influence in Ulster,. These troops <. 

had been divided into six companies and were command~d by 

professiona1 soldiers called "Butter Captains" because 

~ they depended upon the country for sustenance. 5 of Over a 

period of time O'Neill rotated as Many men as possible 

through the ranks of these companies in order to build up 
. ... 6.. . 

a weIl tra1ned reserve. Th1s m1l1tary strate8Y was to 

pro~e high1y effective. When the war broke out this small 

but, r'ormidab1e force represented the most powerful fighting 
i 

element in the rebe1 army. The appearance of these highly 

dis'ciplined and wefl equ'illped troops at the Battle of 

Clontibret in 1595 gave the English a rather rude ShoCk,7 

and signalled' the ,beginning of a mi1itary revolution in 

Ulster: 

ln addition to training his garrison troops, O'Neill' 

.. 
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used other methods to strengthen hie military position. 

For example, he encouraged t3e use of tirearms throughaut 

his terr1tories8 whiIe~ a't the seme time. expanding the 
"-, 

-
traditional mercenary system in arder to form professional 

companies of horse and foot. As weIl, .he regularized the 

terms of service, initiated an organized training system, 

and raised the quality of equipment ta a level at least 
t-

equal to that of the English. 

Throughout most of the war, the rebels operated on 

interior Iines close to their bases of 6u~ply. and this 

enabled them to môve quickly, carrying theOminimum of 

baggage. Occasionally this worked to their disadvantage. 

At Clontibret, the Irish ,rmy hRd with it only fourteen 

barrels of powder,9 and when this supply ran out O'Neill 

was forced to break off the engagement and send to 
'-,. . 

Dungannon for mor~.IO Nevertheless, the speed of the 

rebel army was to become legendary during the course of 

the war, and it was not uncommon for rebel trdops ta march 

fort y miles in a single nlght, while their'English enemy ( 

was plodding along at ten miles per day.ll The Irish 

did, on occasion, however, operate with heavy baggage. 

particular1y when they set out to defend a 10cality for a 

protracted period. 12 One such instance was the defence 

of the Moyrie Pass in 1600. During this bi tter", e~gement 

an English observer noted that the Irish supply ·carriages· 

were moved ta the rear when threatened by advancing 

Elizabethan infantry.13 During the Moyrie compaign, 

" 
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the rebels fortified several miles of terrain along the 

approaches to the pass, and these defences proved the key 

to O'NeiIl's victory.14 Such a feat of engineering could 

not have been accomplished without the extensive us~ of 

tools and trenching equipment. Although the Moyrie Pass 

gives us our only referenee to carriages, there is good 

reason to believe that the Irish had also employed them 

two years earlier at YeIIowford. 15 

When operating beyond O'Neill's spheres of control, 

the rebel army was forced to eut loose from its supply~ 

bases and rely on speed and surprise. For this reason, 

carriages were not likely to be found in rebel forces 

operating beyond the Gap of the North. For example, in 

preparing for his campaign in the South in 1601, O'Neill 

ordered Q'Donnell ta take two month's supplies with him. f6 

In carrying out these instructions, O'Donnell doea not 

seem to have used any carriages which May explain why he 

was able to cover the distance with amazing speed. He did, 

however, use "garrons" to carry some of his material. 17 

O'Neill, on the other hand, sent his supply train over the 

BIackwater, and followed the next day with his main force. 

He met with his allies in the "Brenny", and then moved 

South. Sir Jeffry Fenton, whose information about rebel 
? 

acti\Î.ri ties is usual'ly very reliable, gives us a detailed 

description of Q'NeiIl's supply system on the march. 

He intenda, l understand to march South 
by night and lie close by day, using the 
moonlight. He takes no provisions with 
him but ,Meal and butter, every soldier 
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bearing his own allowance ther~f and 
of powder and shot. A course which 
freeth him from the trouble of carriages 
and every horseman carrieth;double shoes 
for his horse and every foot~n double 
brogues for himself. With these provisions 
he intendeth to pass till he meet with 
Tyrell, who is to relieve him ••• about 
the borders of Carlough or Leix'IB 

Fenton's assessment is supported by Spanish 

,observers who noted early in the war that rebel troops 

would -carry victuals with them for the time they arrange 

-beforehand to be away from their lands".19 In addition, 

the Spaniards recorded that -they t~ke with them on the 
.k 

march butter and milk for drink. This w1th herbs and a 

little oat'bread suffices for them-. 20 

When participating in extended campaigns, such as 

those that took place in 1600 and 1601, the rebels were 

forced to leave behind a certain portion of their forces 

to protect their territories and bases of supply.2l Some­

times, as in the case of the march to Kinsale, a small 

force under central control was assigned the task of pro­

tecting the property and goods of those away on campaign.22 

Thus, O'Neill's supply system, although it served him 

weIl, placed severe restraints on his tactical maneuver-

ability. When compared to their ponderous English counter­

parts, O'Neill's army appears to be light and mobile, but 
" 

when this comparison is extended to include former Ulster 

armies, such as the, one led by Shane 0' Neill, the radical 

nature of O'Neill's innovations becomes clear. Shane O'Neill 
fi 

had carrieâ Most of his supplies with him on the hoof, and 
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stole whatever else he needed from his enemies. He had no 

need to hold fixed lines of defence ,and p~otect vulnerable 

supply depots. O'Neill, on the other hand, anchored his 
'" military machine to Ulster's agricultural output. and he 

~eeded permanent depots to store the large quantities of 

munitions he was importing with this wealth. To protect 1 

the se vital components in his supply system, the English 

army had to be kept below the Blackwater and denied free 

access to the terri tories beyond the Gap of the North. 

Consequently, O'Neill's army had been'develdped with these 

requirements in mind. On the other hand, O'Donnell's 
Ir 

campaigns in the west were of an entirely different nature 

from those of O'Neill. O'Donnell's cut and thrust tactics 

in Connaught lent themselves to the development of a more .. 
traditional military structure.~J O'Donnell's conserVative 

nature May also have played a part in delaying O'Neill's 

military revolution in ~connell. The differences between 

o 'Neill's and O'Donnell's armies is perhaps bestexemplified 

by the fact that only two ot-eight known rebel supply depots 

were located in Tryconnel1. 24 

Another factor which greatly enhanced the speed of 

the rebel troops was an excellent system of intelligence,25 

which enabled O'Neill to mobilize his troops before the 

English could launch an offensive. 26 Though O'Neill was 

naturally reluctant to calI together ,his forces unlesB it 
1 

was absolutely necessary because of the great expense it 

entailed, nevertheless, when the situation demanded that he 

do so, he could bring together the bulk of the rebel army 

in less than three days.27 
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In auch timea of crisis, O'Neill called up not only 

his front line professionals but also his irregular troops. 

D'Donnell, D'Rouke, Maguire and the other chief tains also 

had professional and irregular troops. In' 1596, ,for 

example, it is recorded that O'Donnell "did not wait to 

muster an army except his soldiers and mercenaries".29 

Deeentralization was another key factor in O'Neill's 

rebel command structure. O'Neill had no ehoice but to 

decentralize as co~trol of the rabels' far flung armies 

from one central location waa virtually impossible. Each 

field force was dependent upon different supply bases, and 

those troops outside of Tyrone were often led by quarrelsome 

and headstrong chief tains. O'Neill dld try to ·overcome 

this problem by delegating authority regarding the overall 

direction of the war to a Coune!l of sixt Y chiél' tains, 29 

but it is doubtful whether this couneil ever had any real 

power. Though O'Neill May have found it convenient to 

maintaih this facade of collective decision making,JO in 

reality the actual military control in the North was divided \., 

between himself in the East and O'Donnell in the West. 

It was the training and professionalism of the \ 

rebel soldier, however, that enabled O'Neill to decentralize 

the command and control of the army. Without this depth 
~ > 

of experience in the ranks lt would have been impossible 

to delegate authority to lesser captains in the field, and' 

this would have robbed the rebeis of their greatest tactical 

advantages, speed and flexibility. 

• 



(~ , •• giving unto his especial gentlemen 
and captains their partl,cular charge 
and direction, where to fight and how 
to resist uS'JI 

The English army, on the other hand, trudged across 

the countryside Iike a stricken giant. English commanders 

were forever plagued by a lack of draught horses, provisions 

and accurate maps. and were thankful if they could cover ten 

miles in a day. To make matters worse. their field armies 
'1 were o~ten paraIyzed by accompanying hordes of women and 

bOys.JJ The English troops themselves were ill chosen, ill 

fed and ill paid, and more often than not became a menace to 

the regions through which they passed. While the government 

had to depend on England for its manpower, Ulster provided 

the rebels with their chie~ source of recruits. The 

province's small population, ho~ever, necessitated the use 

ot outside troops by the re~eIs. It ià not surprising, 

therefore, that Many of the mercenaries in O'Neill's armies 

came from other provinces. Connaught, in particular, appears 

to have been the source of much of O'Neill's manpower 
-:'f ! 

resourc~s. The destruction wrought by the incessant wars 

in that province bètween 1588 and 160J caused a large number 

of Connaught men to seek a livelihood as soldiers. J5 Further­

more, the composition of Connaught had also put a large 

number of local swordsmen out of work,J6 forcing them to 

Beek employment in the North. The'recruitlng of the rebel 

armies took place in February or March of each year, the 

terms of service and rates of pay being announced bf 
f / 
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recruiting agents in churches and other public places 

throughout Tyrone. J7 Those men who signed up for the 

campaigning season were sold their equipment by Q'Neill's 

Quarter Master and placed in companies for training and 

operations. J8 Many of Q'Neill's troops would appear ta 

have been veterans who signed up year after year. As the 

intensity of the fighting increased and casualities mounted, 

however, O'Neill was forced to recruit a large number of 

partially trained -kern- into the ranks of his regular 

companies. J9 The steady inflow of new recruits forced 

O'Neill to be constantly training and retraining his 

companies. and this necessitated the maintenance of a more 

or less permanent training structure. The responsibility 

for training and leading Q'Neill's "bonnaughts· rested with 

a small cadre of experienced Spanish and Irish soldiers. 

The Spaniards, sorne of whom were castaways from the Armada, 

had been involved in a'Neill's military organization as 

early as 1596. 40 Q'Neill's prestige and association with 

the Catholic cause also enabled him to attract a number of 

professional ~'~~Sh soldiers to his side. 41 Men such as 

Morgan Kavanagh 42 who had fought wi th the Spanish army in 

the Netherlands and Captain Richard Tyrel14J who had gained 

his military experience in the English service, gave Q'Neill's 

command structure a depth of experience which previous rebel 

armies had laaked. Kavanagh and Tyrell were not the only 

professiona1 officers O'Neill could calI upon; There were 

a1so a number of other ·very good soldiers· of Irish origin 
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leading his troops, including Owen OiMore, Richàrd Owen, 

Hugh Boy O'Neill, Richard Burke, John Fitzgarre,t-, James 

Fitzgarret, Edward Toby, Bartholomew Owen44 and Hugh 

Mostain. 45 . These men ensured that the population of the 

North was "infinitely belaboured wi~h ,~raining in aIl parts 

of Ulster ... 46 

\ It would also appear tha t recrufts were required ~o 
, 

initially serve an apprenticeship as "horse boys· before 

becoming full fledged OObonnaughts·. It is recorded in 

O'Cleary's Life of Hugh Roe O'Donnell that ·he placed the 

àttendants, the recruits and the people without arms in the 

front on the road with the preys, herds and booty·.47 This· 

method of military training meant that rebel troops were 

often veteran campaigners even before they were armed and 

anrolled in the bonnaught companies. 

When not campaigning, rabel recruits assembled at 

key crannogs throughout the North where they underwent 

training. An unnamed Scot, who visited Ulster in 1601 in 

order to see O'Neill, was taken to the crannog of Lough 

Roughan where the great chief tain was in residence at that 

time. While in the island fortress the Scot saw O'Neill's 

raw levies undergoing training at the hands of Spanish 
48 instructors, and later wrote a report to the government 

which painted a fright~ning picture of Uls"ter as a society 

totally preoccupied with war. According to this report, 

Ulster had become an armed camp where it was impossible 

to travel from Dungannon to Dungiven without being arrested 

and searched by "100 rogues ... 49 
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Further evidence of "the mili tary revolution being 

carried out by O'neill in Ulster is to be found on the 

battlefields of the Nine Years War; and here the evidence 

is formida~ In 1595 O'Neill had only six companies of 

regular troops at his disposal but by 1600 most of his 

army had been ·cast into companies with bugles, flags and 

drummers".50 At Clontibret, Yellowford, Curlew Pass and 

the Moyrie Passe the rebel soldier proved himself superior 

to his enemy. The English themselves werep the first to 

admit that they were locked in combat with a very dangerous 

and capable foe. 

But now the Irish soldiers are most 
ready, well disciplined and as good 
marksmen as France, Flanders or Spain 
can show, a»l this owing to the Earl 
of Tyrone"' 5l ' 

Perhaps the Most telling comment came from Sir 

George Carew, a man thoroughly familiar with both Irish 

politics and warfare. He described a band of O'Neill's 

mercenaries led by o 'Moore as "a troop of choice pikes ••. 

whereof three hundrèd were bonnaughts. the best furnished 

men of war and the best appointed that we havè" sean in 

this Kingdom".52 But such military prow~ss was not to be 

had without a priee. and with each passing year casualties 

mounted, forcing O'Neill to recruit an ev en greater portion 

of the male population into the ranks of his professional 

companies. It became increasingly difficult ta differentiate 

between O'Neill's irregular troops and his bonnaughts. This 

preoccupation with military survival led inevitably to social 

,< 
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" dislocation, as traditional customs and structures were 

sacrificed to the ever increasing demands of the army. 

The chief tain gave way te the mercenary captain as 
.~\~ 

the key figure in the waging of warl 5J the lowly cow keeper 

was handed a musket and overnight became the equal of the 

Gallowglass who was now no better than a glorified pike-

man 1 chief tains began taxing their clansmen in a merciless 

fashion with complete disregard for long standing controls 

on rates. The province was slowly drained of its male'youth 

as the traditional social order began to disintegrate beneath 
q 

the weight of the ~ar. In 1600" however, O'Neill could spare 

little time to worry about the sociological implications of 

turning Ulster into a nation in arms. In that year O'Neill's 

MoSt pressing problem was to find sufficient replacements to 

fi11 the lists of his depleted companies. 54 The rebel army, 

which never numbered more than 6,000 or 7,000 men, was now 

hard pressed to defend Uls:er's borders. Sir Jeffrey 

Fenton, who possessed a kéen insight into the affairs above 
l' 

the Blackwater, was angered by his colleagues.who insisted 

on excusing their own failures by exaggerating the size of 

O'Neill's army. 

His force is much exaggerated, some people 
putting it as high as 5,000 or 6,000 foot 
and 7,000 horse ••• but as l know in what 
~countries he ls to raise his force and how 
much he can apport ion on each particular 
lord and how Many men he has to leave behind 
to prote ct Ulster, l do not see how he can 
raise more than ),000 in aIl and yet 1,000 
of these must be horseboys and cowkeepers'

55 

Nor was this the first time Fenton had spoken of 

! ) 
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O'Neill's manpower shortage. In 1599 he had'written that 

O'Neill was Mgreatly pressed to send forces into Munster ••• 

l think he can hardly spare any men for hi~6elfM.56 The 
-

rebel chief tains themselves" in their correspondence to 

PhiIi~'of S~a~n confirm Fenton's appraisai of the situation, 

for in 1600 the y wrote thata 

They are'in the Iast extremity fighting 
against so strong an enemy as England. 
Their estates, men and resources are so 
exhausted and His Majesty's aid delay~d 
trom day to day •.• they are aIl sure all 
spirits must fail and they will have to 
give way uniess succour reaches them 
this year. 57 

Fent~ was not the onl~ contemporary observer to 

note the desperate manpower shortages with which the rebels 

were confronted. Mountjoy himself realized by 1601 that 

with regard' to manpower, the North had reached the end of 

its tether. 58 

The manpower crisis reached its peak during the 

bitter fighting of the Moyrie Pass in the fall of 1600. 
'--

The advance of the English army towards the PasB put O'Neill 

on the horns of a dilemma. He was reluctant to commit his 

care~ully husbanded striking force to a pitched battie 

because he knew he could not make good any resulting losses. 

Yet the presence of a powerful English army marching 

unopposed through Armagh, would have put an intolerable 

strain upon the already weakened structure of the confederation. 
, 

Without Any prospect of armed Spanish intervention for at 

least another year, O'Neill was desperate to gain time. 
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Under the circumstances elNei11 had little choice but ~o .,. 

make a stand in the Moyrie Pass. The ensuing strugg1e 

produced the b100diest fighting of the war. During the 

battle, the performance of the rebe1 soldiers proved 

beyond any doubt the effectiveness of O'Nei1lls training 

and tactics. Wl,th the exception ot Kinsale, this battle 
, 

was the MOSt crucial of the war, and O'Neill made it clear 

to his people that the moment of crisis was upon them. 

Himself exhorts them with great 
earnestness to work lustily ••• that 
the safeguard of themselves, their 
wives and children, stands only upon 
the stopping of the Lord Deputy's 
passage, th~t if he once gets through 
farewell Ulster and aIl the North. 59 

Yet even in this moment of supreme crisis. O'Neill's 

·utmost strengthW amounted to only ),500 soldiers.bO He 

was so short of men during the battle that he could not 

even spare any'to evacuate casualtles to the rear. 61 During 

the h~lght of the battle, Tyrell sent word by messenger that 

he was in desperate need of relnforcements and supplies. 

O'Neill, who throughout the war had placed the highest 

priorlty on supporting operations ln the South, denied 

the request. He told the messenger that so long as the 

·.ffght lasted- there would be no men to spare for Tyrell. 62 

By the tenth of Octoben, Mountjoy was forced to 

reallze what everyone around hlm already knew, that the 

Pass ·could not be taken wfthout the hazard of the whole 1 

armyw.6) In winning this battle O'Neill had galned precious 

time but ft cost him dear1y. The losses which the rebe1s . 
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, 
8ustained é at Moyria and during the blôè,dY oampaigna 'of 

~ 

1600-1601: wou1d "prove in the end to be irreplacab-!e: 

\ 

\ 

o , 

• 

o 
fi. 

o 



. ·l;·""'·L .... ~"~- Q 
, '><.~ -.. -f""'I'<'"~ ____ .. _ ... , 

. '" . ~ , . . - . . .. Î 

" 

c 

" 

.1 

( 

126 

Footnotes Chapter Five 

1 -~- 1 
Examination of MacMorris, 29 Apr.1601 (CSPI 
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-Mountjoy to Carew, 7 Feb.160l (CSPI 1600-01) p. 181 

59Advertisements, 7 Oct.1600 (CSPI 1600-01) pp. 465-466 

60ibid 
G.A. Hayes McCoy, "Defence of the Moyry Pass·, Irish Sword, 
Vol J, no. 10, (1957) 

61A Brief Journal, 19 Nov.1600 (CSPI 1600-01) pp. 27-31 

62Advertisements, 7 Oct. 1600 (OSPI 1600) pp. 465=466 

63A Brief Journal, 19 Nov.1600 (CSPI 1600-01) pp.27-Jl 
Advertisements, 7 Oct. 1600 (CSPI 1600) pp. 465-466 

~ 

• /" _1 ,~ ~ • r ! ", ~ ... ~t ~",,'- or' • <' .. ~" '" ~ 



( 

1 • 
1 

CHAPTER SIX 

STRANGFORD LOUGH 
(A Case Study) 

McArt held personal residence and had 
the repair unto him of Scottish bargues 
and others with aIl manner of provisions 
sometimes twenty in a week, lying at road 
under the castle walls. 

While the role played by the smuggling trade within 

the rebel logistics organization was of vital importance, 

O'Neill's supply requirements influenced his tactlcal and 

strategie thinking in an equally essential way. As noted 

in Chapter Five, O'Neill adopted the strategy of holding 

flxed lines of defence in order to meet the needs of Uls ter' s 

. econom~. In addition, the North's heavily defended borders 

served to give the rebels a secure base for importlng ~adly 
... ~'.. 

needed supplies, particularly in three coastal districts. 

The first raglon consisted of the territory bordering on 

Lough Foyle. This area had originally been subject to old 

Turlough O'Neill, but Hugh O'Neill had gained effective 

control of the reglon in 1593. Throughout Most of the war 

Lough Foyle remained a very active rebel harbour with both 

the Spanlards and the Scots making full use of its facilitles 

until Derry was lost to Dowcra in 1600. Below Lough Foyle, 

stretching southeast from Port Rush to Island Magee, was 

the land of the Antrim MacDo~ells. From their stronghold 

at Dunluce, James MacDonnell and his kin~men ruled a vast 
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coastal empire where cargoes could be brought ashore from 

Scots' vessels in relative safety. O'Neill spared no effort 

in his attempts to win the support of th~ quarrelsome 

MacDonnells, and the region remained a secure haven for 

contraband cargoee until Sir Randal MacDonnell's timely 

derection to the English in 1602. 

Just to the south or the MacDonnell land, the 

governmant controlled a small strip of territory surrounding 

the.town of Carrickfergus. In spite of the strategic 

importance of their location, the neglected and undermanned 
~, 

garrison at Carrickfergus was n~ver able to use the town as 

a base for penetrating inland. Nevertheless, the possession 

of this stronghold was' vital to the Crown for it separated 

MacDonnell territory from the rebel dominated regions around 

Strangford Lough and Dundrum Bay. These latter areas, being 

in County Down. had access to what was undoubtedly the best 

rOM system in Ulst'er. Strangford, in particular, was -sub­

sequently destined to become one o~ the m~st important 

smuggling canters in Ireland. 

O'Neill's first attempt in 1591 ta assert his 

influence in this region was thwarted by Sir Henry Bagenal. 
~J 

Recognizing the importance or the region, he moved quickly 

to secure the area for the Crown. l On this occasion, O'Neill 

thought it prudent ta ~ithdraw rather than risk a clash with 

the Queenls Marshall. but with the commencement of open war­

fare in 1594, one of O'Neill's very first offensives was 

aimed at wr~Bting control or Strangford rrom his old rival. 
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The man O'Neill entrusted with this important operation was 

his nephew, Brian McArt. 2 McArt, who was a determined 

soldier and a master of speed and surprise, did not waste 

any time making his presence feit in the Strangford region. 

Randal Bruestone, the sheriff of Down, complained in April 

of 1594 that McArt had ·preyed the poor country of Dufferin 

and burned twelve towns".3 tater that spring, McArt 

assaulted the castIes of Killileagh and Ranahaddy, and by 

the end of the summer the sheriff had been driven out 

altogether. 4 With the whole territory now in his hands, 

McArt quickly set about removing those persons suspected 

of favoring the Crown. 5 As the newly appointed "Lord of 

Clandeboy·, McArt made it clear that anyone opposing O'Neill 

could expect short shrift at the hands of his regime. 6 

In spite of the rebels' domination of the country­

side, there remained castIes that defied them and held out 

for the Crown. Since O'Neill's soldiers lacked the necessary 

artilleryand seige apparatus to seize these strongholds, 

they could do little but try and starve them out.? One of 

the more important castIes holding out against the rebeis 

was the massive stone fortress of Dundrum, which was perched 

high on a hill overlooking the strategically important Bay 

of Dundrum. O'Neill was anxious to obtain possession of 

this castle in order to secure the Bayas a landing site 

for rebel supplies. 

In August of 1596, James Fitzgarret of Lecale, the 

keeper of Dundrum Castle, visited O'Neill at Dungannon in 

1 
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the hope of obtaining the release of sorne prisoner:~~:ta..// 
;, 

.at Dungannon, O'Neill ~ngaged him in a secret conversation, 

the tenor of which reveals O'Neill's intention of using 

Strangford as a harbour for receiving supplies and 

reinf'orcements. 

The Earl of Tyrone told him that he would 
utter a thing unto him, but first he would' 
have Fi tzg~rret sworn that he would not <, 

reveal it again ••• The Earl told him that 
he would grant Fitzgarret the leading of 
as Many men as he should desire, and would 
reward him with one hundred pounds ready 
money.,.Then the Earl asked him what harbour 
the river of Strangford Iwas and whether any 
great shipping might co~e into it. He 
answered tnat it might. 1 The Earl asked 
him, whether the Castle l of Strangford was 
of any great strength, and how near it 
stood to the sea, and how near shipping 
might come to the castle ••• The Earl then 
dealt plainly with him and said, if he 
would deliver over into his hands the 
Castle of Dundrum ••• he would not only 
keep his promise with him for the enter­
tainment and money which he had assured 
him, but would make him able ta live in 
as good sort as he should seek or command' 8 

Even while O'Neill was wooing Fitzgarret in the hope 

of gaining control of Dundrum Castle, rebel supplies from 

Scotland were probably already beginning to trickle into 

Ulster via Strangford Lough. Using Down's excellent road 

system, these supplies were moved inland from the Lough 

through the passes of the Dufferin te rebel depots. 9 The 

size of the trade seems to have been fairly slgnificant, as 

it was reperted that McArt -had the repair unte him of 

Scottish bargues and others and aIl manner of provisions 

sometimes twenty in a week.- These vessels do not seem to 
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have been at aIl menaced by the English ships blockading 

the coast, and they unloaded their cargoes unhurriedly while 

"lying at road under the castle wall" of Ranahaddy.lO McArt 

played a key role in these supply operations and aIl indi­

cations are that he did very weIl for himself in the process. 

Sir Arthur Chichester~ the Governor of CarrickferguB, wrote 

that McArt had made "a great profit ••• upon those countries 

towards the maintenance of the wars".ll McArt's financial 
\ 

success is hardly surprising when it iB considered that 

Strangford had become one of the rebals' chief landing sites 

for contraband supplies. 

It has aIl during the rebellion been a 
great support of the rebels by a frequent 
trade unto it of Scottish barguea ~ith 
munitions, cloth, wine and Aqua Vitae ••• 
The haven is large enough ta contain the 
largest fleet of ships'12 

In arder to secure a~d legitimize his control of the 

Strangford-Dundrum area, O'Neill married the daughter of 

Hugh Maginnis who held 'sway over Most of the Lecale. In 

taking a Maginnis bride, he cast as ide one of the daughters 

of Angus MacDonnel1 who had been living with him at Dungannon. 

The return of their kinswoman, unwanted and unmarried, was 

not weIl received by the MacDonnells in Scotland. IJ . O'Neill's 

wi~lingness to strain relations with the powerful MacDonnells 

in favor of an alliance with Maginnis is a testimony to the 

importance of the Strangford area in his thinking. Nor was 

this the first time 0 ',Neill had taken steps to strengthen 

his ties with the Magi~isl earlier he had given him the 

.. ~ ,1 _~_~ w 
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hand of his daughter Sarah in marriage. 14 This unprecedented 

double knot, binding the alliance of the two families, proves 

beyond doubt O'Neill's determination to protect his interests 

in this region. 

By the spring of 1599, the government began to suspect 

that part of the reason behind Q'Neill's weIl equipped army 

was his garrison at Strangford, and under the direction of 

Essex, the new Lord Lieutenant of Ire land, Sir Ralf Lane was 

ordered to dispatch a reconnaissance mission to the area by 

boàt. The man appointed to lead this mission was referred 

to in official c'orrespondence only aB Captain J. C • This ~> 

mysteriou8 officer was instructed to gather information 

about O'Neill's supply activities and if possible "to seize 

upon such boats as are suspected to carry relief unto the 

rebels·. lS Unknown to J.C., however, news of his mission 

had already reached the ears of the rebels by the time he 

had set sail. Scots mariners returning from Drogheda to 

the West Coast stopped in at Strangford and warned Maginnis 

of the preparations being made by~the English. Maginnis 

reacted by seizing ·upon aIl the boats within Lough Cuan 

(Strangford) and in the harbour of Strangford·,16 and with 

these vessels he set about preparing an ambush for the 

unsuspecting J.C. Fortunately for J.C., he Beems to have 

sensed that aIl wa8 not weIl in the Lough, and wisely decided 

to stay weIl clear of the harbour. His mentor, Sir Ralf 

Lane, tried to justify his timi~ty to Essex saying that 

he -got as far as the river of the Lough of Strangford, 
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which was not as far as (intended) but the rebels were very 

strong in aIl these parts which they indeed whooly posSessed".17 

The lesson of J.C.' S visit was not lost upon the rebels; 
.7 

soon after they initiated a modest coastal patrol to protect 

smuggling vessels and disrupt communications between Dublin 

and Carrickfergus. It was intended that this force was to 

lie "in wait fo~ such small barks as shall go along the 

coast".lS 

The first reconnaissance into the Strangford region 

aroused the interest of Sir Ralf Lane who was keen to re­

establisÏl a foothold in the area. Lane recognized Strangford's 

tremendous potential as a center for commercial shipping. 

With an eye ~o securing the raglon for himself once the war 

was over. Lane obtained permission in late 1600 or early 1601 

" to set up a small colony in the old Norman keep of Ranalladdy. 19 

When Lane.< and his expedi tion landed at Ranahaddy they dis­

covered that McArt'had been using the castle as a residence, 

and that the rebels had ·quitted the castle and beat it down 
, ~ "J CI 

to the ground· 1 before wi thdrawing' Il ove'r the Bann". 20 Iè.ne 

had long suspected that Strangford was peing used by the rebels 

to bring in supplies but even he May have been surprised at 

the size and scope of rebel supplyactivities in the area. 

Lane sent back reports which indicated that Strangford had 

become one of the busi~st port~ on the northeas~ coast of 

Ireland. 2l 

Lane's assessment of the importance of Strangford as 

a rebel supply center was supported by Sir Arthur Chichester 
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·who wrote tha,t "i t bas aIl during the rebellion been a 

great support of the rebels by a trequent trade unto it 

of Scottish bargues with mun~tions, cloth, wine and aqua 
~ 

vitae ••• •• He turther added that "the haven is large enough 

to contain the Iargest fleet of Ships".22 Chichester's 

concern about the Lough' s. capaci ty to hold' a tlee't was 

rooted in the tear that the Spanish might use the harbour 
" --.." 

'.' 

as a site for an invasion of Ireland. 
(.0 

From aIl accounts it 

would appear that his concern was weIl founded; O'Neill had 

alwals favored a landing on the north east coast, and 

O'Donnell had also at one time proposed Strangford as a 

landing site. 2J Ralf Lane once noted that the "Lough is 

.. within two days rowing ••• in a Scottish galle y from'Howeth 

Head. It.~s equidistant from the Isle, of Man and the coast 

of Lancashire".24 Toward the end of the war, he also wrote , 

"that if the Lough were occupied QY a force only half as 

large as that which ~on Juan brought to Kinsale, that force 
~ 

. ( ... 

couid remain there without the possibility of ~eing disturbed".25, 

Nor was the siz~ and depth of the harbour Iane 'a only cause 
'\ ' 

for concern, for;Strangford also offered acpess to Down's 

fine road system. 26 

By 1600 Strangford had become the c.orneratone of the 

rabel supply system, and Ralf ~ne's appearance in the area 

threatened to impede O'Neill's whole military machine. From 

his base at Ranahaddy, Lane -sent out small raiding parties 
- , 

which roamed up and down the coast of'the Lough destroying 

rebei stores,27 and this almost certainly forced rebei 

.. 
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supplies to shi ft their operations further north to triendly 
I~ 

MacOonnell çoun~ry. O'Neill, however, was not prepared to 

have his whole supply organization disrupted by an English 

adventurer and a handful of troops. He lashed back at Lane, 

and in àne quiet rlposte nearly drove him into the sea. Lo~gh 

Grannagh and Lough Henney, whieh had earlier been taken by 
"-

1 

the English, Viere quickly overrun and eaptured. ' It was not 

long before Lane and his troops tound'themselves isolated 

and beseiged' in their one remaining tortifieation, Ranahaddy 

.Castle.28 .cArt laid seige to Ranahaddy so vigoroUSly that 

it was alm6st impossible tor the small garrison to set toot 

outside the gate.29 In May of 1601, however, with the hëlp 

ot reinforcements from Lecale, the constable of Ranahaddy , 

again captured Loughs Henney and Grannagh for the Crown. 

In the latter erannog, they dlscovered a huge store of 
• 0 

supplies whieh they quickly destroyed" In August, _cArt again 

tpo~ the field and his attack easily,uprooted th~ govern-, , 

J ' 
ment~â tenuous hold on the territory. 1t is indic~tive of 

, 

the great importance ot Strangtord that .cArt was able eto 

obtain sutticient resources tor his offensive a~ a time when 

O'Neill was tighting for'his lite along the Blackwater and , 

husbandlng his resources for the expected Spanish invasion. 
t ' 

Throughout the autumn of 1601 the English were in 

grave danger ot losing their narrow beachhead ~n Strangtord 

ta .cArt and his raidèrs. Using the crannog ot'Lo~ Clea 
), r ~ .. 

,as a base, the rebels ·passessed themselves ot the Dufferin 

save only the castle ot Ranahaddy-.JO Nor ,-s,help ~ 

1 
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forthcoming trom Carrickfergus, for much as he might have 
. 

wished, Chichester did not possess sufficient strength ta 

offer the beleagured garrison of Ranahaddy any meaningful 

assistance. JI On several occasions he did attempt to 

penetrate behind McArt and seize his base of operations 

at Ennisloughlan, but each time he found his resources 
, 32 inadequate to sua tain such an operation. 

When O'Ne~ll marched south to join the Spaniards 

at Kinsale. he left behind McArt to hold the Dufferin and 

Strangford and keep open a line of communications to 

Ennisloughlan. This decision deprived O'Neill of one of 

his best field commanders on the eve of the Most important 

battle of the war. Moreover, McArt kept with him a large 

force of seasoned veterans whose absence from O'Neill's 

army must have been so'rely felt. By this action, O'Neill 

again shows how highly he regarded the Strangford area. 

The bloody defeat experienced by the rebel army at 

" Kinsale in December of 1601 stunned ~e whole country; 

even _cArt, buried deep in the woods of ~pe Du!ferin, felt 

the tremor and thought it prudent to abandon his position 
1 -

around Stra~rd and retreat to -his main fort in Killultagh".3J 

But no sooner had O'Neill returned to Ulster than McArt was 

back in the field. The constable of Ranahaddy was kept 

busy day and night fighting off rebel assaults. 

The prisoners l have kept here pending the 
goveFnor's decision, but ••• one of them 

\ \ leaped over the wall and escaped while 
my men we,re busy beating off a night attack._34 
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. The latest incursion by McArt represented a threat 

to Mountjoy's own communications with Newry, and he felt it 

neeessary to secure his flank before launching his planned 

offensive across the Blackwater. He order~d Chichester at 

Carrickfergus te advance to Killultagh while Sir Henry 

Danver~ spearheaded a drive on Ennisloughlan from the south. 

The English army'descended on the region in a double 

envelo~ment and it wss not long before their cannons 
\ battere[d the great crannog of Ennisloughlan into submission. 

With the loss of Ennisloughlan, O'Neill's communications 

with Strangford were permanently severed. Within a matter 

of weeks Mountjoy's troops pierced the Blackwater line and 

captured Dungannon. 

Having lost his last secure supply route and no 

longer possessing the means ta pay for his munitions, O'Neill 

was helpless to prevent the disintegration of the Ulster 

Confederation. An English soldier wrote that at the fall 

of Dungannon, "the very walls seemed to weep for his 

disaster-. 35 
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who would control the territory east of the Bann that Philim 
McTur10ugh O'Neill opposed O'Nei11's efforts to extend his 
influenceiinto his territory. Philim, whose sept owned land 
around Edinduffcarrick, turned ta the government for support. 
This opened the doar to Bagenal's intervention in the area. 
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sward" before being ki11ed with a pisto1 shot. , 
-Declaration of R. Lane, May 1602 (CSPI 1601-0) p. 504 

32"Not being suffered by the form of O'Neill to 
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CHAPTER SEVEN 

CONCLUSION 

The stunning defeat of the rebel army outside the 

walls of Kinsale in Deeember of 1601, sent a shudder tnrough­

out the who1e country, eausing man), persons previously 
1 

favourable towards 0 'Neill to rethi1nk their positions. 

O'Neill, who only a short time before had been the Most 

powerful politieal figure inlIreland sinee Brian Boru, was 

now a fugitive, and it was natura11y assumed that when 

. the great chief tain was finally run to grolmd, those­

close to him would be swamped in the wake of his fall. 

As O'Neill's supporters began to fall away from him, 

the government earefully avoided any immediate purge of 

rebel sympathizers for fear of starti~ a panic~ Mountjoy 

reeognized :hat, if driven to extreme~. the chief men of 

Ulster would again rally to O'Neill's \support. It was 

Mountjoy's plan, therefore, to coax O'feill's foll6wers 

away from him with promises of pardons~ The Irish Privy 

Couneil would appear to have supporte~ this policy as no 
\ 

one in Dublin was partieularly anxiou~ to delve into the 
\, 

sensitive question of collaboration with the rebels. There 
\ 

ia good reason to believe that a detail~ investigation 

would have revealed that a number of prom~ent figures had 

trod very close to the borders of treason in~r dealings 
------ -~-

wi th 0 'Neil,l., As a result of these and other efforts tô----~-- ,_ 
----- ..... ~...., .. 

.. 
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conceal treasonous activities, historians will probabiy 

never know the true depth of O'Neill's influence in the 

nominally loyal areas of the country. Nevertheless, 

sufficient information does survive to prove that O'Neill 

possessed a "Great Party within the Pale".l The very 

existence of this party is important because it challenges 

the basis of the traditional concept of O'Neill as the 

defender of Gaeldom. Why would a man, dedicated sole1y to 

the preservation of the old Gaelic order and the consequent 

destruction of the English presence in Ire land , have had any 

need to form a Great Party in the English Pale? 
-, . 

If this four hundred rear old consp1racy of silence 

has prevented historians. from coming to grips with O'Neill's 

great party, it has also made it difficult to seek out the 

roots of his startling military and political success. Only 
, 

when we understand the true depth of thls conspiracy is it 

pos~ble to grasp how close O'Neill actually came to changing 

the course of Irish history. Today, wlth the security of 

nearly four centuries to insulate the historian from the 

\ passions of that era, it is easy to accept that the course 

of events between 1588 and 1603 W8S Inevitable. Yet much 

of O'Neill's Buccess was rooted in the uncertainty of tbe 

age .. there was nothing inevita,ble about O'Neil1's decision 

to go into rebellion. Moreover, it was always possible, even 

after he had taken up arms, that he would one day return to 

obedience and be restored to his former status. Most 

important of aIl, it was never certain, right up until the 

i 
1 

1 
1 



Battle of Kinsale, who would actually win the war. 

The sixteenth century was an age of adventurers when 

few could afford the luxury of such a precious commodity as 

. loyalty. The spectre of a possible rebel victory rested 

uneasily in the back of many a mind in those days. In the 

event of such a" victory, a past friendly association with 

O'Neill might weIl have been sufficient to save one's lands, 

not to mention one's life. Under the circumstances, it is 

hardly surprising that sorne men of influence sought to 

maintain lines of communication with O'Neill. Consequently, 

O'Neill found it easy to gain access to information and 

intelligence which originated in the highest circles of 

government. 

O'Neill's great party and the attitudes that gave 
'~~-

birth to it contributed in no small way to the success of 

his supply and logistics organization. ~r it was a small 
" 

step trom sending intelligence to O'Neill to ignoring the 

importation of contraband arms. During the height of the 

rebellion, prominent merchants from Dundalk, Drogheda, 

Dublin and a dozen other towns were conducting business 

with O'Neill, yet none of thsm was ever prosecuted 

for their activities. Furthermore, the ·great party·, 

which had seemed so formidable during the war, suddenly 

vanished after Kinsale and no one cared to inquire where 

it had gone. Similarly, no concerted attempt was made to 

tryand analyse O'Neill's superlative supplyand logistics 

system, and so it has been left to modern historians to 
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sift through the clues left behind and try to pieqe tpgether 

a coherent picture of what actually took place in those tur-
t 

bulent years between 1588 and 1603. 

The very first thing the historian is likely to note 

in any survey of documents dating from that period ia the 

incredible ignorance of English officiaIs about the nature 

and geography of the north. Many leading English military 

figures contributed to this ignorance,by refusing to 

acknowledge the existence of a weIl developed system of 
, ' 

communications in Ulster. They preferred lnstead to use 

poor roads as an excuse for their failure to make headway 

against the rebels. Consequently, the myth of' sixtéenth 

century Ulster as a primitive jungle has survived almost 

to this day. 

Another myth which has survived the test of time ls 

that which attempts to explain away O'Neill's well equipped 

arrny as being merely the product of Spanish aid and expertise. 

While it is true that many of O'Neill's officers received 

their training with the Spanlsh army in the Netherlands, 

nevertheless, Spanish aid did not begin to play a critical 
( " 

'role in the war until 1600: For the first seven years of the 

rebellion, O'Neill was on his'own and ~ust be oredited with 

almost singlehandedly organizing and financing the rebel 

supply organization. Furthermore, it was the west coast of 

Scotland, rather than Spain, that supplied O'Neill with 

Most of h~s arms and munitions. In port towns such as 

Glasgow, Ayr and Irving, the smuggling of arms, powder 

i • 

1 

1 
-1 
1 

1 
i , 

t 
1 
1 

1 



....... , , . 

o 

15i 

and drink to the rebe1s had burgeoned into a lucrative and 

dynamic trade that attraeted participants from every stratum 

of society. The potentia1 of profit was sa great that even 

King James was he1pless to prevent this trade, and it was 

not until the death of James McSor1ey and the landing of 

the Spaniards at Kinsa1e that any effective measure9 were 
\ 

instituted in Scotland to prevent il1egal trade with the 

rebals. 

On the continent, O'Neill's agents established 

themse1ves in Rome, Madrid, Paris, Amsterdam, Nantes and, 

no doubt, Many other key political or commercial urban 

centers. These ag~nts not only solicited aid from the Pope 

and the King of Spain, but also recruited veteran officers, 

while purchasing arma and munitions for O'Neill. Their 

efforts were not unopposed, however, as many loyal Anglo 

Irish clerics worked against them. Consequent1y, the . 

1anding of a Spanish army in Ireland ·in 1601 must be seen 

as a major triumph for O'Neill's diplomatie service. 2 

In order to finance his efforts, both at home and 

abroad, O'Neill channelled the entire agrieultural wealth 

of the province into his war machine. He greatly improved 

the traditiona1 taxation system, and it would appear that 

~t th3 height of his power, almost every cow and every sheaf 

of grain in Ulster was subject to his control. In order ta 

protect the North's agrlcultura1 economy, 0'Nel11 broke with' 

hie Irish military heritage and eetabliehed fixed lines of 

deienee. Finding the t~ditlonal -rising outMinadequate ta 



( 

~ 
\ 

l 

• 

hold thése lines. he developed a new army, whose etficiency 

and mode of operations bore little resemblance to ita pre­

decessors. He drained the country of its youth in order 

to fill the ranks ot his new army, and eroded the Gaelic 

social structure by arming every able bodled man, regardless 

ot statua. In a matter ot a tew ahort,years O'Neill turned 

Ulster into a nation of'soldiers. In carrying out this 
\, "'. 

military revolution he did Irreparable damage ta Many of the 

pillars of Gaelic society, and set the stage for what could 

have been the rebirth of Celtic Ireland as a modern nation. 

As a man with one toot firmly planted in the Irish 

world and the other in the English, O'Neill sought ta carve 

for--h imse If a place some"here be tween the two. In the end ,,' 

this task proved tao great for him, but his defeat is more 

attributable ta the inflexibility of Gaelic society ttan 

to the fail~re~of his military organization. No one w&s 

more aware of the difficulty entailed in reforming Irish 

society than O'Neill himselt, and we read in the State 

Papers that he was "oftentimes vexed in his sleep with the 

Devil, an~ when he awakens he talls into a great rage with 

his people".J 

O'Neill's rage with his people la understandable for 

he lived in an age where Prermanence was accepted as a tact 

ot everyday reality. In the midst of aIl the turmoil and 
1 

bloodshed, few men would ever have thought to eonaider that 

lIre would not always be a8 it waSt Nowhere was this sense 

ot unchanging permanence mora evldent than in Gaelic Ireland, 

1 
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where poets thought nothing of comparing the battles of 

antiquity to the petty plundering expeditions of local 

chief tains. Even the great chroniclers of the age could 

see no difference between the struggle of the Northern 

Confederation and earlier border clashes between waring 

clan chie~, and they saw nothing incongrous in praising 

English Lord Deputies in the sarne gracious terms in which 

they extolled the qualities of the rebel leaders. 4 

In the midst of this stifling complancency, however, ~ 

there was one bright spark of hope; for in spite of itself 

the Gaelic world was in the process of transition. Much 

of the impetus for this change had come from the Anglo Irish 

community which sensed that its Catholic orthodoxy was 

becoming an e.,.t'er increasing impediment to a career- in the 

service of the Crown. Their feelings of alienation were 

further aggravated by the large numbar of extrema Protestants 

who had worked themselves into the Dublin administration in 
u 

the second half of the century.5 oAs the Anglo Irish 

community found itself increasingly isolated from the sources 

of power-and influence in Dublin, they were forced to look 

elsewhere in search of ~ new corporate identity.6 Gaelic 

and Hiberno Norman society" on the other hand, had been 

alienated from the central government since the fall of 

Kildare and by the end of the sixteenth century they were 

desperately searching' for the det}rmine~ leadership necessary 

to stave off annihilation. O~ll. with his Gaelic blood 

and Engllsh Renaissance background, was in the ideal position 
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to uni te these uhlikely partners, and he t'ound in the 

doctrine and rhetoric of the Counter Reformation the ideal 

tool for'welding them to~ther. 

Even given O'Nëill's st~ in dafance of Catholicism. 

he was never at ease with his position ae the detender of' 

the old order. O'Neill was never trult in tune with the 

old Gaelic world, and was not as close to the hearts of 

the clansmen as other rebel leaders. particularly Red Hugh 

o'Donnell.? 'O'Neill's Gaelic al~ies sensed this and remained 

throughout the war reluctant converts to his system of 
, 

tovernment. As events proved, these allies were liable to 

boIt ranks on the slightest pretext, and only self interest 

and O'Neill's iron fist kept the ramshackled Confederation' 
, 

t'rom disi~te~ting t'rom within. Consequently, it is hardly 

surprising that 0 'Neill should have surrounded himself wi th" 't1 

men of Anglo-Irish or continental backgrounds rather than 

relyi~ upon his native followers for advice .,8 The 

composition of O'Neill's ~nner circie tells us much.about 
(f 

the man himself, for those close to' him were, a~ost with-

out exception, ruthless,:ambitious and pragmatic. 9 Like 

their ~ster. they were not committed to'the preservation 

of the old order but rathe.r sought tô carve out a place 
'if' , 

for themselves in the ne!_ O'Neill and his advisors were 
r 

only committed to the Gaelic system to~the extent that their 

power base was inextricably tied to' certain tràditions and 
, ' 

" 

Qustoms, w~ich, for obvious re~sons. they sought to preserve. 10 
, 

O'Neill proved on countless occasions during the war 

t, 
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that he was prepared to initiate revolutionary changes 

regard1ess of the consequences for Gae1ic society. Thus 
. \ 

we tind that by 1600° the once revered Gallowglass had been 

replace d, by plkemen and the traditional -rising out" had 

been displaced by mercenary èompanies. Even the clan 

chief tain had lost his place as the backbone of Ulster's 

milltary machine with the adve]lt of the professi~l 

"Bonnaught" captains. In every aspect of O'Neill's military 
\ 

organization and govemment administration we can see his 
. . 

determinatlon ta force Ireland along the road to modernity. 

Nowhere la this more evident than in the rebel supply and 

logistics struc~ure where old toois wére taken and reforged 

into a modern.machine. 

Even had this magnificant military organization 

proven equal to the task of defeating the EngIisn~rmy in 
1 F II 

I~eland, there ,can be no doubt that, event~lly, O'Donnell 

and the other clan chiefs would have round O'Neill and his 

system of government as hard to accept as they had that of 

the ~Iish. Thus, in the end, O'Neill would inevitably hat;, 

come into conflict with the'oid arder. But, out of this 
. 

conflict, would have arlsen " new Ireland. 

Unfortunately, O'Neill's defeat at Kinsale preclùded 

any such revivai of the Gaelic world, and the organitational 

structure which might have served as the basis of this new ... 

Ireland did not survive his surrender. Neverthele~, 

OINeiXI continued his assault on the old order right up 

unti1 his flight in 1607. by which time he had done more 

"** :III ._ ..... -

\ 
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than any Iriahman ot hia eentury ta break up the already 

brittle tabric ot Ga,lie Ir.land.11 When the ilrst Seota . 

planters arrived ear1y in the aev.nteenth century, they tound 

that much ot their wort had alreâdy baen dODa tor them. The 

wreck ot the Gaelie worlel la1 ahattared at their 'teet, all 

that re_ined waa tor James'. plantation .che.e. to .et a 

torch to the tuneral pyre. 

'" Although 0'Ne111'. role in Iri.h hiatory ia now being 

reassesaed, one ot the most pus.ling aspect. ot his career . \ 

bas yet to be analyaed, for no historian has made any att •• pt 

to analyae:the development ot O'Neill'. politieal thought 

throughout the course ot the war. It would have been 

ineonceivable to O'Nelll in 1597 that he would someday tind 

himselt leading an army into south.rn Ireland to tace th. 
" 

full toree ot Engliah power on a eonventional battlefield. 

Yet, thia la exact1y wbat occurred in 1601. At any tlme 

up to Kinsale, 0'Nel11 could have stopped short ot the brink 
,. 
and still retained hls lands and tl tlé intact. However. nona . 
ot· this was· obvious to 0 'Nel11 durlng the war. What wa. 

obviou., ho.ever, waa the aweaoma nature ot the torce. ranged 

&plnat ha. Recognizlng the Inherent .eaJmea8 ~ hia ~oa.l tion 

he aought to teep al1 hi. options open. !ha que.tion .e muat 

,a.k then i8 .bat prevented hill trOll axereisine the •• options? 
, ' 

Perhapa i t .. a the veryfj ettecti veneas ot his own' mill tary 

machine that proved the tey to·hi. rui~. 'for .acb·~oces8 
) • J 

raiaed him higher and made eOlllPromi8e more ditl'lcu1 t 'c&uslJ'J1 

hiÏl 'in the end to overr •• èh hi •• lt. 

" 

., 

l' Ill' Il IFllI Xlii 1111 J 11 _11 dfl.' Il q'ICia
t
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In attempting to answer these and other questions 

about O·Neill. the historian must proceed cautiously, for j 

the great chief tain was by nature secretive and conspiratorial. 

The historian can, therefore, expect little help from O'Neill 

in his quest to piece'together the events of the war. 
1 

O'Neill's own words ring down through the l centuries as a 

warning t~ men trying to interpret his thoughts and motives -

"I will prove them liars".12 

'. 

'- -----______ ... , __ ~ __ ~r.. 
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Footnotes - Chapt@r Seven 

lRussell to Burgh1y, 8 Jan. 1,S91J, (~SPI l522j::a96~ p'. 289 

2J •J • Silke, Kinsale (Liverpool, Liverpool 
University Press, 1970) pp. 65-78 p,assim 

1.; 

3Sean O'Faolain, The Great O'Neill (Longmans, 
Green &: Co., 1969) jP' 116 

4Nicholas Canny, The Elizabethan Co~uest of Ireland 
(Harvester Press, London, 1976) pp. 137-1) 

5ibid , p. 123 

6ibid 

7Sean O'Faolain. The Great O'Neill. pp. 124-125 

8 J.K. Graham. A Historical Study of the Career of 
Hugh O'Neill, p. 247 

9Some of the men close to O'Neill were Henry Hovedon, 
Garret Moore, William Warren, Richard Wèston, Hugh~y McDivid, 
James Gordon, Henry O'Hagan, Father Monform and his secretaries 
Birmingham and Nott. Of theae only Gordon and Momford did not 
fit the mold às they appear to have been fanatic Jesuits truly 
committed ta the Counter Reformation. 

~ l~raham, A Hiatorical StudY of the Career of Hugh 
0' Neill, p. 185 
OiNefll always insisted that his relationships with his 
followers remain sacred as this was the source of his 
strength. 

lIN. Canny. -Hugh O'Neill Earl of Tyrone- Studia 
Hibernica X, (1970) pp. 7-35 Passim 

12TYrane ta Privy Cauncil, 28 June 1593 (Q§f! 
1592-96) p. 1)1 
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INTRODUCTION TO BIBLIOGRAPHY 

A truly autho~~attve account of the Nine Years War 

has still to be written. Consequently, -historians interested 

in this era must depend almost exclusively upon primary 

sources auch aa the Calendar of State Paners of Ireland 

and the Calendar of Carew MSS. These two Bources contain 

an enormous number of lettera and reports which touch upon 

the events of the rebellion; of particular interest are 

secret reports sent by spies wi th in the rebel camp and' 

intercepted rebel correspondence. It is advisable, however, 

for prospective users to be wary of the indexes of both of 

these works. 

In addition ta the CSP Ireland and the Carew MSS, 

Moryaon's Itinerary is the next most important English 

primary source dealing with the O'Neill Rebellion. T~e 

author was Mountjoy's secretary during the final years of 

the war, and this work contains an excellent account of the 

Lord Deputy's campaigns. This work also contains many 
! 

interesting and vivid accounts of conditions in the North. 

Continuing~n the traditiôn of,Moryson's Itinerary, Pacata 

Hibernia offers a detailed account of Carew's campaigns in 

Munster in 1600-1602. This book, first published.only a 

few years alter the war, contains several interesting 

sketches and mapsl including among these a detailed map 

of the Battle of Kinsale. Thomas Gainsfords', History of 

Î 
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the Earl q.f Tirone, published in 1619, is also a use fuI work 

for those interested in the military aspects of the rebellion. 

Gainsford was a junior officer in Mountjoy's army during the 

later years of the war. 

The Calendar of State PaDers Domestic and the Salisbury 

MSS are excellent sources of information regarding O'Neill's 
"" 

agents operating in England and on the continent. The 

Calendar of State Papers of Scotland.and the Register of the 

Privy CO}lnc'il of Scotland contain valuable informatibn about 
<l; 

O'Neill's smuggling operations in Scotland; wh11e the'~ 

Burgh Accounts, the Kirkcudbright Town Records and the Burgh 

Records of Glasgow give some details as to the background of . 

O'Neill's agents in Scotland. 

The Calendar of State Papers Spanish offers valuable 

insights into the Spanish interpretation of events then taking 

,place in Ireland. The CSP Spanish are particularly valuable 

in identifying O'Neill's agents in Spain and in verifying 

the quantities and types of aid dispatched to the rebels. 

A wealth of information about commercial activities in 

Europe and especially in the Baltic is to be found in the 

Calendar of State Papers Venetian. 

Speneer's View of the Present State of Ire land , 

Dymmok's Treatise of Ireland, Derrick's Images of Ireland, 

th~ Walsingham Latter Book, the Sydney State Papera and the 

Chronicle of Ireland are uaeful in gaining an understanding 

of social' and poli tical conditions in Ireland beforè the' 

Rebellion~ In contrast with these,works. Ho~'s Description 

\ 
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of the Present State of Ireland and Captain Cuellar's 

Adventurea written during the war paint a frightful picture 

of a land brutalized and devastated by the sword. Davies' 

Lattera From Cavan and Fermanagh contain valuable information 

regarding Gaelic law and customs in Ulster at the end of the 

war. 

O'Sullivan Bear's Ireland Under Elizabeth and 

" 1 

" \ 

Lombard'e Catholic War of Defence contain an account of the 

war as told by those who supported the rebel cause. Both 

Lombard and o 'Sullivan Bear were educated in Catholic 

colleges on the continent and subeequently both works are 

permeated with the rhetoric of the counter reformation. In 

contrast, O'Clery's Lire of Hugh Roe O'Donnell and The 

Annals of the Four Masters offer a uniquely Irish inter-

pretation of events. Because of their authors' remoteness 

. from the center of Anglo Irish politica, these works contain 

much information which ia absent from conventional sources 

t 

such as the State Papers. For example, o 'Clery ia particularly 

valuable in identifying thoae involved in engineering 

O'Donnell's eacape from Dublin Castle. O'Cainain's 

The Flight of the Earls contains some valuable information 

about communication and road systems in Ulster just after 
" 

the war. 

Captain T. Lee'a "DeclarationM in Curry's Civil Wars 

of Ireland ia of particular intereat because it r~pre8e~ 
what is probably the only political ~nifesto outlining 

O'Neill's position in the early~tages of the war. Lee 

\ 
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wrote the declaration after returning from a lengthy visit 

with O'Neill. and his role as O'Neill's mouthpiece has 

never been fully inve~tigated by historians. 

UNPUBLISHED THESIS 

J.K. Graham's unpublished M.A. thesis on Hugh O'Neill 

is the only work of its kind dealing with O'Neill's career. 

This thesis served as the basis for Sean O'Faolain's book 

on O'Neill and it contains an excellent overview o'f Tyrone's , 
life. 

BIOGRAPHICAL STUDIES 

None of the key figures of the rebellion, with the 

possible exception of Mountjoy, has attracted the attention 

of a modern biographer. Frederick Jones gives a thorough 

account, of the Lord Deputy's life in his book Mountjoy and 

Cyril Fall's-article -Mountjoy as a SoldierW in the Irish 

Sword discusses his campaigns in Ireland. As for Hugh 

O'Donnell, the last work written about his violent and tragic 

career was comp1eted in 1602. <O'Clery's work cited under 

Primary Sources). Hugh O'Neill has been Bomewhat more 

fortunate as his life was the topie of works by two great 

nationalist historians of the last century, John Mitchell 

Life and Times of Hugh O'Neill and C.P. Meehan Fate and 

Fortunes of the Earls of Tyrone and Tytconnell. Both of 

these books represented important scholarly achievements in 

their day; unfortunately, they tend to cram O'Neill into the 

mold of a 19th century nationalist which detracts trom their 

value. Sean O'Faolain's brillant work The Great O'Neill 

1 
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offers valuable insights into the man's character and sheds 

sorne light on the spirit of the times. Nevertheless, The 

Great O'Neill is not an historical biography in the true 

sense, the book contains no footnotes, has no bibliography 

and the author engages in much speculation. 

~ore recent attempts to come to grips with O'Neill 

have resulted in two very valuable articles. Hayes-McCoy's 

"Notes on Hugb O'Neill" in the Irish Sword and Nicholas 

Canny's "Hugh O'Neill" in Studia Hiberrlica. The latter 

work is particularly valuable as it explains, for perhaps 

the first time, the rational behind O'Neill's policies 

be~e and after the war. 
'\ ' 

Florence McCarthy is also without a modern biographer, 

but his years of captivity are thoroughly discussed in Do~l 

McCarth~'s book Thè Life and Letters of Florence McCarthy. 

POLITICAL STUDIES 

For an ac~urate survey of events during the rebellion 

Bagwell's Ireland Under the Tudors is still the best source. 

Nicholas Canny's The Elizabethan Conguest of Ireland gives 

an excellent account of the expansion of central authority 

iF Ireland during E1izabeth's reign. R. D~dley Edwards' 

Ire1and in the Age of the Tudors offers a rather superficial 

survey of Irish affairs in the l6th century. Edwards' 

"History of Poyning's Law 1494-1615" i,n IHS contains an 

excellent discussion of the development of the Irish 

Parliament. Conway's Henry VII's Relations with Scotland 

and Ireland gives some background as to t~e origins of Tudor 

" 
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policy towards Ireland. D.B. Quinn's article "Henry the 

Eighth and Ireland and D.S. White's "The Reign of Edward VI 

in Ireland" both in IHS trace the. steady development of a 

military solution to the Irish problem. 

MILITARY STUDIES 

The purely military aspects of O'Neill's rebellion 

have been thoroughly discussed in the Many brilliant works 

of G.A. Hayes-McCoy. McCoy's Irish Battles, Scots Mercenary 

Forces in Ireland and his article "The Army of Ulster" in 

~ are the Most valua~le of these, but anyone interested 

in this aspect of the struggle would be weIL advised to 

.read aIL of McCoy's works. Cyril Falls also discusses the 

rebellion from a military point of view in,his book 
) 

Elizabeth's Irish Wars. (It is important that Falls' book 

be read in conjunction with McCoy ~~ the former discusses 
r-

the conflict ,.trom a primarily English point of view). 

ECONOMIC HIS TORY r} 

J, 

A.K. Longfield's Anglo Irish Tracte in the 16th 

Century remains the Most valuable single source in this 

undérdeveloped area of 16th century history. Karl Bottigheimer's 

English Money and Irish Land, Dolley's "Anglo Irish Monetary 

Polieies 1172-1637" in IHS and Butler's Confiscations in 

Irish History will ~rovide some insight into the motivation .. . 
behind soma of the'Crown's economic policles in Ireland. 

T.C. Smout's "The Development and Enterprlse of Glasgow 

1560-1707"*in SJPE and Gamblin's The Town in Ulster contain 

interesting~discu8srons of the close economic ties between 

.. 

.. , 

1 i 
1 



.) 

~ 

, 
165 

Ulster and the West Coast ot Ireland. Smout's article on 
"'f 
·Commercial Scottish Factors in the Baltic at the End of 

tQe l7th Century· in ~ is valuable in assessing the trade 

links between Scotland and tne Baltic. Anothe~ article 

dealing !ith th~s subject is Van Brakel's -Neglected Sources 
.., . 

ot the History of Commercial Relations Between the 

Netherlands and Scatland in the l6th, l7th and l8th Century· 

in §!m. 

SOCIAL HIS TORY 

Tudor and Stuart Ireland by Margaret MacCurtain la an 

excellent source ot information regarding the social and 

political fabric ot Anglo Norman society'in t~16th and 

17th century. U~ortunately, those segments ot the boOk 

dealing with Gaelic Ire1and , are som~what sketchya;d in 

addition there are some errars in the identification of . 
illustrat~ons. Nicholl's Gaelic and Gaelicized Ireland in 

the Middle A~es iS,an indispensible sec~ndary source tor 

students interested in understanding the interaction between 

economic and social tactors in Gaelic Ireland., The genesis 

or Nicholl's work ls to be round in Hayes-McCoy's article 

"Gaelic Society in the Ie.te 16th ~turY-, in !H§. O~her 

sources dealing with this SUbject-rich would prove ot 

interest to the historian are Ireland Betore the Hormans 
. ~ . 

,'" 

by Corrain, Irish Lite in the Seventeenth Century by Mac{.,Ysaght, 

",Lydbn ~!I Lordships ot Ireland in the-Middle Âges and Xichael . 
.. ~(' . 

Do1leY'8 Anglo Norman Ireland. D.B. Quinn's book The 
'" 

Elizabethans and th. Irish containa .. an;:tandi'llli, discus~~on 
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clerics for support on the continent. .Two older works dealing 

with the subject o't Ire land '8 role in l6th cent~ry 'European 
~ 

poli tics are James Hogan's)Ireland and the European System 

and David Mathew's The Celtic 'Peopie and Renaissance Europe. 
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